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w without regard for domestic political consequences.
::::gial was deleted on the grounds that it might prove ome
ombarrassing to your Administration. There was, hmverifie;l
information that we concluded had to remain in the class o enis
domain. The appropriate Congressional committees may fin

information of use.

the publication of the material in this Report may be
trouh!:ﬂ:e to i:t:ﬂm: in the short term, we believe that, over
time, the nation will clearly benefit by your decision to o
commission this review. We commend this Report to you and
future Presidents in the hope that it will enhance the
effectivaness of the Naticnal Security Council.

we are honored toc have had the opportunity to serve on this
Board.
Sincarely,
-—
LR

John Tower Brant Scowcroft

2..)?.‘“ :

Edmund 5. Muskie
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Introduction

In Novemnber, 1986, 1 was disclosed that the
Unicd Staies had, in August, 1985, and subse-
guecndly, paripated an secret dedings wath
Iran involving the sale of miliary equipment
There appeared 1o be a hinhage beiween these
deabings and efforts w0 oblain the release of
US. citizens heid hosiage in Lebanon by ter-
ronsts believed 10 be closely assocaed wuh
the hranian regume. Alier the iniial siory brobe,
the Atlomey General announced that proceeds
from the armis wanslers may have been diven-
ed 1o assist U.S.-backed rebel forces in Nicara-
gua, known as Contras. This possibility en-
Lirged the controversy and added questions not
only of policy and propnety but also viclanons
of law.

These disclosures becamne the focus of sub-
stantial public attention. The secret arms trans-
fers appeared 10 run directly counter to de-
clared U.S. palicies. The United Siates had an-
nounced a policy of neutrality in the six-year
old Iran/lraq war and had proclaimed an em-
bargo on arms sales to Iran. [t had worked ac-
tively to isolate lran and other regimes known
to give aid and comfon to tervonsts. W had de-
clared that it would not pay ransom (o hostage-
takess,

Public concemn was not hmuted (0 the issues
of pobcy, however. Questions atose a3 Lo the
Propricty of certain acuons taken by the Na-
tunal Secuny Councd stall and the manner in
whuch the dedmon o wansietr anas 10 bian had
been muude. Congiess was never wformed A
vanicly of intermedianics, buth private and gov-
crumental, some with mouves open to ques-
tion, had cenural roles. The NSC siall rather
than the CIA scemed 10 be running the oper-

svon. The Premdent appeared to be unaware
ul bey clemenia of the operation. The contro-
versy thrcatened & cnsis of confidence in the
tmanicr i which navonal securuty decisions are
made and the role played by the NSC staff.

It was this laner set of concerns that prompt-
ed the Preudent 1o establish this Special
Review Board on December |, 1986, The Presi-
dem directed the Board 1o examine the proper
role of the National Security Council siaff in
matwnal secunty operations, including the arms
wransiers o Iran. The President made clear that
he wanted “all the facts to come out.”

‘The Board was not, however, called upon to
assess individual culpabulity or be the final arbi-
ter of the lacts. These tasks have been properly
left 1o others. Indeed, the shon deadline set by
the President for completion of the Board's
work and its limited resources precluded a sep-
arate and thorough field investigation. Insiead,
the Board has examined the cvents surround-
ing the wransfer of arms to lran as a principal
case study in evaluating the operation of the
National Security Council in general and the
role of the NSC s1aff in particular.

The President gave the Board a broad char-
ter. It was directed 10 conduct “a comprehen-
sive study of the future role and procedures of
the Nauonal Securiy Council (NSC) staff in the
development, coordination, oversight, and con-
duct of foregn and nauvonal security policy.”?

it has been lory years since the enactment of
the Nauonal Security Act of 1947 and the cre-
anon of the National Security Council. Since
that time the NSC staff has grown in iumpor-

1 Sce Appendix A, Exccutive Order No. 12575,
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tance and the Assistant Lo the President for Na-
tional Security Affairs has emerged as a key
player in national security decision-making.
This is the first Presidential Commission to
have as its sole responsibility a comprehensive
review of how these instwtions have per-
formed. We believe thal, quite aside from the
circumstances which brought about the Board's
acation, such a review was overdue,

The Board divided its work into three major
inquirics: the drcumsiances surrounding the
Iran/Contra matter, other case siudies that
might reveal strengihs and weaknesses in the
operation of the Nauonal Sccurnty Coundd
sysicm under stress, and the manaer i whuh
that sysiem has served eght dulcient Prew-
dents since is inception an 1947.

AL Appendix B 1 a narrauve of the informia-
ton obtained from documents and unerviews
regarding the arms sales (o Iran. The narrative
is necessanly incompleie. As of the date of Uhs
report, some key witnesses had fefused 10 tesu-
fy before any forum. Imporiant documents lo-
cated in other countries had yet 10 be released,
and important wilnesses in other countrics
were not available, But the appended narratve
tells much of the siory. Although more for-
mation will undoubiedly come to lLght, the
record thus far developed provides a sufficient
basis for evaluating the process by which these
evenis came about.

During the Board's work, it received evi-
dence concerning the role of the NSC siafl in
suppon of the Contras during the period that
such suppon was cither barred or resiricted by
Congress. The Board had neither the time nor
the resources to make a systematic inquiry into
this area. Notwithstanding, substanual evidence
came before the Board. A narrative of that evi-
dence is contained at Appendix C.

The Board found that the issues raised by
the Ian/Conura matier are In most mmstances
not new. Every Adownutranon has faced samilar
issucs, although ansing i diflerent faciual con-
texts. ‘The Board cxamined in some detad Lthe
pedormance of the Nauonal Sccuriy Counail
sysiem in 12 different cnises dating back 1o the
Truman Administravon.? Former government

8 A biu of those case studies is contained i Appendix E.
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officials participating in many of these crises
were interviewed. This learning provided a
broad historical perspective 1o the issues before
the Board.

Those who expect from us a radical prescrip-
tion for wholesale change may be disappointed.
Not all major problems—and Iran/Contra has
been a major one—can be solved simply by re-
arranging organizational biocks or passing new
laws.

In addition, it is important 1o emphasize that
the President 1s responsibie for the national se-
curity policy of the United States In the devel-
vpment and exeruton of that poliy, the Pres-
deot 15 the dex isin maber He s oot obhiged 10
cuisull with o sech appiuval lrom anyone n
the bacoutine Branch The siructure and proce-
dures ol the Natonal Scourdy Counal system
should be designed 1w give the Premdent every
assistance i discharging thesc heavy responn-
bibtics. It 5 not posuble 10 nake a sysiem
umunune {rom errur without paralynng s ca-
Pacity 10 ack

ALl s semwr levels, the National Secunty
Council 13 primandy the inieracuon of people.
We have exarmined wuh care ws operanon n
the lran/Conira matter and have set ou n
considerable detad masiakes of onussion, com-
mussion, judgmen!, and perspective. We believe
that this record and analysis can warn future
Presidents, members of the Nanonal Secunty
Council, and Nanonal Securuy Advisors of the
poienuial pitlalls they face even when they are
operaung with what they consider the best of
moiives. We would hope that this record would
be carefully read and its lessons [ully absorbed
by all aspwanis 10 senior positions in Lthe Na-
tional Securiy Counal system.

This report will serve another purpose. In
prepanng i, we contacled every lhving past
President, three lormer Vice Prewidents, and
every hiving Scaretary ol Siate, Seuretary ol De:
fense, National Secuny Advoor, most Direc-
wafs ul Coentvad bielbigendie siud severad (han
men ol the Juun Cluets o Swall (o sulcn sherr
views We soughi iu fearn how well i theur cx-
peneace, the aysicim had operated o, e the
case of past Presidents, how well u served
them. We asked all former paruapants how

i

they would change the system 1o make it more
useful 1o the President.®

Our review validates the current National Se-
curity Council system. That system has been
utilized by different Presidents in very different
ways, in accordance with their individual work
habits and philosophical predilections. On oc-
casion over the years it has functioned with real
brilliance; at other times serious mistakes have
been made. The problems we examined in the
case of Iran/Contra caused us deep concern.
But their soluiion does not lie in revamping the
National Secunty Council system.

* A Lsi ol the wugprsacs uurivarwed by dw Bbowd w4 oieaed
U Appenda ¢

That system is proper|
ture. It must be left fle;
the President into the fo
Otherwise it will become
the President, and a sour
institutional irrelevance,
ions informal structures r

Having said that, there
which need to be perfor
any President. What we .
distill from the wisdom o
ticipated .in the Natior
sysiem over the past fort ,___ .. . .oisee o
these funcrions and the manner in which that
system can be operated so as 16 minimize the
hikebhood of major error without destroying
the creative unpulses of the President
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Part 11

Organizing for

National Security

Ours 15 4 govenunent ol checks and balances,
ol shaied power and responubiduy  The Consne
tunion places the Presidemt dnd the Coagress
dynamuc tension They both cooperate and
compete in the making ol natonal pobay

Natonal security 13 no exceptivn The Con-
stitution gives both the President and the Con-
gress anamponant role, The Congress s cnu-
cal m formulaiing nanonal pohaes and i mar-
shatling the resources 1o carry them out But
those resources—ihe natlon’s mudiary person-
nel, us diplomais, its inlelligence capability—
are lodged m the Executive Branch. As Chiel
Execunve and Commander-in-Chief, and with
broad authonty in the area of foreign ailars, n
15 the President who 15 empowered 0 act lur
the nauon and protect us iMerests,

A. The National Security
Council

The present organization of the Executive
Branch for national secunity malters was estab-
lished by the Nauonal Security Aci of 1947,
That Act created the National Security Council.
As now conslituied, Us stalutory members are
the President, Vice Presidemt, Secretary of
State, and Secretary of Defense. The President
15 the head of the National Secunity Councal.

Picsidents have [iwm e o ume mvied the
beads of ather depatinents or agenaes o
sitend Natuunal Secwny Counal meetings or Lo
partiapatc as de factu membiers Phese have in-
tuded ihe Direciot ol Cenual intelhgence (the
DY) and ihe Chairinan of the Jont Cluets of
Stall (the "CJCS"). The Presidens (ur, in his
absence, his designee) presides.

The Nauonal Secunity Coi
must sl issues ain the naug
1 pohcy s thus body that discusses recent
developments i arms conrol and the Straiegic
Delense Limnanve, that discussed whether or
nat so bumb the Cambodia mainland after the
Mayuguer was captured; that debated the time-
1able tor the U.S wihdrawal from Vietnam;
and that considered the nsky and daring at-
tempt o rescue U.S. hostages i Iran in 1980,
I'he Naucnal Secunty Counal deals with issues
that are difficult, complex, and ofien secrel.
Deasions are often required in hours rather
than weeks. Advice must be given under great
siress and with unperfect mformation.

The Nauonal Secunity Council is not a deci-
sion-making body. Alihough its other members
hold official positions in the Government, when
meeling as the Nauonal Security Council they
sit as advisors to the President. This is clear
from the language of the 1947 Act:

“The function of the Council shall be
to advise the President with respect to
the integration of domesic, foreign,
and military policies relating to the na-
tional security so as to enable the mili-
tary services and the other depan-
ments and agencies of the Govern-
ment 10 cooperate more effectively in
matters involving the nauonal securi-
y."”

The Nauonal Security Council has from its
meeption been a highly personal instrument.
Every President has wummed for advice lo those
individuals and institutions whose judgment he
has valued and trusted. For some Presidenis,
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such as President Eisenhower, the Natipnal Se-
cunity Council served as a primary forum for
obtaining advice on national security matters.
Other Presidents, such as President Kennedy,
relied on more informal groupings of advisors,
often including some but not all of the Council
members.

One offical summarized the way the sysiem
has been adjusied by different Presidenis:

“The NSC is going to be pretty well what a
President wants it to be and what he deter-
mines it should be. Kennedy—and these
are some exaggerations and generalities of
course—with an anti-organizational bias,
disestablished all jthe Eisenhower created)
committecs and put a tight group n the
White House woally antuned 10 hs phio-
sophic approach ® * *  Johnaon dadn’y
change that very much, eacept certan dafh.
culues began to develop in the informaduy
which was |otherwise] characterized by
speed, unity of purpose, precision ® *
So it had grea efliciency and responmive-
ness. The diflicullies began 10 develop in
* * * the informality of the thing.”

The Nixon Administration saw a retumn to
the use of the National Secunity Counall as a
principal forum for nauonal securuy advice.
This pattern was continued by President Ford
and Presideni Caner, and in large measurce by
President Reagan.

Regardless of the frequency of s use, the
NSC has remained a smiricly advisory body.
Each President has kept the burden of decision
for himsell, in accordance with his Constuu-
tional responsibilitics,

B. The Assistant to the
President for National
Security Affairs

Although closely associated with the National
Security Council in the public mind, the Assist-
ant to the President for National Secunity
Affairs is not one of its members. Indeed. no
mention of this position 18 made 1 the Nauun-
al Secunity Act of 1947

The posiion wan created by Presdent bisen-
hower in 1953, Althvugh us precise ude has
varied, the posiion has come tu be known
(somewhat misieadingly) as the Nauonal Secu-
rity Advisor.

u-2

Under President Eisenhower, the holder of
this position served as the principal executive
officer of the Council, setting the agenda, brief-
ing the President on Council matters, and su-
pervising the sail. He was not a policy advo-
cate.

It was not unil President Kennedy, with
McGeorge Bundy in the role, that the position
took on its current form. Bundy emerged as an
importani personal advisor to the President on
national security affairs. This introduced an
element of direct competition into Bundy's re-
tationship with the members of the National
Securny Council. Alihough President Johnson
changed the tule of the pusiion 10 simply
Uhpecial Asssiant,” o the hands ol Wall
Rosive u connued fu play an unporiant role.

Preswdent Ninon relied heavily on his Nanon-
al Sevuniy Advisor, nuuntauung and even en-
hancing sty pronunence In that posiion, Henry
Kusinger became 4 key spokesman for the
Presdent’s navonal secuny pohaes both to
the US. press and 10 foreign governments.
President Nixon used him to negotiale on
behall of the Upiied Siates winh Vietnam,
China, the Sovier Umion, and other coumtries.
The roles of spokesman and negotiator had ira-
diionally becn the province of the Secretary ol
State, not of the Nanuonal Securuy Advisor. The
emerging tensiwn beiween the wo posinons
was only resolved when Kissinger assumed
them both

Under President Ford, [t Gen Brent Scow-
croit becamie National Secunty Adwisor, with
Henry Kissinger remamning as Secretary of
State. ‘'The Natonal Secuniy Advisor exercised
major responsibiliy for cuordinaung for the
President the advice of his NSC principals and
overseemy the process of policy development
and implementaton within the Executive
Branch.

President Carter returned n Jarge part 1o the
carly Kissinger model, with a resulung increase
i tensions with the Secretary of Siaie, Presi-
dent Carter wanted (0 take the lead i matiers
of loregn poliy, and used b Nanona Scoune
ty Advisoi 4 4 souice ol udornauon, weas,
aid new unkidtives

Ihe rule of the Natwonal Seourny Advisor,
like the sole of the NSC uwscll, has an large
medsure been 4 luncuon ol the operanng style
of the President. Notwithstanding, the Nauonal

Security Advisor has come to perform, to a
greater or lesser extent, certain functions which
appear essential to the eflective discharge of
the President’s responsibilities in national secu-
ity affairs. '

¢ He is an "honest broker” for the NSC
process. He assures that issues are clearly
presented to the President; that all reason-
able options, together with an analysis of
their disadvantages and risks, are brought
to his attention; and that the views of the
President’s other principal advisors are ac-
curalely conveyed.

* He provides advice {rom the President’s
vantage powt, unalloyed by mstitutional
responsibilities and bisses Unlike the Sei-
rcianes of Suaic or Delense, who have sub.
stanual orgamzatnons for whuh they aic
responsible, the President i3 the Nanunad
Sccuriy Adwisor's only constiuency.

* He monutors the actions wken by the exer-
utive  depariments wn amplemenung the
President’s patonal securiiy pobicies. He
asks the question whether these acuons
are consistent with Presidenual decisions
and whether, over time, the underlying
policies continue 10 serve U.S. interests.

* He has a specusl role in cnisis manage-
menl. This has resulled from the need for
prompt and coordinated action under
Presidential conwol, often with secrecy
being essenuial.

* He reaches out for new ideas and initia-
tives that will give substance 10 broad
Presidential objectives for national securi-
1y.

* He keeps the President informed about
international developments and develop-
ments in the Congress and the Executive
Branch that affect the President’s policies
and priorilies.

But the National Secunity Advisor remains
the creawre of the President. The position will
be largely what he wants it 10 be. LTus presents
any Presidein with 4 senes of dilemmas.

* Ihe Prendent must surtound humsell with
people he trusts aud 1o whom he wan
speak 1n conbidence T Uy end, the Na-
tunal Secunity Advisur, unbike Lthe Secre-
tanes of State and Delense, 1s not subject
16 conficmauon by the Senaie and does
not tesiily before Congress. Bul the more

the President relies on the National Secu.
nty Advisor for advice, especially o the
exclusion of his Cabinet officials, (he
greater will be the unease with thig
arrangement.

* As the "honest broker” of the NSC proc-
ess, the National Security Advisor must
ensure that the different and often con-
flicting views -of the NSC principals are
presented fairly to the President. But as an
independent advisor to the President, he
must provide his own judgment. To the
extent that the National Security Advis--
becomes a strong advocate for a particu
point of view, his role as “"honest broke
may be compromised and the Presiden
dcvess 1o the unedited views of the N!
principals may be impaired.

¢ The Sedactanes of Siate and Defense, and
the Direcior of Ceatral Intelligence, head
agencies of government that have specific
statutory responsibilitics and are subject 1o
Congressional oversight for the implemen-
tation of U.5. nauonal security policy. To
the extent that the National Security Advi-
SO assuimes operationai responsibilities,
whether by negotiating with foreign gov-
ermments or becoming heavily involved in
military or inielligence operations, the le-
giumacy of thai sole and his authority 1o
perform it may be challenged.

* The more the National Security Advisor
becomes an “operator” in implementing
policy, the less wili he be able objectively
to  review that implemeniation—and
whether the underlying policy continues to
serve ihe intérests of the President and the
nation.

* The Secretary of Siale has traditionally
been the President's spokesnan on mat-
ters of national security and foreign af
fairs. To the extent that the National Secu-
nly Adwisor speaks pubhicly on these mat-
ters or meets with representauves of for-
cign governments, the result may be con-
fusion as to what 15 the President’s policy.

C. The NSC Staff

Al the wune it established the National Secu-
niy Council, Congress auwhonzed a staff
headed by an Executive Secretary appointed by
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the President. [nidally quite small, the NSC
safl expanded substantially under President

Euenhower.

During the Eisenhower Administration, the
NSC staif assumed two important functions: co-
ordinating the executive departments in the de-
velopment of national policy (through the NSC
Planning Board) and overseeing the implemen-
tation of that policy (through the Operations
Coordination Board). A systematic effort was
made to coordinate policy development and its
implementation by the various agencies
through an elaborate set of committees. The
system worked fairly well in bringing together
for the President the views of the other NSC
principals. But i has been cruuazed as buascd
toward reaching consensus among these pnnc-
pals rather than devcloping vpuons jor Pyen-
denual deason. By the end of hus sevond term,
Prcsident Escnhower humscll had reached the
conclusion that a highly cumpetens indivedual
and a small naff could perlorm the needed
functions in a belier way. Such a change was
made by Presidens Kennedy.

Under President Kennedy, a number of the
functions of the NSC stall were eliminated and
its size was sharply reduced. ‘The Planning and
Operations Coordinating Boards were abul-
ished. Poligy development and policy umple-
mentation were assigned (o individual Cabine
officers, responsible direcily 10 the Presidem.
By late 1962 the staff was only 12 profession-
als, serving largely as an independent source of
ideas and information to the President. The
system was lean and responsive, but frequently
suffered from a lack of coordination. The John-
son Administration followed much the same
pattern. .

The Niuxon Administration returned to a
model more like Eisenhower's but with some-
thing of the informality of the Kennedy/John-
son staffs. The Eisenhower system had empha-
sized coordination; the Kennedy-Johnson
tystem tilted to innovation and the generation
of new ideas. The Nixon system emphanzed
both, The objective was not inter-deparimental
consensus bul the generauon of policy vpuoos
for Presdental deasion, and then cusunng
that those decisiuns were <armied out  The siafl
grew 1o 50 prolessionals in 1970 and became 2
major factor in the nauonal secunty deasion-
making process. This approach was largely con-
tinued under Presidemt Ford.
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The NSC swff rewained an importani role
under President Carter. While continuing to
have responsibility for coordinating policy
among the various executive agencies, Presi-
dent Carter particularly locked 1o the NSC stalf
as a personal source of independent advice.
Presidemt Carter fell the need to have a group
loyal only to him from which to launch his own
initialives and 1o move a vast and lethargic gov-
ernment. During his time in office, President
Carter reduced the size of the professional siaff
to 35, feeling that a smaller group could do the
job and would have a closer relationship 1o
haim

What cinerges liom this huistory 15 an NSC
stall used by cach Pressdent an & way that re-
fleied ha undividual prelcrences and wosking
siyle Onher tme, u has developed an imporiant
tole withuy the bacvuiive Brandch ol covtdina-
g puluy review, prepanng sssues lar Pres-
dennal deamon, and momtonng implemenia-
uon. But 1t hes remamned the President™s crea-
ture, molded as he sces i, 1o serve as hus per-
sonal stall Jor nabonal secunty allaics. For this
reason, M has generally operated out of the
public view and has not been subject to direct
oversight by the Congress

D. The Interagency
Committee System

‘The Nanunal Secunty Counail has frequently
been supported by commutees made up of rep-
reseniatives of the relevant natonal secunty
depaniments and agencies. ‘These commitices
analyze issues pnior to consideration by the
Council. There are gencrally several levels of
commitices. Al the op level, officials from each
agency {at the Deputy Secretary ur Under Sec-
retary level) meet o provide a senior level
policy revicw. ‘These semor-level comnuttees
are m lurn supponed by more Jumnior inder-
agency gioups {usually at the Assistant Secre-
wry levell These i turn may uvensec siail
level woibig ioups that prepare detaled
airdly iy ul wWpponian auc

Adminsiranons have daltevcd o the eniem
16 whah they have uved these antctagesiy com-
nuttecs  Presidesn henoedy placed bide stk
i them  The Noon and Caner Admingstra-
tions, by contrast, made much use of them.

E. The Reagan Model

President Reagan entered office with a
strong commitment to cabinet government. His
principal advisors on national security affairs
were to be the Secretaries of State and De-
fense, and to a lesser extent the Director of
Central lntelligence. The position of the Na-
tional Security Advisor was initially downgrad-
ed in both siatus and access o the President.
Over the next six ycars, five different people
held that pasition.

The Administration’s first National Security
Advisor, Richard Allen, reported o the Presi-
dent through the semor White House stall
Consequenily, the NSC s1all sssumed a re-
duced role. M¢ Allen believed that the Sedre-
tary of Siate had primacy in the lield of fuirign
pulny. He viewed the job ol the Naiional Sequ-
nty Advisor as that of 2 pohicy cootdinator

President Reagan uiually declared that the
Natrwnal Securny Coundl would be the prina-
pal forum for consideranon of nanonal securiy
issues. To suppon the work of the Counail,
President Reagan established an interagency
comnitice system headed by three Semor
Interagency Groups {or "81Gs™), one each for
foreign policy, delense policy, and intelligence.
They were chaired by the Secrelary of Siate,
the Secretary of Defense, and the Direcior of
Central linelligence, respectively.

Over ume, the Admunisiration’s vriginal con-
ception of the role of the National Secunty Ad-
visur changed. William Clark, who succeeded
Richard Allen in 1982, was a long-time associ-
ate of the President and dealt directly with him.
Robert McFarlane, who replaced Judge Clark in
1983, although personally less close to the
President, continued 1o have direct access to
him. The same was true for VADM John Poin-
dexter, who was appointed 1o the position in
December, 1985,

President Reagan appointed several addilion-
al members 10 his Navonal Secumy Counci
and allowed stafl attendance at meenngs. The
ecsultant size of the mecungs led the President
1o i wecaningly 1o 2 smaller group (called
the  Nauopa) Secunty  Planming  Group  or
UNSPLY). Auendance 4t ils mecungs was niore
festnited but incduded the statutary pomcipals
ol the NSC. The NSPG was supporied by the
53Gs, and new SIGs were occasionally created

to deal with particular issues. These were fre-
quently chaired by the National Security Adwi-
sor. But generally the SIGs and many of their
subsidiary groups (called Interagency Groups
or “1Gs”) fell into disuse,

As a supplement to the normal NSC process,
the Reagan Administration adopted compre-
hensive procedures for covert actions. These
are contained in a classified document, NSDD-
159, establishing the process for deciding, im-
plementing, monitoring, and reviewing covert
activities.

F. The Problem of Covert
Operations

Covert acuwvities place a great swain on the
pruiess of deaisionn a free society. Disclosure
ul even the cxstence of the operation could
thicaten ns cllecuveness and nsk embarrass-
ment Lo the Government. As a result, there is
sttung  pressure o withhold  information, o
bsnn knowledge of the operation to a minimum
number of people,

These pressures come wnto play with great
foice when covert aclivities are undertaken in
an eflort 10 obtain the release of US. cilizens
held hostage abroad. Because of the legitimaie
human concern all Presidents have lelt over the
fare of such hostages, our national pride as a
powerlul country with a tradition of protecting
is ciuzens abroad, and the great antention paid
by the news media to hostage situations, the
pressures on any President to take action o
free hostages are enormous. Frequently to be
effective, this action must necessanly be coverl.
Disclosure would directly threaten the lives of
the hostages as well as those willing to coniem-
plate their release.

Since covert arms sales to Iran played such a
central role in the creanon of this Board, it has
focused its attention n large measure on the
role of the NSC stafl where covert activity is in-
volved. This is not (o demgrate, however, the
naporance of other deaisions taken by the gov-
ernment. In those areas as well ihe National
Seturty Councll and s stafl play a enitical
role. But in many respects the best test of a
system 15 its performance under siress. The
conditions of greatest stress are often found in
the crucible of covert activities.
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Part Ii

Arms Transfers to
Iran, Diversion, and
Support for the
Contras

The lran/Contra manier has been and. n
sume respects, sull woan cugma  For duee
months the Board sought w learn the Ja,
and sull the wholc matter cannot be fully cn-
plained The general outhnes of the sory are
clear. The story 13 sei out here as we now kow
"

Given the President's mjunciion that he
wanted "all the facts 10 come out,” the Board
sought 10 include all relevant maienals. The
Buard trned 1o be taithiul to the testimony and
documents that came before i, This Board was
not established, however, as an investugaive
body nor was i 10 deiermune mauers of coim-
nal culpabdity. Rather, the Board was e¢stab-
lished 10 gather the facts, 10 place them m their
proper historical context, and 10 make recom-
mendations about what corrective sieps might
be taken.

The hmits of ume, resources, and Jegal au-
thority were handicaps but not unreasonable
ones,

The Board had no authority 1o subpoena
documents, compel testimony, swear witnesses,
or grant immunity.

But these linitations did not prevent the
Board from assembling sufficient information
to form a basiy for s fundaments! judgments.
The Board received o vast quanuty of docu-
meiis and interviewed over 80 winesses The
Board requesicd all allecied deparunents and
agencies 1o provide all docuinents aelevant 1o
the Board's squay  The Buoard rebed upon
these agenaes 1o condudt thotough searches
lur all relevant materials i their passession. In
addwion, the Board reviewed the results and
relevant partions of working fhiles from both the

[

ClA and Department of the Army Inspectors
Geucral reports

Severad idiiduals dedlined our request to
sppcar belore the Boeard: VADM John Poin-
dexter, Genersal Richard Secord, USAF Ret,;
LiCal Olver Nonh, LiCol Robert Earl; Mr.
Albert Hakim; and Miss Fawn Hall. The Board
requesied  that  the President  exercise  his
puwers as Commander-in-Chief and order
VADM Poindexter and LiCol North to appear.
The Presidemt declined.!

Despite the refusal of VADM Poindexter and

tCol North to appear, the Board's access to
'other sources of information filled much of this
gap. The FBIl provided documents taken from
the files of the Nauonal Security Advisor and
relevant NSC sialf members, including mes-
sages from the PROF system # between VADM
Poindexter and LiCol North. The PROF mes-
sages were conversaiions by computer, written
at the time evenis occurred and presumed by
the writers 10 be protected [rom dislosure. In
this sense, they provide a (irst-hand, contempo-
rancous account of events.

In the closing days of the Board’s inquiry, we
gained access 1o a considerable number of ad-
dinonal exchanges on PROFs between VADM
Powndexter, LiCal North, and Mr. McFarlane.

' The correspundend e Lo the President from the Board's Chair-
han and the reply. un bas behatt, ol White House Counsel Peter
Wallisun, af¢ dt Appendia

* Ihe "PROF” sysiem, The Protessional Office System, u an
wierolhoe mad sysiem run ibiough on [BM main frame computer
and managed by the White flause Commuwucanions Agency for
the NSC ANl NSC olfiera have porsonal passwords whach enable
them 10 send and receive mewsages 10 each other from teminals
al thew desha .
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The Board had access to anather contempo-
rancous record of events. The President keeps
a diary in which he chronicles, in fong hand,
key events that occurred during the day, Presi-
dent Reagan reviewed his notes and, at the
Board's request, culled from them the relevant
potes he had made on particular dates request-
cd by the Board. The Board was permitted to
review but not to retain a typewritten copy of
these diary entries.

No one interviewed by ithe Board seemed
able 1o provide a unified account of the events
in August independem of calendars or meeting
notes. In the lives of these particularly busy in-
dividuals this should not be surpnsing. Thu
lack of a iotal and accurate recall may suggest
an equally imponant pownt: when these evenis
occwrred, they were not tcated by many of the
parucipants as wiliciently wnponant.

Those that are present 3l mcctings or pnvy
to conversauons will retan dilerent impres-
sions of what occurred. That cenanly hap-
pened here. Many of these events accurred
almost two ycars ago, and memones fade.
There is also the chance that, for whatever
reason, individuals concealed evidence or delib-
erately misied the Board. [n any event, the
Board's mandate was not 10 resolve confhcis
among various recolleciions but 10 altempt 10
ascertain the cusential facts as they affect con-
clusions about the national security process.

The independent Counsel at various points
denied the Board access to same matenals
which he had established an interest. The Gov-
emment of Israel was asked 10 make cenain in-
dividuals available in any way that would be
convenient to them. They declined w do so.
They agreed to answer wrilten interrogatories.
We dupaiched those 10 the Government of
Israel but no response has, as yet, been re-
ceived.

The first section of this Part 1} summarizes
the evidence before the Board concerning the

‘arms wransfers (o Iran. A morc detailed narra-
tive of this cvidence is set out in Appendix B.

The second section summarizes the evidence
before the Board concemuig a diversion of
funds from the arms sales 1o the wupporn of the
Coniras fighung wn Nicaragus

The third secnion summarues the evidence
accumulated by the Board concerung the role
of the NSC sall in the suppont of the Coniras
during the period that support from the U.S.
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government was cither barred or restricted by
Congress. A more detailed narrative of this evi-
dence is set out in Appendix C.

Section A: The Arms
Transfers to Iran

Two persistent concerns lay behind U.S. par-
ticipation in arms transfers o Lran.

First, the U.S. government anxiously sought
the release of seven U.S. citizens abducied in
Beinui, lebanon, in seven separate incidents

| between March 7, 1984, and June 3, 1985, One

i of thuse abducied was Wilham Buckley, CIA
statson cduel i Bewut, scued on March 16,
1984 Asalable wiclhgeme suggrated dhat
covoed, o nod all. of the Americans were held
hastage by members of tluballah, a lundamen-
talist Shuite tertonst group with bnks 10 the
regunie of the Aydiollah Khomemn.

Sccond, the US. govermnent had a latent
and uwresolved udctest n establishing ues 10
lran. Few in the US. government doubied
Iran's strategic umporiance or the nsk of Soviet
meddling i the succession cnsis thar ought
follow the death of Khomeuu. For this reason,
some in the US governmeni were convinced
that eflorts should be made to open poicntial
channels 10 lran.

Arms transfers ulinately appeared o ofler a
mecans 10 achieve both the release of the hos-
wages and a strategyc opening 1o fran.

The formulauon, development, and imple-
mendation of the Iran inibative passed through
seven disunct siages. Each is analyzed in this
secwon ol the report. For the purposes of the
Board's mandate, the cntical questions for each
stage are: What was U.S. policy? How were de-
asions made? What action was authorized and
by whom? How was this action carnied oul?
Whait happened as a result?

Stage 1: The NSC Staff Seeks a
New Look at U.S. Policy on Iran

The Shah of lran way overtbiown on Jenuary
T, 1979, ending an uliaic, imenty Live yoar
tolativnshap  berween the United Siares and
lran Muiual hosuliy and tension «harsienized
US relanons with the 1egime ol the Ayatolldh
Khomeim, whach, alter sume nonths, succeed-

d the Shah's rule. On November 4, 1979, radi-

i

cal [ranian elements seized the U.5. embassy in
Tehran and heid its siaff hostage. The United
States responded by blocking the transfer of all
property of the Iranian government, imposing
a trade embargo, freezing all other Iranian
assets, and breaking diplomatic relations. In ad-
dition, the United Stales imposed an embargo
on all anms shipments to Iran, including arms
that had been purchased under the Shah but
not yet delivered.

On January 19, 1981, many of these restric-
lions were lifted, as part of the agreement that
led 10 the release of the embassy stall. Howev-
er, this did not extend 1o the embargo on arms
translers lraq had attacked lran on Sepiember
22, 1980. The lUnited Siates had adopied 4
policy of neutrality and refused 1o shup arms Lo
enher sde The result war a conunuanon ol
the asms cmbargo aganst lran

The Reagan Adminsiration had edopied o
tough hzie aganst terronsm. bn parwular, the
United Staies adamanily opposed making any
concessions Lo terronsts in exchange for the re.
lease of hostages—whether by paying ransom,
releasing prisoners, chaaging policies, or other-
wise. Some ume n July of 1982, the Unued
States became aware of evidence suggesting
lthat Iran was supporung lerfonst groups, in-
cluding groups engaged n hostage-taking. On
January 20, 1984, the Secretary of State desig-
nated lran a sponsor of intemational terror-
ism.® Thereafier, the United States acuvely
pressured its allies not to ship arms to Iran,
both because of its sponsorship of international
terrorism and its continuation of the war with
Iraq.

’!c'l.he NSC Staff Inshates a Reevaluanon. By early
1984, Robert McFarlane, the National Secunity
| Advisor, and members of the NSC stafl, had
become concemed about future U.S. policy

toward lran. They feared that the death of -

Khomeini would touch off a succession struggle
which would hold importani consequences for
US nterests. They beheved that the Unued
States lucked 4 strategy and apability for deal-
g wuh this prospect

hiwtally, Mr Mdbaslane thed 16 use the
turmal snteragency policy process 1o addiess

ik August 27 198D, 4 new section was sdded tothe Arma
brpeat Control At whch produbated the expuors ol arns 1o coun-
ey which the Secretary of State has deternuned suppon aos of
miernasonal terronsm. Such a deicrnusaiis was wn cilect as that
tune fur iran.

this issue. On August 31, 1984, he requested
an interagency siudy of U.S. velations with Iran
after Khomeini. On Ociocber 19, 1984, the
Siate Depariment sent Mr. McFarlane the inter-
agency response to his request. It concluded
that the United States had “no influential con-
tacts” within the Iranian government or Iranian
political groups. The study suggested litde that
the United States could do to establish such
contacts. Separately, in a letter dated December
t1, 1984, to Mr. McFarlane’s deputy, VADM
John Poindexter, the CIA professed only a lim-
ited capability to influence events in Iran over
the near Lerm.

The Rervaluaton Ywlds No New ldeas. Howard
Tewher, onc of the NSC suaff members in-
volved, toid the Board that the interagency
ellont tailed to wdenuly any new ideas for sig-
mbsicantdy expanding US. influence in Iran. It
resulied 0 no change i U8, policy. The U.S,
govemment conbinued aggressively Lo discour-
age anns iransfers by other nations to Iran
‘under & programn called “Operation Staunch.”

Stage 2: The NSC Staff Tries a
Second Time

Mr. ‘Teicher, Donald Fortier, and perhaps
other NSC stall members were unhappy with
the result of the interagency effort. They
placed a high priority on fashioning a stralegy
for acquiring influence and checking the Sovi-
els in Iran. Graham Fuller, then the Natiopal
intelligence Officer for the Near East and
South Asia, told the Board that in carly 1385
the US. intelligence community began to be-
lieve that serious factional fighting could break
out in lran even before Khomeini died. This
change in the community’s assessment provid-
ed a second opportuaity for a policy review.

The NSC Siaff Suggests Limited Arms Sales. Mr.
Teicher, and 1o 2 lesser extent Mr. Fortier,
worked closely with CIA officials to prepare an
update of a previous “Special Natonal Inelh-
gence Esumate” (or "SNIE™) on Iran. Dated
May 20, 1985, the update porirayed the Soviers
as well posiioned 10 take advantage of chaos
mside iran. The United States, by contrast, was
unlikely 1o be able directly to influence evenis.
Our European and other allies could, however,
provide a valuable presence to help pratect
Waestern interests. The update concluded that
the degree to which these allies “can fill a mili-
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| dialogue, and that this would “probably” be President on this issue in the hospital a few

|

yeapons. . :

Mr. McFarlane testified that he informed the
President of his conversation with Mr. Kimche
within three or fows days afier the meeting,
shartly before the President entered the hospi-
tal for his cancer operation. Mr. McFartane also
stated that on July 13, 1985, he briefed Secre-
tary Shuliz, Secretary Weinberger, and Director
Casey in scparale conversations. Mr. McFarlane
‘told the Board that the President was interest-

'ed in the proposal and said that he believed we

should explore it. Mr. McFarlane said this may
have occurred in the first week of July, before
the President entered the hoapital.

On July 13, 1985, Mr. McFarlane apparenily
received 2 second request, this ume broughs by
an emussary durectly from lsrack Pnme Munsics
Peres. The “emissary” was Mr. Schwummer,
who delivered the request 1o Mr. McFarlane
through Mr. Ledeen. The emussary carned
word of a recent meeting wuh Mr. Ghorbasufas
and another Iranian in which the lranians had
saud thal others inside Iran were interesied
more cxiensive relations with the West, and
particularly, the Unuted States. The lramans re-
portedly said that their conacis in Iran <could
achieve the release of the seven Amencans held
in Lebanon but in exchange sought 100 TOW
missiles from lsracl. This was 10 be pan of a
“larger purpose™ of opening a “pavate duw-
logue™ on U.S./Iranian relations. The emussary
asked for a prompt response. Mr. McFarlane
stated that he passed the President’s decision
to David Kimche by ielephone.

Om July 14, 1985, Mr. McFarlane cabled this
proposal to Secretary Shultz, who was traveling
in Asia. Mr. McFarlane recommended a tenta-
tive show of interest in a dialogue but with no
commitment Lo the arms exchange. He asked
for Secrctary Shuliz’s guidance and indicated
he would "abide fully” by the Secretary's deci-
sion. By return cable on the same day, Secre-

. tary Shuliz agreed 1o *a tentative show of inter-

est without commitment.” He said thiy was
consiatent with U.S. policy of “mamtaining con-
tact with people who might eveniually provide
informaunon or help in freeing hostages ™ See-
retary Shuliz advised Mr. McFarlane 10 'handle
this probe personally” but ashed that he sy
close contact.

White House Chiel of Siaff Regan told the
Board that he and Mr. McFarlane met with the
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days after the President’s cancer operation om
July 18. Mr. Regan told the Board that the
matter was discussed for 20 to 25 minutes, with
the President asking quite a few questions, He
recalled the President then saying “yes, go
ahead. Open it up.”

In his meeting with the Board on February
11, 1987, the President said he had no recollec-
tion of a meeting in the hospital in July with
Mr. McFarlane and that he had no notes that
would show such a meeung.

(ti) Thr August Regquesi. On August 2, 1985,
Mr. McFarlane again met at the Whiie House
with Mr Kimche According to Mr. McFarlane,
M1 Kunche sasd that the Iramans had asked
wheiher the Unued Siaies would supply arms
10 lian Mr Mokaslane revalled responding that
he thuught nut He wid the Board that Mr.
Kiunche then asked what the US. reacuon
would be Jf lsrael shipped weapons 10 lran, and
whether the Unied States would sell replace-
sneaus V'whether #'s HAWKs or TOWs or what-
ever else * Mr. McFarlane recalled teliing Mr.
Kimche he would “gel you our posinon.”

What followed 13 quile murky.

Most NSC principals apparendly had an op-
ponunily 10 discuss this request with the Presi-
dent i and asound the first two wecks of
August. There clearly was a senes of mectings
with one or more of the pnnapals i attend-
ance. la adduion, a number of the parucipants
seem to recall 2 single meeung at which all the
pnnapals were present. White House records,
however, show no meeunygs of the NSC princi-
pals in August scheduled for the purpose of
discussing this 1ssue. Other evidence suggests
that there were meetings of the NSC principals
in August at which this issue could have been
discussed.

It is also unclear what exacily was under con-
sideraiion at this ume. No analyncal paper was
prepared for the Augusi discussions and no
formal nunutes ol any ol the discussions were
made

Mi Mckaslase sad st My ke made o
spetial propusal that JOU 1OWs 16 lran would
catablinh guosd baith and result unhe release of
all the hostages Mt Mdtarlane suld the Board
that he duscussed this propusal with 1the Pres-
demt several unies and, on st least onc occa-
sion, with all the “full” members of the NSC.

Ll

within days after the meeting, the President
communicated his decision to Mr. McFarlane
by tciephone. He said the President decided
that, if Isracl chosé to transfer arms to Iran, in
modest amounts not enough to change the
military balance and not including major
weapon systems, then it could buy replace-
ments from the United States, Mr. McFarlanc
said that the President also indicated that the
United States was interested in a political meet-
| ing with the Iranians. Mr. McFarlane said he re-
! minded the President of the opposition ex-
" pressed by Secretary Shultz and Secretary
Weinburger, but that the President said he
wanicd io go ahead—that he, the President,
would take “all the heat lor that ™

Mr. McFarlane wold the Board that he subse-
quenily conveyed the Premdent’s deasion w
Mr. Kunche, He saud that he emphaszed o My

El;mchc that the U.S. purposc was a pohiwcal
agenda with Iran, not an exchange of arms for
hostages. Mr. McFarlane 10ld the Board thal he
also conveyed this decison o the NSC pnnca-
pals.

Secretary Shultz told the Board that on
August 6, 1985, dunng one of hu regularly
scheduled meetings with the President, he dis-
cussed with the President a proposal for the
transfer of 100 TOW missiles from lsracl. The
Iranians were for their pan to produce the re-

{lease of four or more hoslages. Secretary

" Shuliz 1oid the Board that he opposed the arms
sales al the meeiing with the President. He said
that Mr, McFarlane was present at this mecting.
Secretary Schuliz did not recall a telephone call
from Mr. McFarlanc regarding a decision by
the President.

Secretary Weinberger recalled a meeting with
the President at his residence after the Presi-
dent's return from the hospital. He told the
Board that he argued forcefully against arms
transfers to Iran, as did George Shuliz. He said
he thought that the President agreed thai the
idea should not be pursued.

Mt Regan also recalled an August mecting
with the Presideni He 1wid the Board that the
Presudent cxpressed concern wuh any one-for-
oie swap ol armu {or hustages and indicaied
“we should go slow on this bui develop the
coniact.” Mr. Regan alio (0ld the Board that in
carly Sepiember, Mr. McFarlane inforined the
President that lsracl had sold arms 1o the lrani-
ans and hoped 10 get some hosiages out. Mr.

Regan stated that the President was “upset” at
the news and that Mr. McFarlane explained
that the lsraclis had *“simply taken it upon
themselves to do this.” Mr. Regan said that
after some discussion, the President decided tg
“leave it alone.”

In his meeting with the Board on January 26,
1987, the President said that sometime in
August he approved the shipment of arms by
Israel to Iran. He was uncertain as (o the pre-
cise date. The President also said that he ap-
proved replenishment of any arms transferred
by Israel to Iran. Mr. McFarlane’s testimony of
January 16, 1986, before the Senate Foreign
Relations Committee, wl  ~ he President em-
braced, takes the same | ion. This portion
of Mr McFarlane's tesimony was specifically
highbighted on the copy of 1estimony given by
the Prendent 1o the Board.

{ In hus mecung with the Board on February
! 1), the Premdent said that he and Mr. Regan
had gone over the matter a number of times
and that Mr. Regan had a firm recollection that
the President had not authorized the August
shipment in advance. The President said he did
not recall authonzing the August shipment in
advance. He noted that very possibly, the trans-
fer was brought to him as already completed.
He said that subsequently there were arms
shipments he authonzed that may have had to
do with replenishment, and that this approval
for replenishment could have taken place in
September. The President stated that he had

! been “surprised”" that the Israelis had shipped

.arms to Iran, and that this fact caused the
President to conclude that he had not approved
the transfer in advance.

In a subsequent letter 1o the Board received
on February 20, 1987, the President wrote: “In
trying to recall events that happened eighteen
months ago I'm afraid thai 1 let myself be influ-
enced by others’ recollections, not my own . . .

T

. . . I have no personal notes or records
10 help my recoliecuon on this matter. The
only honest answer is to state that try as I
might, I cannot recall anything whaisoever
abou. whether | approved an Isracli sale in
advance or whether 1 approved replenish-
ment of Israeli stocks around August of
1985. My answer thercfore and the simple
wruth i3, ‘I don't semember—penod.’ ™

ni-7



i

7

Board tried to resolve the question of
the President gave prior approval o
's uansfer of arms (o fran, We could not
conclusively.
believe that an Israeli request for approv-
such a wransfer was discussed before the
t in early August. We believe that Sec-
Shultz and Secretary Weinberger ex-
at limes vigorous opposition io the
. The President agveed to replenish Is-
racli stocks. We are persuaded that he most
likely provided this approval prior to the first
shipment by lsracl.
In coming to this conclusion, it is of para-
mount importance that the President never op-
the idea of lirael translernng arms o
Iran. lndeed, four moaths alier the Augus
shipmeni, ihe Presdent authonied the Unaed
States government w0 underiabe duectly Lhe
very same operabon that liracl had proposcd.
Even il Mr, McFarlane did not have the Presi-
dent's explicit prior approval, he cleasly had hus
“ full support.
"~ A Hostags Comes Out On Augusi 30, 1985,
‘i Lsrac) delivered 100 TOWs 10 lran. A subse-
! quent delivery of 408 more TOWs occurred on
Scptember 14, 1985.2 On Scpiember 15, 1985,
Reverend Benjamin Weir was releascd by his
capior.

Mr. Ghorbanifar toid the Board that the 100
TOWs were not linked 0 a hostage release.
They were to evidence U.S. seriousness in recs-
tablishing relations with Iran. The next step
was to be the delivery of 400 more TOWSs, for
which Iran was to free a hostage. The goal was
¢o establish a new relationzhip between the two
couniries, which would include a pledge by
lran of no further terrorist acts against the
United States or its cuzens by those under
Iran's control.

Mr. McFarlanc said that he received a tele-
phone call from Mr. Kimche informing him of
Rev. Weir's impending release about a weck
before it occurred. LiCol North, the NSC suaff
officer with responaibility for terrorism policy,
made arrangements for recewving and debnef-
ing Rev. Weir.

Alihough w appears that lsrael and the
United States cxpecied the release of the re-

:

E
¥

;

i

 Thae Boancng of these and othet arma iransadons dis usied
i s Part Ll u descibed @ dewad i the chans aancacd o the
end of Appeadan B.
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maining hostages to accompany or follow the
release of Rev. Weir, this did not occur.

Stage 4: The Initiative Appears to
Founder

The United States had only a supparting role
in the August and Scptember deliveries to Iran.
Israe) managed the operation. The next three
months saw an increasing U.S. role. .
A number of important developments re-
garding the Iran initiative occurred berween
Scpiember and December, 1985. However, it
proved difficult for the Board 1o establish pre-
asely what happened durmg this penod. This
u in part because the penod was one of great
sclvity [or the Pressdent, the NSC pnncipals,
and Mr McFaslane Dsucs that seemed 10 be
buth muie impurtant and more urgent than the
Llran ustisuve chearly preoccupicd them.
Mi McFarlane descnbed the foreign pohicy
agenda for the period. The Soviet foreign min-
wicr vissied Wastungton, Preparauons for the
Geneva Summit with General Secretary Gorba-
chev were under way; this inciuded four Presi-
demual speeches on arms comtrol,  human
nghts, regional issues, and U.5./Soviel bilater-
wl relavons. The President delivered an ad-
dress 10 the United Nanons on the occasion of
its 40th Annsversary. The Prendent met with
iwelve 1o fificen heads of State in New York
and Washngion. In the middle of ths hecnic
schedule, on October 7, 1985, the Achille
Y auro was seized by four Palestman hijackers.
An Arms Jor Hostages Deal On October 8,
1985, (1Col North's calendar indicated that he
met with Mr, Ledeen, Mr. Schwimmer, Mr.
Nimrodi, and Mr. Ghorbanifar (using the alias
of Nicholas Kralis). Other meetings may have
occurred. There is little evidence of what exact-
ly went on in these mectings. All that is known
for sure is that shortly after those meelings,
David Kimche advanced a third proposal.
. Mr. Kamche met wub Mr. McFarlanc and
"LiCol North on November 9. 1985 john
McMahon, the Deputy Directos of Central In-
telhgence. 10id the Board that Mr Mobaslane
spoke with um on November 14 Mr McFar
Line 1oki Mr MiMahon that Me Kimche had
ndiated that the lsrachs planned o provide
some anns to moderaics in Iral who would
opposc Khomeun Mr  Mcrarlane suggested
that the lsrachs interpreied the Presidendial au-

>

————

(horizatien as an open charter for further arms
shipments as long @ the shipments were
modest and did not alter the military balance
between Iran and Iraq. Indecd, he did not
recall any specific request by Isracl in the late
ll. He did, however, remember that carly in
November, Yitzhak Rabin, Israel's Defense
Minister, asked whether U.S. policy would auill
permit ksracl to buy replacements from the
U.S. for arms it transferred 1o Iran. Mr. McFar-
lane confirmed that it would, although he indi-
cated U.S. reservations about any trade of arms
for hostages. They asked nothing further.

In a message to VADM Poindexter on No-
vember 20, 1985, L1Col North descnbed the
following plan. The lsrachs were to delwer BO
HAWK musudes to a stagug arcs i 2 thasd
counry, at noun on Fnday, Novembes 22
These were o be lvaded sboard Uuee « hat -
tered aircralt, which would ke off at two hour
. intervals for Tabnz, fran. Once launch of the
| first aircraft had been contirmed by Ms. Ghor-

bamfar, directions would be gven to release
the five U.S. citizens held hostage in Bewrut. No
aircraft was 10 land in Tabnz uniil all the hos-
wages had been delivered 10 the U.S. cmbassy
in Beirut. lsracl would delver fory addiional

HAWKs at a later time. The lramans would

commit 1o seeing that there were no further

hosiages scized.

Secretary Shuliz 10ld the Board that Mr.
McFarlane told him on November 18, 1985,
abou a plan that would produce the release of
the hostages on Thursday, November 2!. Sec-
retary Shultz toid the Board he toid Mr. McFar-
lane that had he known of it cartier, he would
have stopped it. He nonetheless expressed the
hope 10 Mr. McFarlane that the hostages would
be released. It is not clear what other NSC
principals, if any, were told in advance about
the plan.

Secretary Shuhiz said he told an associale on
November 22 that “Bud says he's cleared with
the President” on the plan. Chief of Stail
Regan told the Board that the President was -
formed n advanie of the lsrach HAWK ship-
ment but was not aked to approve it He said
that Mr McFarlane told the Presdent eatly in
ihe month un the margins ol hus bnetings for
the Geneva Summut o expedt that a shipment
of mussiles would come from lsraei through a
third country to fran, and that the hosiages
would come out.

'

1

In his first meeting with the Board on Jaau-
ary 16, 1987, the President said he did not re-
member how the November shipment came
about, The President said he objected to the
shipment, and that, as a result of that objec-
tion, the shipment was returned to Tarael.
| In his second meeting with the Board on
tibmary 11, 1987, the President stated that
| both he and Mr. Regan agreed that they cannot

remember any meeting or conversation in gen-
cral about a HAWK shipment. The President

said he did not remember anything about a

call-back of the HAWKs.

Nonctheless, that the United States would
scll replacement HAWKs 1o Israel seems to
have been assumed ai least by YADM Poin-
dexter drom the start. LaCol North informed
VADUM Pusndeuter on November 20, 1985, that
“IAW [in accordance with] your instructions 1
have told thewr [lsrael's] agent that we will sell
them 120 wems (HAWKs] at a price that they
tan meei.”

Farure In contrast w the August TOW ship-
ment, the United Suaes became directly in-
_volved in the November transfer of the HAWK
missiles. Somenme on November 17 or 18,
1985, while Mr. McFarlane was in Geneva for
(he November summit, Mr. Rabin called Mr.
McFar'ane 1o say that a problem had arsen.
Mr. McFarlane referred the maiter 1o L1Col

" North,

North signed a letter for Mr. McFarlane
dated November 19, 1985, requesting Richard
Secord, a retired U.S. Air Force general officer,
to proceed Lo a foreign country, Lo arrange for
the sransfer of “seusiive material” being
 shipped [rom israci. That day Mr. Secord made
‘arrangements for transshipment of the Israeli
HAWKs.

But late in the day on November 21, these
arrangements began to fall apart. The foreign
government denied landing clearance to the
aircraft bringing the HAWKs from Israel. LtCol
North contacted Duane Clarridge of the ClA
for assistance n obtaming the required landing
clearance. When the CIA's efforts failed, LtCol
North asked Mr. Clarndge to find a reliable
commercial carrier 16 substitute for the Isracli
fught. Mr. Clarridge put Mr. Secord in conlact
with a carrier that was a CIA proprelary.

\ The plan went awry again on November 22,

when Mr. Schwimmer allowed the leasc 0
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, £ypire on the lh.rec aircraft they had chartered
| o take the HAWKs 10 Tabriz. Mr. Secord was
able 10 provide an aircraft for this beg of the
Jjourney, bowever. The CIA arranged for over-
ight rights over a third country. On Novem-

" ber 25 the aircraft left a Evropean country. De-
ljvery was three days late, however, and the air-
caaft caried only 18 HAWKs. Contrary to
LsCol North's description of this plan, the air.
craft delivered the HAWKs before the release
of any homages. In fact, no hostages were ever

| releascd as a resuli of this delivery.

' Not only were just 18 of the initial shipment
of HAWKs delivered, the HAWKs did not meet
Iranian military requirements. In addition they
bore Lsraeli markings. Mr. Ghorbanfar 10ld the

. Board that this caused great unhappincss
lran and had duasurous consequences for the
eRcTging Ulumately the lranians
rewmed 17 of the HAWKs to luacl The
eighteenth had been tesi-lired a1 an lrag aur-
aafi Qying over Kharg liland 10 detcrmune the
missile’s cllectivencss.

When Deputy Director McMahon leamed of
the CIA role in the shipment some three or
four days afier the fact, he directed the CIA
General Counsel 10 prepare a Covert Action
Finding ® providing Presidential authonzanon
for the CIA's past suppon and any future sup-
port to the Iran initiative. A Findipg was drafi-
ed and delivered 1o VADM Poindexter, but the
evidence swrongly suggests it was never signed
by the President.

Stage 5: The United States Sells
. Directly 10 Iran

On November 30, 1985, Mr. McFarlane re-
signed as Nadonal Security Advisor. VADM
Poindexter was named National Security Advi-
sor on December 4. That same day, LiCol
.Nonth raised with VADM Poindexter a new
“proposal for an arms-for-hostages deal. [t in-
volved the wransfer of 3,300 Isracli TOWs and
50 lsracli HAWKs in cxchange for rclease of all
the hostages. The arms were 1o be delivesed
five installmencs, spread over a 24-hour perod
Each instaliment was to result in the release of
ot of (wo hostages, 10 that wn the end all five

® Secuon 687 of the Porcign Asmsianie Act ihe  so alicd
Hughes-Ryan Amendmens. prohibas covern operalons by the
ClA uniess and uaul the Prepudent “funds such operalon s um-
portand 4 Lbe national securdy of U United Siates. ™

110

U.S. citizens held in Beirut and a French hos-
, tage would be freed.” If any installment did not
“result in a hostage release, all deliveries would
nop.

An Atiompi o Break the Armi/Hastages Link.
This proposal was considered a1 a meeting with
the President on Decemb~+ 7 in the White
House residence. The ...sident, Secretary
Shuitz, Secretary Weinberger, Mr. Regan, Mr.
McMahon, Mr. McFarlane, and VADM Poin-

“dexter auended. Secrelary Shultz described the

meeting as the firm “formal meeting” oa the
Iran iniuative where the participants were in-
formed wn advance of the subject and had nme
to prepare Mr McFaslane sad that dhe partsos-
panus revicwed the hastory of ihe program.
However, nu analyiual paper was (uculsied for
discwssson at the mecung, Whic Board wias not
sblc 1w acquue any munutes of ths mecung.
Maie Department notes of Secretary Shuliz's
wntemporaneous report of a ¢onversauon he
had wih YVADM Poindexier on Pecember 5 in-
dicate that YADM Powndexier asked that Secre-
tary Shuliz’s calendar not show the meeung.

Recollecuons of the mecung are quie di-
verse In hus mecung with the Board on Janu-
ary 26, 1987, ihe President said he recalled dis-
cussing a complex lraman proposal for weap-
ons delivered by dhe lsrachs in installmenuys
pnwr o the release of the hostages. The Presi-
dent said that Seuretary Shuliz and Secrelary
Weinberger objecied 1o the plan, and that this
was the first time he “noted down™ their disap-
proval, The President said that the discussion
at the meeuny produced a stalemate.

Secrelary Weinberger iold the Board he
argued strongly against the complicated arms
and hostages plan, and that he was joined in
his opposiion by Secretary Shuliz. Mr. Regan
told the Board that he supporied the plan. But
notes wniten that day by the President and
State Deparntment notes of Secretary Shultz's
contemporancous repoft of the mecung indi-
cate that Mr Regan jommed Secretary Shuliz
and  Secrerany Wonberger i opposiig  Lthe
plan Whatever duasgiccacnn were caprersed
al the ceuny. & comscisuy ciciged thar Mg
Mo batlane should go o London and dehiver 4
mcssayc o the lranians

Ta Dnpdeer (885 b U'rinied Staies wbiained rolwble ev-
dence that Wikam Bus bicy had dacd the Mecoding June

No written Presidential decision resulied
from the meeting. Immediately after the meet-
ing, Mr. McFarlane lefi for London 1o meet
with Mr. Ghorbanifar and others to discuss the
plan. There is no evidence that Mr. McFarlane
was given any wrilten instructions for the tnp.

Mr. McFarlane’s message at the London
mecting was that, while the United Siates
wanted the U.S. hostages released, and would
be interested in beuer relations with lIran, it
was making no offer of arms. According 1o a
memorandum  wrtien by LiCol North, Mr.
Ghorbanifar refused o ransmit this message 1o
his lraman cantacis, reportedly staung that o
do so would endanger the bives of the hustages
There appears 10 be no lurmal tccord of the
Londun meenng

Mrt. McFarfane reporied the results of hus 1np
directly to the President a1t ¢ mecung held
the Oval Office on December 0. Once again,
no andlytical paper was disinbuted in advance,
no minutes were kept, and no formal Presiden-
ual decision resulied. The President, Secretary
Weinberger, Director Casey, Chicet of Suafl
Regan, and VADM Pundexter were preseni.
Secretary Wewnberger has no recolleciion of
the meeung though Mr. McFarlane recalled
that the Secretary asseried his opposition (o
the operauon. Secrelary Shuliz was 1 Europe,
but his stall’ reported to him on the meeting
appareatly alter walking to VADM Puindexier,

Mr. McFarlane reporied that an impasse in
the talks developed when he refused to discuss
the transfer of arms (o Iran. Mr. McFarlane
also 1o0ld the Board he recommended against
any further dealings with Mr. Ghorbanifar or
these arms transfers and lefi government think-
ing the initiauve had been discontinued.

The President also noted on December 9
that Mr. McFarlane had returned fram London.

He had met with an lraman agent descnbed as
“a devious character U The Presidens noted
thar the baman agent bad sad thar M McFar-
lane s message would kill the hosages The
Prevdent wid the Buard at the miccung on De-
teinber 10, Mr. McFarlane cxpreased no conhi-
dence i the lraman imennediary he met n
london [Mr. Gherbamtar). The Presidemt
noted that Mr. McFarlane recommended rejec-

tion of the latest plan.® The President said he
agreed. “'1 had to0.”

Mr. Regan told the Board that at the meeting
the President said the United Siates should try
something elsc or abandon the whole projec.
Mr. Regan also said that the President noted
that it would be another Christmas with hos-
tages still in Beirut, and that he [the President]

., was looking powerless and inept because he

was unable to do anything 1o get the hostages
out.

Director Casey prepared a memorandum of
the meeting dated the same day (December
1®). It states that the President “argued mildly”
tor lewing the Israelis sell the equipment bug
without any commitment from the United
States wihier than replenishment. It reports that
the Presidenn was concemed that (erminating
the wnguing discussions could lead 10 carly
acnon against the hostages. Director Casey
cuded the memorandumn by saying that as the
meeinig broke up: 1 had the idea thai the
Prendent had not enurely given up on encour-
aging the lsraelis 10 carry on with the Iranians.
b suspect he would be willing to run the nsk
and take the heat in the future if this will lead
1o spnnging the hoslages.™

The Arms/Hostages Link  Reestablished  The
President was clearly quite concemned about the
hostages. Mr. McFarlane told the Board that
the President inquired almost daily about the
welfare of the hosiages. Chief of Siaff Regan is
reported to have told reporters on November
14, 1986, that “the President bnngs up the
hostages at about 90 percent of his bnefings.”
Mr. Regan is reported 1o have said that each
moming at the daily intelligence briefing, the
| President asked VADM Poindexter: “John, any-
thmg new on the hostages?”’

The premise of the McFarlane December 7
trip had been to try 1o break the arms/hostage
link. However, on December 9, LiCol North
submitied 10 VADM Poindexter 2 memoran-
dum proposing direct U.S. deliveries of arms to
Iran w exchange for release ol the hostages,
using Mr. Secord to conirol Mr. Ghorbanifar
and the delivery operation. The December 9
memorandum rases at least a question as to
whether LiCol North, who accompanied Mr.
McFarlane to the London meeting, fuily sup-

® This appears 1o be the plan discussed at the meeung on De-
cember 7, 1985.
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ported the thrust of McFarlane's instruciions in
his own convenations in London with Mr.
Ghorbanifar and others.

During the rest of December, LiCol North,
My. Ghorbanifar, Mr. Ledeen, Mr. Secord, and
Mr. Nir met variously among themselves. Again
we know Litde of the proceedings. It is not
dear who took the Iead in developing the arms-
for-hostages proposal that was soon presented
by the [araclis. It is clear, however, that on Jan-
uary 2, 1986, Mr. Nir advanced a proposal just
when the initiative seemed (o be dying.

Mr. Nir met with VADM Poindexter in his
office on January 2. Secretary Shuliz recally

| being told by VADM Poindexter that Mr. Nir

I proposed an exchange of certain Hubullsh
prisoncrs held by lsrach-supporied Lebancse
Chnsuan forces, together with 3000 Jprach
TOWSs, for the release of the US cuuzens held
hostage i Bewrut On January 7, 1986, uus
proposal was discussed with the Presideni at a
mecung, probably held in the Oval Office, at-
tended by the Vice President, Secrewary Shuliz,
Secretary  Weinberger, Auomey  General
Meesc, Director Casey, Mr. Regan, and VADM
Poindexier. Although the President apparently
did not make a decision at this meepng, several
of the participants recall leaving the meeung
» persuaded that he supporied the proposal. Sec-
retary Shuliz told the Board that the President,
the Vice-President, Mr. Casey, Mr. Meese, Mr.
Regan, and VADM Poindexter “all had onc
opinion and I had a differeni onc and Cap
shared it.”

At his meeting with the Board on January 26,
1987, the President said he approved a convo-
luted plan whereby tsrael would free 20 Hizbal-
lah pnisoners, Israel would setl TOW missiles
w Iran, the five U.S. aiizens in Beirm would
be freed. and the kidnappings would stop. A
draft Coven Aciion Finding had already been
signed by the President the day before the
mecting on January 6, 1986. Mr. Regan ioid
the Board that the draft Finding may have been
signed in error. The President did not recall
signing the January 6 drafi,

The President 10ld the Board that he had
scveral umes ashed for assurances that ship-
ments (0 bran would not alier the nulnary bal-
ance with lraq He did not indicate when this
ocaurTed but stated that he received such assur-
ances. The President also said he was wamed
by Secretary Shuluz that the arms sales would

H-12

‘undercut U.S. efforts to discourage arms sales
by its allies to Iran.

The President did not amplify those remarks
in his meeting with the Board on February 11,
He did add, however, that no one ever dis-
cussed with him the provision of intelligence 1o
Iran.

On January 17, a second draft Finding was
submitied to the President. It was identical 1o
the January 6 Finding but with the addiion of
the words “and third parties” 1o the first sen-
tence.

The President 10ld the Board that he signed
the Finding on January 17. It was presented 0
him under cover of 4 memorandum  from
VADM Pandeier ol the same daie The Presi-
dent aand he was bineled ua the contents of the
acmosandum but sated that he did oot read
M. lhu u ellecied v VADM  Powdexter's
handwniien note on the memorandum. That
note also andicaies that the Vice President, Mr.
Regan, and Donuld Fortier were present for the
bneing.

Although the drait Finding was vinually -

idenucal (o Wt signed by ihe President on Jan-
udry b, the cover memorandum signaled a
major change n the Iran ininative. Rather than
accepung the arrangement suggesied by Mr.
Nir, the memorandum proposed that the CIA
purchase 4000 TOWs lrom DoD and, after re-
taiving payment, iransler them directly to Iran.
srael would sull “make the necessary arrange-
menis™ for the transacuon.

This was an imporiant change. The United
States became a direct supphier of arms to Iran.
The President told the Board that he under-
stoad the plan in this way. That day, President
Reagan wrote in his diary: "I agreed 1o sell
TOWSs 1o Iran.™

I is smaporant to note, however, that this de-
cision was made at a mecting at which neither
Secretary Shultz, Secretary Weinberger, nor Di-
recior Casey were present. Although Secretary
Wewnberger and Director Casey had been
present at 2 meenng wih Antoiney General
Mecse, General Counsel Spodkin, and VADM
Poindenter the preceding day 1o 1evicw the
dealt Finding, the new U'S  rule does not
appeas wn the 1en1 ol ihe hindung Allorney
General Meese 1odd the Board he did not recall
any ducussion of the unplicauons of this
change. Secretary Weinberger 1old the Board

P

he had no recollection of attending the meet-
mgl‘he President made the point to the Board
that arms were not given Lo Iran but sold, and
(hat the purpose was to improve the siature
within Iran of particular elements seeking ties
to the Iranian military, The President distin-
ished between selling to someane believed
io be able to exert influence with respect to the
hostages and dealing directly with hidnappers.
The President told the Board that only the
latier would “make it pay” to take hostages.

The President told the Board that he had not
been advised at any time during this period
how the plan would be implemented. He said
he thought that bivach government oflicab
would be involved He assumed that the US
ssde wuuld be on s guard agunst people such
a3 Mr. McFarlane had miet in London i casly
December. He ndiated that Dirccior Casey
had not suggested 1o hum a1 any tme that the
CIA assume operauonal responsibihity for the
inwative, nor was he advised of the downsude
nsks of the NSC stafl ran the vperauon. He re-
calls understanding a1 the ume that he had a
nght to defer notice 10 Congress, and being
concerned that any lcaks would result in the
death of those with whom the United Siates
sought 1o deal in Iran.

The january 17 Finding was apparently not
given or shown o key NSC pnnapals. In par-
ticular, Secretary Shuliz, Secretary Weinberger,
and Mr. Regan stated that they did not sec the
signed Finding until after the Iman initauve
became public. The Finding wmarked, however,
a major step toward increasingly direct U.S.
participation in, and control over, the Iran inui-
ative.

Stage 6: The NSC Staff Manages
the Operation

In the months that followed the signing of
the January 17th Finding, LiCol North forward-
ed 10 VADM Puwmdexicr a number of oper-
atuaal plans lor achiewving the release of all the
hustages Each plan ivolved a dwedt hink be-
tween the selease o hostages and the sale of
armus LiCol North, with the knowledge of
VADM Pondester and the support of selected
wdividuals at CLA, direcily managed a neiwork
of pnvaic indwviduals in cartying out these
plans. None of the plans, however, achieved

their common objective—ihe releasc of all the
hostages.

Plans jor “Operation Recovery.” The plan de-
scribed in the cover memorandum o the Janu-
ary 17 Finding called for Israel to arrange for
the sale of 4000 U.S. TOW missiles to Iran,
The memorandum stated that both sides had
agreed that the hostages would be released
“immediately’”’ upon commencement of the op-
eration. It provided, however, that if all the
hoswages were not released after the first ship-
ment of 1000 TOWS, further tansfers would
cease.

AL this point elements of the CIA assumed a
much more direct role in the operation. On
January 18, 1986, VADM Poindexter and LeCol
North et with Clar George, Deputy Director
of Operasons at ClA, Stanley Sporkin, CIA
General Counsel and one of the primary au-
thors of the January 17 Finding, the Chief of
the Near East Division with the Operations Di-
rectucate at CIA ‘They began planning the exe-

s cuton of the plan. Because of an NSC request

fur clearance of Mr. Ghorbanifar, on January
11, 1986, the CIA had adminstered a poly-
graph test 10 Mr. Ghorbanifar during a visit {0

\Washinglon. Although he failed the test, and

despite the unsatisfactory results of the pro-
gram 1o dale, Mr. Ghorbanifar continued to
serve as intennediary. A CIA official recalls Di-
| rector Casey concurring in this decision,

On January 24, LitCol North sent to VADM
Poindexter a lengthy memorandum conlaining
a notional timeline for “'Operation Recovery.”
The complex plan was to commence January
24 and conclude February 25. It called for the
United States to provide intelligence data 10
Iran. Thereafter, Mr. Ghorbanifar was to trans-
fer funds for the purchase of 1000 TOWs to an
Isracli account at Credit Suisse Bank in
Geneva, Switzerland. It provided that these
funds would be transfered to an account in the
same bank controlled by Mr. Secord; that $6
million of that amount would be transferred to
a CIA account in that bank; and that the CIA
would then wire the $6 million to a U.S. De-
partment of Defense account in the United
States.® The 1000 TOWs would then be trans-
ferred from the DoD to the CIA.

» The finanang ol this and the siher ransacuons involved io
the amw sale nilauve w covered i the chans anncxed 10 the
end of Appendia B,
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Mr. Secord and his associates, rather than
the CIA, had the more substantial operational
rolc. He would arrange for the shipment of the
TOWs to Eilai, lsrael. From there, an Israeli
707, flown by a crew provided by Mr. Secord,
would deliver the TOWs o Bandar Abbas,
Jan. On the return flight, the aircraft would
stop in Tehran to pick up the HAWK missiles
delivered in November of 1985 but later rejeat-
ed by Iran. The plan anticipated that the next
day (February 9) all U.S. citizens held hostage
in Beirut would be released to the U.S. embas-
sy there. Therealier, 3000 more TOWS would
be delivered. The plan anticipated that Kho-
meini would step down on February LI, 1985,
the fifth apniversary of the founding of the ls-
lamic Republic.?®

'+ Mr. Ghorbandar's recollectiun ol the terms
of the arangements ate radually dudberens Mo
Ghorbamular swied sdamandy that the 1000
TOWSs were 1o reestablish U S good lah afier
the disastecrous November shupment of HAWK
missiles. Mr. Ghorbandar said there was no
agreement that the U.S. hostages would be re-
leascd as a result of the sale.

On February 18, the first 500 TOWs werc
delivered 1o Bandar Abbas, and the HAWK
miasiles were brought out. On February 24-27,
LiCol North, a ClA official, Mr. Secord, Mr.

" Nir, and Mr. Albert Hakim (2 busimess assocuate
of Mr. Secord) held a senecs of mecungs n
Frankfurt, Germany with Mr. Ghorbandar and
other Iranians 10 review the details of the oper-
ation. On February 27, the second 500 TOWs
were delivered 10 Bandar Abbas. Although a
hostage relcase and a later meeting beiween
senior U.S. and Iranian officials had been
agreed upon at the Franklun meeting, the plan
fell through. No hostages were released and
the meeting failed 10 materialize wntil much
later.

Although the cover memorandum to the Jan-
vary 17 Finding staied that further arms trans-
fers would cease if all the hosiages were not re-
leased afier delivery of the first 1000 TOWs,
the United States continued to pursue the wun-
ative and arranged for another delivery ol asnn
fwo months laer,

, Authonzanoa for “Uprratwn Reowry 7 Lol
Nosth appears 10 have kept VADM Poindexier

18 The Buard hasy found no cvedenie that would guve any cre-
deacr 0 U Bssumpton,
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" fully advised of the progress of Operation Re-
! covery. Director Casey also appears o have

been kept informed both by LitCol North and
by a CIA official. Both LiCol North and VADM
Poindexter were in wuch with Mr. McFarlane.
In a message to LiCol North on February 27,
1986, Ms. N " ulane noted that he had just re-
ceived a nt  from VADM Poindexter asking
whether Mr. McFarlane could undertake the
scnior level meeting with the Iranians and ind)-
caung that “the President is on board.” Mr.
Regan told the Board thait the President au-
thor == the shipmern of 1000 TOWs during
onc {ADM Poindexier's moming bnefings
ot cndent.

Setsetary Shubts 1old the Board that on Feb-
fuary 8. 1980, VADM Fomndesicr mformed
bim the husiages would be seleascd the lollow-
ing week Seactary Shuliz said VADM Paan-
dewter repuned nothug aboot arms. VADM
Poindester said that the Iranmians wanied a
high-level dulogue covening ssues other than
hostages. and ihat the Whie House had chosen
Mr Mutarlane for the mussion.

Preparation for the May Tnpg Preparaton for a
inccting between Mr McFarlane and senior lra-
nan officials began shornly afier LiCol Nonh's
retorm jrom Franklun oa February 27. Tha
same day, VAUM Puindexter et with Dhirecior
Casey, Mi. George, and another €ClA oftiaat 1o
discuss plans lor the mecung On March 5,
1986, George Cave Joined the group. He was a
teured CIA otficer who since retrement had
served a3 a {ull-ume pad consuliamt o the
agency. He was a4 Farsi speaker and an expen
on lran.

LiCol Noith, Mr. Cdve, and a CIA official
met with Mr. Ghorbanifar in Pans on March 8,
1986. LiCol North reporied on this conversa-
uan to Mr. Mckarlane on March 10. He said he
told Mr. Ghorbamfar that the United States re-
mained uiterested 1n a meeung with senioy Ira-
nian officials as lonyg as the hosiages were re-
leased durmg or beloie the mecimg He sad
he bnieled Me Ghodbamdar on the Sosiet threat
ti ban usg aideligenoe supphied by My
Ruberi Later then the C14 Depuly Ditecior
fur Intelhgenoe My Ghoabatar tespanded by
presening & bist ol 244 dallercan ypes ot sparc

Paity, al vativus qualiilics. necded by bran for
s HAWER mussile uniy e abso emphasized
the unportance ol an advance ineenng 1n

Tehran to prepare for the meeting with Mr.
McFarlane. This advance meeting would estab-
lish the agenda and who should participate
from the Iranian side.

While further discussion occurred over the
next month, it resulied in linle progress. On
April 3, 1986, Mr. Ghorbanifar amived in
Washington, D.C. He met with LiCol North,
Mr. Allen, Mr. Cave, and another CIA official
between Aprit 3-4. In a message to Mr. McFar-
lane on Apnil 7, 1986, LiCol North indicated
that, at the request of VADM Poindexier, he
had prepared a paper for “our boss” laying out
the armangements agreed upon at the meeling,

An unsigned, undated memorandum was
found in LiCol Nonh's files emutled “Release
ol Amencan Hosuges wn Beuut.” 4 I appears
10 have been prepared in carly Aprid

In an micrview with Attomney Generad Mecse
on November 23, 1986, LiCol Nonh saxd he
prepared this memuorandum between Apnl 4-7
Although in & {orm for transouual by VADM
Powndexter to the President, LiCol North wndi-
cated that he did not beheve the President had
appruved the memorandum.

The memoranduin provided fur the {ollowing
sequence of events:

—On Apnl 9, the CIA would com-
mence procunng $3.641 million worth
of parts for HAWK missile unus.

—On Apnl 18, a pravate U.S. arcraft
would load the parts and fly them to
an lIsrach airficld. The parts would
then be wansferved to an Israch mib-
tary aircraft with false markings.

—On Apnl 19, Mr. McFarlane, LtCol
North, Mr. Teicher, Mr, Cave, and a
ClA official would board a CIA aircraft
in Frankfurt en route 1o Tehran.

—On Apnl 20, they would meet with a
delegation of senior lranian officials.
Seven hours later, the U.S. hostages
would be released in Bewrut. Filieen
hours later, the hsrach miitary awrcrafe
with the HAWK muside paits would
Land i Bander Abbas. tran

That schedule was not et On Aprd 1B,
1986, LiCul North wioie VADM Pomndexier

"' ihe memurandum also tonisncd & refescnce e ihe diver-
son ol lunds o e Contras, ducuancd w Sccuon B of this Pan
1]

seeking approval for a meeung with Mr. Ghor-
banifar in Frankfurt on Apnl 18. In his reply of
the same date, VADM Poindester approved the
trip but insisted that there be no delivery of

. parts until alt the hostages had been freed. He

expressly ruled out half shipmenis before re-
lease. “It is either all or nothing.” He author-
ized LiCol North to tell Mr. Ghorbanifar: *“The
President is getiing very annoyed at their con-

tinual stalling.” On April 21, VADM Poindexter

sent a message to Mr. McFarlane informing
him of this position.

The Frankfurt meeting was not held. On May
6, 1986, LiCol North and Mr. Cave met with
Mr. Ghorbanifar in London. Mr. Ghorbanifar
promised 2 mecung with semior Iranian officials
but asked that the US. delegation bring all the
HAWK spare parts with them. Mr. Cave recalls

| the Amencans agreeing that one-quarter of the

spaic paits would awompany the delegation.
Notwithstandiag, LiCol North informed VADM
Poindexter on May B: "l believe we have suc-
cceded ® * * Release of hostages sel for week
of 19 May in sequence you have specified.”

On May 22, 1986, LiCol North submiited the
final operating plan for the trip 1o VADM Poin-
deuter. 1t provided that the McFarlane delega-
uon would armve in Tehran on May 25, 1986.
The next day (but no later than May 28), the
hostages would be released. One hour later, an
Isracli 707 carrying the balance of the spare
parts would leave Tel Aviv for Tehran.

Authonzahan for the May Trip. On May 3, 1986,
while at the Tokyo economic summii, Secretary
Shuliz received word from the U.S. Ambassa-
dor to London that Mr. Khashoggi, Mr. Ghor-
banifar, and Mr. Nir had sought to interest a
Brtish businessman in the shipment of spare
parts and weapons to Iran. That same day, Sec-
retary Shuliz expressed his concern about any
such transaction to Mr. Regan. Secretary Shuliz
told the Board that Mr. Regan said he was
alarmed and would 1alk 1o the President. Secre-
tary Shultz said he ralked later 10 VADM Poin-
deater and was told that “ithal was not our
deal.”” He recalls being told soon thereafter by
jboth VADM Poindexier and Director Casey
that the operauon had ended and the people
nvolved had been told to “stand down." The
Tokyo Summit closed with a statement from ali
the hcads of state sirongly reaffirming their
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. condemnation of international terrorism in all
" its forms.

Rodney McDanicl noted that during the na-
tional security briefing on May 12, 1986,
VADM Poindexter discussed with the President
the hostages and Mr. McFardane's lorthcoming
tnp.1? The notes indicate that the President di-
recied that the press not be told about the trip.

- On May 15, 1986, Mr. McDanicl's notes indi-
'ca.l.c that the President authorized Mr. McFar-
lane's secret mission to Iran and the Terms of

Reference for that trip. Those notes indicate

that the wrip was discussed again with the Presi-

dent on May 21.

On May 17, LiCol North “sirongly urged”

' that VADM Poindexter include Secretary Shuliz
and Secrelary Wewnberger along with Dueciur

,Casey 0 a “quiet” mecung with the Prenden
- and Mr. McFarlane (o review ihe proposcd 1np
VADM Pomndexier responded. ') don’t wam 2

meeting with RR, Shuliz and Weinberger

The May Trp s0 Tehrar. 1uCol Nonh noted 1n
a message 10 VADM Poindester on May 19 that
CIA was providing *'comms, beacons, and doc-
umentation for the party.” All the ather logs-
tics had been arranged through Mr. Secord “ur
affiliates.” Mr. McFarlane, along wuh LiCol
North, Mr. Cave, and a CIA official, left che
United States on May 28. Mr. Nir had pressed
to be included in the delegation. The Chiefl o
the Near East Division in the CIA operauions
directoraic told the Board that this request was
initially rejecied, and that poswion was trans-
mitted by the White House 10 Israeli Prime
Minister Peres who appealed it. He said thai ui-
timately, the decision was lefi to Mr. McFar-
lane, who decided 10 let Mr. Nir join the group.
_Mr. Ghorbanifar recalls that in meetings with
Iranian officials, Mr. Nir was always presenied
as an American.

On May 25 the delegation armived in Tehiran.
Withowt the prior knowledge 1o Mr. McFarlane,
the aircraft carmed one palici of HAWK spare
parts. The delegation was nol met by any
senior Iranian officials. No hosiages were re-
leased. Because of this, a second plane carmying
the rest of the HAWK sparc parns was ordered
nol 10 come (0 Tehiran, Two days of talks

U5 by b Danar] betamer Baciulive Seieway ol dw Ao
February. 19886 Though unwrudved in buih thr polsy snal n
plemenianog of ihe bran woiaive, b S Danel s ompaierd
VADM Posndesior 10 his mormung boclings ol the Pressdend as 2
molg taker.
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proved fruitless. The Iranians initially raised
demands for additional concessions, but later
appeared to abandon them. Mr. McFarlanc de-
manded the prior release of all hostages and
the Iranians insisted on the immediate delivery
of all HAWK spare parts. On May 27, Mr.
McFarlane demanded the release of the hos-
tages by 6:30 am. the next day. When no hos-
tages were released, Mr. McFarlane and his
party departed, but not before the pallet of
HAWK spare parts had been removed from
their aircraft by the Iranians.

In a report 10 VADM Powmndexter on May 26,
Mr McFarlane mated. ““The incompetence of
ihe Lianian government o do business requires
4 dcdunbing on ows part ol why there have
been so oueny {rusiraung tadures 1o deliver on
thew pant ™

Mi Ghuibamdfer placed blame tor the falure
ol the May tnp squarely on the United Staies.

, M1 Ghorbambiar said that he had proposed that
‘he and LiCol North go 1o Tehran first 10 pre-

parc the way. Bui afier Mr. Ghorbanifar had
miade all the arrangements, LiCol North ad-
vised that VADM Pondexter had disapproved
the wp ‘The falure 10 hold this preparatory
meeung mdy have resulted in substantial wus-
undersianding between the two sides as to just
what would occur and be discussed at the
meeung with Mr. McFarlane. Mr. Ghorbanifar
stated that the Iranwns faled 10 meet Mr.
McFarlane's plane because 1t amved three
hours ahead of schedule. Mr. Ghorbanifar also
clanied that the delegauon did meet with a
semor-level foreign policy advisor.

The Board found evidence thai LiCol North,
Mr. Cave, Mr. Allen, and another CIA official
knew as early as mid-Apnl thad if all the HAWK
spare paris were not delivered with the delega-
tion, then only one U.S. hostage would be re-
leased. Mr. McFarlane may not have been ad-
vised of tus. While in Tehran, he insisted upon
the release of all US hostages pror 1o more
thais the wbken debivery of HAWK spare pans
ITis was apperently lus and VADM  Pous
denicr s understanding ol ihie agreed aivange-
menta Ll bed M Mutatlane w o reluse an
cven bLetter lianan oller than the voe LiCol

Nofth and his asssiigies had reasun 1o expect,

twu hustages unimediately 4nd the remasung
two alter delivery of the rest of the spare paris.

r_

Notes made by Mr. McDanicl indicate that on

May 27 the President received a report on the
McFarlane trip. Those notes also indicate thai
Mr. McFarlane reported on his trip in person
10 the President on May 29. The notes indicate
that the Vice President, Mr. Regan, VADM
Poindexter, Mr. Teicher, and LtCol North also
attended. Mr. McFarlane told the Board, and
\he notes confirm, that he told the President
that the program cught 1o be discontinued. It
was his view that while political meetings might
be considered, there should be no weapons
iransfers.
" A Hostage Comes Out Mr. McDanel's notes -
dicaie that on June 20, 1986, the President de-
uded that no further meecung with the lranians
would be held unul the selease of the hostages
barly wr July, £4Col Nosth called Charles Allea,
a CIA official, and dsked him o take vver ithe
day-1o-day contact wah Mr. N LaCol Nuith
wroie in a memorandum o VADM Pomndexier
about thus same tume thai he beheved he had
“lost face” betause of hus falure 10 obtan the
release of an Amendan hostage. Mr. Allen re-
called that Mr. Nir was alarmed at losing duect
contact with LiCol North. Mr. Allen 1old the
" Board that a» a result, Mr. Nir worked closely
with Mr. Ghorbamfar (o obtain the relcase of
an American hostage.

Notes made by the NSC Executive Secretary
indicate that on July 18, VADM Poindexter in-
lorined the President of the latest communica-
uons with the franan inteslocutors. On July 21,
LiCol North, Mr. Cave, and Mr. Nir met with
Mr. Ghorbanifar in London. They discussed
the release of the hosiages in exchange for the
HAWK spare parts that remained undelivered
from the May mission to Tehran. On July 26,

" Father Lawrence Jenco was released.

VADM Poindexter briefed the President on
the Jenco release that same day over a secure
telephane. He used a2 memorandum prepared
by LiCol North that claimed the release was
“undoubiedly” a result of Mr McFarlane’s tinp
0 May and the (onunuing tontacts therealter
A July 26, 1986 memorandum o VADM Poin-
dester lrosn Dancctor Cascy tcached the same
LU luson

o In o memorandum 1o VADM Powndexier
“ dated July 29, 1986, Lid ol Nuiih secusmmend-
| ed that the President appiove the immediate
stupment of the rest ol the HAWK spare paris
and a follow-up mectng with the lranians n

17-me 0—-01—12

_Europe. Notes of the NSC Executive Secretary
"indicate that the President approved this pro-

posal on July 30. Additional sparc parts were
delivered to Tehran on August 3.

Stage 7: The Second Channel Is
Opened But the Initiative Leaks

From the start, U.S. officials had stressed (o
Mr. Ghorbanifar that Iran must use its influ-
ence to discourage funther acts of terronism di-
recled against the United States and its citizens.
Whether as a result of those efforts or for some
other reason, from june 9, 1985, untsl Septem-
ber 9, 1986, no U.S. cutizen was seized in Leba-
non '* Bul on Sepiember 9, 1986, terrorists
scuied Frank Reed, a U.S. educator at the Lebe-
nese biernestional School. Two more ULS. diti-
acus, Juseph Crappo and Edward Tracey, were
tehen hostage un Seplember 12 and October
21

The Mobarlane nussion o Tehran marked
the hugh-water mark of U.S, etforts to deal with
Iran through Mr. Ghorbamlar, For a year he
had Leen at she center of the relationship. That
year had been marked by great confusion,
broken promuses, and increasing frustration on
the U.S. side. LiCol North and other U.S. off-
crals apparently blamed these problems more
on Mr. Ghorbanifar than on Iran, The reicase
of Rev. Jenco did haile 10 mitgate their unhap-
priess.

Someume n July, 1986, an Iranian living in
London proposed to Mr. Hakim a second Irani-
an channel—the relative of a powerful Iranian
official. On july 25, Mr. Cave went 10 London
to discuss this possibility. On August 26, 1986,
Mr. Sccord and Mr. Hakim met with the second
channel and other {ranians in London. The Ira-
nians said they were aware of the McFarlane
visit, the Israeli connection, and Mr. Ghorbani-
far’s role. They referred to Mr. Ghorbanifar as
a “crook.” Notes taken by Mr. McDaniel indi-
cate that the President was briefed about the
sccond channel an Sepiember 9, 1986.

LiCol Nurnth, Mr. Cave, and a ClA official
met with the second channel and two other Ira-
nians 0 Washungton beiween Sepiember 19
and 21, 1986. The 1wo sides discussed the
Suvier threai, cooperation in support of the

' This excludes iwo and pussbly ihree duad-national U.S. cni
tena seized dunng ths penod.
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Afghan resistance, and improved relations be-
tween the United States and Ivan. The bulk of
the time, however, was spent discussing the
“obatacle” of the hostages and Iran's urgent
need (within two months) for both intclligencc
and weapons to be used in offensive operations
against fraq. LiCol North reviewed a list of
military equipment and agreed “in principle”
to provide that equipment, subject o0 the con-
straints of what was available within the United
Stales or obtainable from abroad. The parties
discussed the esablishment of a secret eight-
man U.S.-Iranian commission to work on future
relations. Finally, LiCol North 10ld the Iranians
that unless contact came from North, Richard
Secord, or George Cave, “there is no officwd
message from the Unied Siates.”” Nuics by M

McDaniel indicaie that oo Sepicmber 23, the
President was bndded oo recem  duscusssons
with the second channel.

On October 3-7, 1986, L1Cal Nourth, Mr
Cave, and Mr. Secord met wuh the second
channel in Frankfurt, Germany. They camed a
" Bible for the lranians inscribed by the Prem-
dent on October 3. Dunng the meeung, LuCol
North misreprescnted his access to the Pres-
dent and atributed (o the President things the
President never said.

In presenting the Bible, LaCol North related
the following story 1o the lranians:

“We inside our Government had an
enormous debate, a very angry debate
inside our government over whether
or nol my president should authonze
me 10 say “We accept the [slamic Rev-
olution of Iran as a faa * * *." He
{the President] went off one whole
weekend and prayed about what the
answer should be and he came back
almost a year ago with thai passage |
gave you that he wrote in front of the
Bible ] gave you. And he said to me,
! *This is a promise that God gave to
' Abraham. Who am [ 10 say that we
should not do this?”

In rcaliy, the idea of the Bible and the
chaice ol the inscnpiion were contained in an
Ociober 2, 1986, memoranduom from LiCol
North to VADM Poindexter. The Bible was 1o
be exchanged for a Koran at the Oviober 5-7
mecting. VADM Paindexter approved the dea
and the President inscnibed the Bible the next
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momming. The President 1old the Board that he
did inscribe the Bible because VADM Poin-
dexter told him this was a favorite passage with
one of the people with whom the U.S. was
dealing in Iran. The President said he made the
inscription to show the recipient that he was
“getting through.”

Al two points during the October 5-7 Frank-
furt mectings, LiCol North told iwo stories of
private discussions with the President a1 Camp

-David. The first had the President saying that

he wanted an end 10 the Iran/lraq war on
terms acceplable o Iran. The second had the
President saying that the Gulf states had 1o be
copvinced that u was Saddam Husan of Irag
that was “causing the problem.”

When peessed by the branuns for an explicut
Maicmed of what the Usuied Staies mecans by
“an bonorsbie vaiory” for Iran, 11Col North
repied  "We also  recognue shat  Saddam
Husawn must go ™

The Presdent emphanized 1o the Board tha
these statements are an “absolute ficton® and
that there were no meetings as LiCol North de-
sucnbes. In addion, Mr. McDaniel noted 1hat
on Ocober 3, 1986, the President reaffirmed
that the Umited Staics wanied neither Iran or
Irag 10 win the war.

At the Odiober 5-7 meetung, LiCol Nonh
lad vut 2 seven-siep proposal {or the provision
of weapons and other wems in exchange for
Iramian influence (o secure the release of all re-
maning U.S. hostages, the body of William
Buckley, a debnef by his captors, and the re-
lease of Johm Pauis, a United States ciizen
whom the lranians had amesied on apying
charges several months earlier. The lranuans
presented a six-point counler-proposal that, in
part, promised the release ol one hostage fol-
lowing receipt of additional HAWK parts and a
timetabte {or future debivery of intelligence in-
formation. The lranians made clear that they
could not secure the release of all the hosiages.
Mr. Cave recalls that the Iramians pruposed ex-
changing 500 TOWs {or the relcase ol iwo hos-
tages He siated that the US nde agreed

A sccond meeung war held o Frankfun on
Ocrober 20-28 at whuh the partes finalized
the paymeni and debivery schedule (or the
TOWs Al that meelng. the parues apparently
duscussed a ne-pomt US agendes wuh lran.
That agenda wncluded delivery by the U.S. of
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the 500 TOWs, an unspecified number of
HAWKs, discussion of the 17 Da'Wa prisoners
held by Kuwait, additional arms including 1000
more TOWs, and military intelligence. In ex-
change the Iranians promued release of one
and perhaps two US. citizens held hostage in
Beirut and “further effons to create the condi-
tion for release of other hostages.”

Al a2 meeting between represcntatives of th-
Swate Department and the second channel o

December 13, 1986, the Iranian said that both |

sides had agreed to this ninc-point agenda.
The Board found no evidence that LtCol North
had authonity to agree 10 such an agenda. Sec-
retary Shuliz 1o0ld the Board that he informed
the President the next day He sad that the
President was “sinicken” and could not behicve
anything hike thus had been duscussed () par-
tculai concern was the posd that the Unued
States had consistenuly gven strung supporl o
Kuwail in resishing terronst demands for the
release of the Da'Wa prisoners,

At the October 26-28 mecung, the Iranan
participas said the story of ihe McFarlane
mission to Tehran had been published n a
small Hezbollah newspaper in Baalbek, Leba-
non. The article was based on a senies of leal-
lets distnbuted in Tehran on 15 or 16 Oclober.

Mr. Regan recalls the Pressdent authonzing
the shipment of 500 TOWs on October 29,
1986.

Because of a delay wm the transier of (unds
the TOWs actually delivered to Iran en Oclo-
ber 29, 1986, were lsracli TOWs. The 500 US.
TOWSs werc provided to [srael as replacements
on November 7.

On November 2, hostage David Jacobsen was
released. The next day, a pro-Synan Beirut
magazine published the story of the McFarlane
mission. On November 4, Majlis Speaker Raf-
sanjani publicly announced the mission.

The President, VADM Poindexter, and LtCol
North hoped that more hostages would be re-
leased. Notes taken by the NSC FExecutive Sec-
retary ndicate that en November 7, 1986, the
Presidens deaded not 1o respond to quesuons
ou itus subject tos fear of peopacduing the re-
maung hostages No further hosiages were re-
lcased

Mi  Chorbanifar told the Board that the
switch 1o the second channel was 4 major error.
He clasmed that he had involved all three
major hines or faciions within the govermment

of Iran in the inidative, and that the second
channel involved only the Rafsanjani Eaction
thus stimulating friction among the [actiong
and leading 1o the leak of the story 10 cinbar-
rass Rafsanjani. In addition, the price offered
1o this faction was lower ($8000 per TOW)
than the price charged for the earlier TOW de-
liveries ($10000 per TOW).

Section B: Contra Diversion

Sizable sums of money generated by the
arms sales to Iran remain unaccounted for, De-
termining whether these funds from the sale of
arms 10 Iran were diverted 10 suppont the Con-
trag proved (o be ewremely difficult. VADM
Pumdexicr, LiCol North, Israeli participants,
and other key witnesses refused 1o appear
beluie the Board, and records for relevant
bank accounis mantaned in Switzerland and
elsewhere could not be obtained by the Board.
Notwithstanding, there was considerable evi-
dence before the Buard of a diversion to sup-
port the Coniras. Bul the Board had no hard
proof.

Early in 1986, the need to find funds for the
support of the Coniras was desperate. At the
same lime, the idea of diverung funds from the
arms szles 1o Iran suraced. Attomey General
Meese told the Board that VADM Poindexter
and L1Col North both iold him that a diversion
had oceurred.

Money Was Available. Israel made three arms
deliveries to Iran in 1985. One of these was the
November shipment of HAWK missiles. Alter
the November deal collapsed, 17 of the 18
HAWK missiles were returned to lsrael and
available evidence suggests thau all of the
money for that shipment was returned or cred-
ited to Iran. In the case of the TOW shipments
in August and September [985, the price
charged to Iran by Isracl was [ar in cxcess of
what Israel paid the US. Department of De-
fense 10 replenish the arms it delivered. This
cxcess amount was roughly $3 million {or the
August/Sepiember TOW shipmenis. Nothing is
known by the Board about the disposition of
those funds.

The United Siates directly managed four
arms deliveries in 1986. In cach case, the pur-
chase moncy was deposited in Swiss bank ac-
counts held in the name of Lake Resources and
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under the control of Richard Secord. Again,
the price charged to lran was far in excess of
what was paid to the Deparunent of Defense
for the arms. The excess amounts totaled
almoat $20 million for the four deliveries: $6.3
million for ihe February shipment of TOWs,
$8.5 million for the May and Augusst shipments
of HAWK parts, and $5 million for the October
shipment of TOWa.}¢

Most of these monies remain unaccounted
for. Mr. Khashoggi and other investors claim
they are sl owed $10 million from these
transactions.

The Contras Desperately Needed Funds In Janu-
ary, 1986, the President requesied $100 milhon
in militasy aid w the Coniras. The requent re-
vived the ofien bilter Congresmonal debete
over whether the Unated Siates should suppon
the Contras. The oblhigsnional authondy lus ihe
$27 oulbon i humandanan ad 10 the Consas
approved by the Congress wn 1983 would
expire on March 31, 1986 LiCol North, who
had primary NSC sall responsibduy for mai-
ters relaling (o the Contras, became wicreasng-
ly concerned. While anucipating Congressional
approval of the President's January | request,
L4Col North feared the Comtras would run out
of funds before then. On Apnl 22, 1986, he
wrole Mr. Fortier: “[Tlhe piciure i dismal
unless a new source of ‘bridge’ funding can be
identified * * *. We need to exaplore thas prob-
lem urgently or there won't be a force to help
when the Congress finally acts.”

A Divernon Was Suggesied It 13 unclear who
first suggested the idea of diventing funds from
the arms sales 10 Iran to support the Contras.
The evidence suggesus that the idea surfaced
early in 1886.

Attormey General Meese told the Board that
during his .interview with LiCel Nonh on No-
vember 23, 1986, North indicated that the idea
suwifaced during a discussion with Mr. Nir in
January, 1986, about ways Isracl could help the
Contras. LiCol North recalled the Israeli offi-
cal suggewiing that the “residuals” from the
Iran arms sales be transferved 10 the Coniras.
Contemporancous justice Depaniment notes of
the November wierview indwate that LiCoi
Norh sasd ithe diversion was an lsrach wlea,
that the larachs wanted to be helpiul.

4 Chars descnbung the vanows Amps alen anks s m-
wabved m the § are d 10 A iy B
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Mr. Ghorbanifar toid the Board that he had a
conversation with LiCol North and Mr. Secord
sometime in February of 1986 concemning ar-
rangements for the upcoming delivery of 1000
TOW missiles to Iran. He said that LuCol
North and Mr. Secord were extremely worried
about a shortfall in funding for the Conuras.
Mr. Ghorbanifar said that LiCol North asked
him if the Iranians would pay $10,000 per
TOW muasile, instead of $6,500. When 1old
that iran would pay that price, Mr. Ghorbanifar
said 11Col North was greatly rehieved—"he was
a changed man.”

In 2 memorandum of a mecung with Mr.
Ghorbanfar in Pans on March 7-8, George
Cave reponied that Mr Ghorbamfar, w an
asede “propuscd that we use prodits fsom these
drals and wihees 10 lund suppon to the rebehs
W Alghasusian. We (ould do the iame with
Nu aragua

Befure the Board, Mr. Cave saud that nenher
he nur Mr. Ghorbamfar made any menuon of
diversion.

North and Puindoier Sawl Dwersion Occurved. At-
wriney General Mecse wold the Board that
dunng his wierview with 11Col North on No-
vember 23, 1986, North said that $3 to $4 mil-
hon was diveried 1o the support of the Contras
after the February shipment of TOW missiles
and that more (though how much LiCol North
was noi sure} was diveried alter the May ship-
ment of HAWK parts. Contemporancous Jus-
uce Department siafl notes of that interview in-
dicate that LiCol North said that the Israelis
handled the money and that he gave them the
numbers of three accounts opened in Swiizer-
land by Adolpho Calero, a Contra leader. The
notes also indicate that LiCol North said there
was no money for the Contras as a result of the
shipment in October, 1986. By then Congres-
sional funding had resumed.

Mr. McFariane tesufied that while standing
on the wrmac at a Tel Aviv arport after the
tnp to Tehran i May of 14986, LiCol North
told hun nut 1o be oo downhearied bedause
“thu govermncnt i avashing wsclt of pan i the
moncy {{rom the han uniine] dutd appluanon
tip Contrad Amenca  Assstant Seirctary of De-
fense Bahasd Arnmage told the Board that
Norh told him someume 10 November of 1986
that: ™it's gowng to be just fine * * * 35 300n as
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cveryone knows that * * : the Ayatollah is
helping us with the Contras.

Authorization. 1t 13 unciear whether LiCol
North ever sought or received prior approval
of any diversion of funds to the support of the
Contras. LiCol North prepared in carly Apn!
an unsigned memorandum entitled “Relcase of
American Hostages in Beirut,” which sought
Presidential approval for what became Mr.
McFarlane's May Lnap to Tehran. In that memo,
LiCol North stated that $12 million in “residu-
al"" {unds from the transaction would “be used
to purchase critically needed supplies for the
Nucaraguan Democratic Resistance Forces.” No
evidence has emerged 1o auggest that s
memorandum was eves placed belore VADM
Powsdenics, the Presudent, s any othet US of
fiesal

As 4 generad mauer, LiCol Nonh bept
VADM Poindexicr exhaustncly infonned sbout
s activities with respedt to the lran iniative
Although the Board did not find a spealic
commumcation from Li. Col North 10 VADM
Poundexter on the diversion quesuon, VADM
Poindexter said that he knew that a diversion
had occurred. Mr. Regan told the Board that
he asked VADM Pomndexier on November 24,
1986, if he knew of LiCol North's role in a di-
version of funds Lo support the Contras. VADM
Poindexter replied that, "1 had a teeling that
something bad was going on, but I didn’v in-
vestigate u and 1 dida’t do a thing about it
® » ¢ | really didn't want 10 know. | was s0
damned mad at Tip O'Neill for the way he was
dragging the Coniras around 1 didn't want 1o
know what, if anything, was going on. | should
have, bui 1 didn't." Auomey General Meese
told the Board that afier talking 1o LtCol
North, he asked VADM Poindexter what he
knew about the diversion. “He said that he did
know about it * ® * Ollie North had given him
enough hints that he knew what was going on,
but he dida't want to lock further into 1. Bui
that he wn fact did generally kiow that money
had gune to the Contras a3 4 result of the lran
shupanesit

Ihe President swd he had no knowledge of
the diversion priot 10 lus conselsaion with Al
tuiney General Meese on November 23, 1986.
No evidence has come to hght 1o suggest oth-
erwise. Contemporaneous Jusuice Department
stafl notes of LtCol North's interview with At-
torney General Meesc an November 23, 1086,

show North telling the Auomey General that
only he, Mr. McFarlane, and VADM Poindcxtigr
were aware of the diversion.

Section C: The NSC Staff
and Support for the Contras

Inquity into the arms sale 1o Iran and the
possible diversion of funds to the Contras dis-
closed evidence of substantial NSC stafl in-
volvement in a related area; privale support for
the Contras during the period that support
from the U.5. Government was either banned
or restricted by Congress.

There are similarities in the two cases.
tndeed. the N5C stafl's rote in support for the
Cuntras sct the stage for its subsequent role in
the lran usunative In both, LiCol North, with
the avquicscence ub the Nanonal Security Advi-
sur. was deeply involved in the operational de-
tails of 4 covert program. He relied heavily on
privaie U S auzens and foreigners to carry out
key uperational tasks. Some of the same indi-
vidudls were iwvolved in both. When Israeli
plans for the November HAWK shipment
began to unravel, LiCol North tumed to the
private network that was already in place to run
the Contra support operation. This network,
under the directivn of Mr. Secord, undertoock
increasing responsibility for the Iran initiative.
Neither programn was subjecied to rigorous and
penadic inter-agency overview. In neither case
was Congress informed. In the case of Contra
support, Congress may have been actively
misled.

These 1wo operations also differ in several
key aspects. While Iran policy was the subject
of strong disagreement within the Exccutive
Branch, the President’s emphatic support for
the Comtras provoked an often bitter debate
with the Congress. The resull was an intense
poliucal struggle between the President and the
Congress over how 1o define US. policy
toward Nicaragua. Congress sought to restrict
the President's abiluy 1o unplement his policy.
What emerged was a highly ambiguous legal
environment.

On December 21, 1982, Congress passed the
first “Boland amendment’” prohibiting the De-
panment of Defense and the Ceniral Intedli-
gence Agency from spending funds to oves-
throw Nicaragua or provoke conflict between
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Nicaragua and Honduras. The following year,
$24 million was authorized for the Contras. On
October 3, 1984, Congress cut off all funding
for the Contras and prohibited DoDy, CIA, and
any other agency or cntity “involved in intelli-
gence aclivitics” from direcdy or indirecily sup-
porting military operations in Nicaragua.

The 1984 prohibition was subject to conflict-
ing interpretation. On the one hand, several of
itz Congressional supporters believed that the
legislation covered the activities of the NSC
staff. On the other hand. it appears that L+Col
North and VADM Poindexter reccived legal
advice from the President’s Intelligence Over-
sight Board that the resinciions on lethal as-
sistance (0 the Contras did not cover the NS(
safl.

Coniusion only increased In Liecember 1985
Coagress approved classised asnounis of tunds
to the Conuas for “communsaions’”  and
“advice.” The authonzation was subject, how-
ever, 10 a classified anncx negouwated by the
Senate and Howse intelligence commitices. An
exchange of letiers, iniated the day the law
passed, evidences the exweme difficulty even
the Chairmen of the iwo comauttees had in de-
ciding what the annex permitied or proscnbed

The suppon for the Contras differs from the
Iranian inivative in some other important re-
spects. First, the acuvities undenaken by LiCol
North with respect to the Contras, untike in the
Iranian case, were in suppon of the declared
policy of at least ihe Executive. Second, the
President may never have authorized or,
indeed, even been apprised of what the NSC
staff was doing. The President never issued a
Covert Action Finding or any other formal de-
cision authorizing NSC staff activilies in sup-
port of the Conuras. Third, the NSC siall’s role
in suppart of the Contras was not in deroga-
tion of the CIA's role because, CIA involve-
ment was expressly barred by stawue.

The Board had neither the time nor the re-
sources to conduct a full inquiry into the role
of the NSC swalf in the suppon of the Contras
that was commensurate with s work on the
lran arms sales As a3 conscquence, the evi-
dence assembled by the Board was sumewhal
anccdotal and disconnccted The most signili-
cant evidence 1 summanzed 1n this Secnon
A fuller treatment 3 comamned i Appendia C

The Bud for Prwals Funding. Because of Con-
gressional restnicuons, Uhe Execuuve Branch
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turned to private sources L0 sustain the Conuras
militanly. In 1985 and 1986, Mr. McFarlane
and the NSC staff repeatedly denied any direct
involvement in efforts o obtain funds from
these sources. Yet evidence before the Board
suggests that LiCol North was well aware of
these efforts and played a role in coordinating
them. The extent of that role remains unclear.

In a memorandum 10 Mr. McFarlane daled
Aprl 11, 1985, LiCol North expressed concern
that remaining Conira funds would soon be in-
sufficient. He advised that efforts be made to
seck $15 10 $20 mulbon i addiuional funds
fium the wurrent donors which will “allow the
force o grow 1w 30-35000." The cxadl pur-
puse 1o whuh these pavate funds weie 10 be
Pt = as wnamlsguous A aumber of memoran-
ds tiom LiCol Nosdh sabe cbear shat the funds
weic loi mwmnons and lethal aid

Ashed by the Buard about the sourie of such
lunds, Mi MiFarlane provided a wniten re-
sponse  that ainduated that “without solicia-
won” a4 foragn offical oliered §1 oulbion a
manth from what he descnbed as “personal
tunds ' A1 Mr. McFarlane's request, LiCol
Nofth provided the numbers of a Contra bank
account in Miana, Mr. McFarlane wroie that in
1985, the loregn oflical doubled hus contnbu-
twon 10 $2 mullion a month, a fact conlirmed by
iwo other U S. oflicials.

Contnibuuons appear o have been channeled
through a senes of non-profit organizations
that LiCol North apparently had a hand in or-
gamzing. A diagram found i LiCol North's
safe Links some of these organizations 1o bank
accounts contrulled by Richard Sccord and
others known 1o be involved in purchasing and
shipping arms to the Contras.

Other documents and evidence suggest that
prvate coniributions for the Contras were
evertually funnelled nto “Project Democra-
cy,” ** a term apparently used by LiCol North

Yo W have nu sduinuston kg he ausilies desd nsed
Nereur a3 Progeot Leinocrsoy =l thee Nabevial bodowmead fos
Ehesmnn aey ANDEE bl Loiey =as cirmed we (8% Ly § angies
sustad & amnd w luombrd by begodaben L p e o sirenglh
0 st adim Mkt a2l e maald iugh st
fseh e skl 1ol clbaatr B give wit ol e raiberd Ademinas
N pradale WU G0 e e W e slGatR) e s b
mhah o amer Lo be bnss ab Py INBRns a1 agqarars thal
Noiib Luer sbaricd the 1erm au dcler e hue um covent wpci
swas nosmord We bebers s w o thr waly ik beiween the NED
and Norh s sctivites

S

(o describe a network of secret bank accounts
and individuals involved in Contra resupply
and other activities. In a message to VADM
Poindexter dated July 15, 1986, LiCol North
described “Project Democracy” assets as worth
over $4.5 million. They included six aircraft,
warehouses, supplies, maintenance (acilities,
ships, boats, leased houses, vehicles, ordnance,
munitions, communications equipment, and a
6520-foot runway. The runway was in fact a
secret airfield in Costa Rica. LiCol North indi-
cated in a memorandum dated September 30,
1986, that the airficld was used for direct re-
supply of the Contras from July 1985 to Febru-
ary 1986, and therealter as the pamary abun
base for damaged arcial :

On Sepiember 9, 1986, folluwing  Cosna
Rua's deaswon 1o close the awlcld, LaCol
North reccived word that the Costa Ruan guov-
ernment was planning to call a press confer-
ence 10 announce the enstence of the arlield
The same day, LiCol North inlormed VADM
Poindexter that he had held a conierence wall
with then U.S. Ambassador o Costa Rica,
Louis Tambs, and Assstant Secreiary Elbsou
Abrams (o discuss the potenual public revela-
tion of the airfield. All three parucipants con-
firm the conference. North said thar they had
deaded North would call Cosia Rican President
Anas and tell him of the press conference went
forward the U.S. would cancel $80 milhon n
promised A.I.D. assisiance and Aras’ upcoming
visit with President Reagan. North added that
both Ambassador Tambs and Assistant Secre-
lary Abrams reinforced this message with Anas.
VADM Poindexier replied: “You did the right
thing, but let's ry 10 keep it quiet.”

Assistant Secretary Abrams and Ambassador
Tambs told the Board that the conference call
took place, but only Tambs was instructed o
call Arias and thal no threat to withheld U.S.
assistance was made. They each doubted that
Nonh ever called the President of Coswua Rica
on s matier. The Costa Rican Government
Luier anuouwnced the duiscovery and cJosure of
the wuihicld

Coordinaling ihe Reupply Uperaion The ClA
Headguariers uatrudied s held stauons lo
“tease and desist” wih dthon which can be
coastrued 10 be providing any type of support
cuihier duect or indireci (o the vanous entcs
with whom we deall under the program. The
Chief of the CIA Central American Task Force

.added that in other respects the interagency

process on Central America was in disarray in
October 1984 and that "it was Ollie North who
then moved into that void and was the focal
point for the Administration on Cenwral Ameri-
can policy until fall 1985.”

As early as Apnl 1985, LiCol North main-
tained detailed records of cxpenditures for
Contra military equipment, supplies, and oper-
ations. On April 11, 1985, LiCol North sent a
memorandum io Mr. McFarlane describing two
sealifts and two airlifts “[a)s of Apnl 9, 1985."
The memorandum set out the kind of munition
purchased, the quantity, and in some instances
the cost LiCol North also noted that from July
1984 1o Apnil 9, 1985: "§17,145,594 has been
cxpended lor ams, mumuons, combat oper-
atons, and support acavities.”

Evidence sugyests that at teast by November
1985, LaCol North had assumed a direct oper-
atwanad role, coordmaung logistical arrange-
meats w ship privately purchased arms o the
Contrés. in a note o Poindexter on November
22, 1985, he described a prospective delivery as
“our first direct flight {(of ammo) 10 the resint-
ance field [in] Nicaragua.” This shipment was
delayed when Mr. Secord was asked 10 use the
aircraft instead 1o deliver the 18 HAWK mis-
sues 4o Iran in November, 1985,

In 1986, North esiablished a private secure
communications newwork. Norch received 15
encryption devices from the National Security
Agency from January to March 1986, provided
in suppori of his counter-lerrorist activitiey.
Onc was provided to Mr. Secord and another,
through a private citizen, o a ClA field officer
posted in Central America. Through tnis mech-
anism, North coordinated the resupply of the
Contras with military equiprnent apparendy
purchased with funds provided by the network
of private benefactors. The messages 1o LiCol
North from Mr. Secord and the CJA officer: (a)
asked him 1o direct where and when (0 make
Contra muniions drops; (b) informed him of
arms requiremients; and (c) apprised him of
paymenis, balances, and deficits.

Al least nine arms shipments were coordinat-
ed through this channel from March through
June, 1986. The CIA field officer in Costa Rica
outlined his involvement in the resupply net-
work and described ihe shipmenws: “This was
all lethal. Benefactors only sent lethal siufl”
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The CIA officer added that the private benefac-
tor operation was, according to his undersiand-
ing, controlled by LiCol North.

Mr. Secord was in charge of arranging the
actual deliveries, using at least in part Southern
Air Transport (“SAT™). Assistant Commission-
er William Rosenblatt told the Board that
LtCo} North contacted him after a SAT C-123
aircrafi crashed in Nicaragua, prompting a Cus-
toms investigation. North told him that the
Customs investigation was focused on “good

- guys” who committed "no crimes.” The Cus-

toms Service then narrowed the investigation
to the specific aircraft involved in the crash
rather than on the activities of the whole com-
pany. U.S. Custom: Commussioner Willam von
Rabb said that LiCol Nonth had previously (oa-
acted hum o complan that Custom’'s agents
were conducting an wnvesiigaiion nvolving «
Maule aircraft. A former CIA otlwer in Cenural
America said that at least one Maule arcrait
was used in suppon of the Conira furces Mr.
Rosenblatt and Mr. von Raab wld the Buard
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that LtCol North never asked them (o close out
their investigations. The Board obtained evi-
dence that at least one Maule aircraft was used
in Contra military operations. This evidence
was referred to the Independent Counsel.

Authoruation. The evidence before the Beard
contained no record that LiCol North’s role to
support the Contras was formally authorized. It
appears, however, that LiCol North did keep
the Nauonal Security Advisor informed, first
Mr. McFarlane and then YADM Poindexter. It
is not clear to what extent other NSC principals
or thewr deparuments were informed. On May
I3, 1986, VADM Powndester cauhioned North:
“From now oa, { don't want you to wlk 1o any-
budy clar, wibuding Casey, cucept me about
any ol yuuws vperatonal roles

Ihe Picssdent wold the Board on January 26,
V987, that he did not know that the NSC s1afl
wal cengaged i helping the Contras. The
Board s daware ol no evidence 10 sugygest that

the Premident was aware of LiCol North's activi- |
\

Lics

Part IV

What Was Wrong

The atins tansiers to Jran and the scuviies
of the NSC sl in support of the Cuonirgs aic
case studics in the penls of policy puisued ot
side the constraims of orderly process

The lran umtiative ran direcily counter 1 ihe
Admimisiration’s own policies on terronsmn, the
fran/lraq war, and military support o bran
This inconsisiency was never fesolved, nor
were the consequences of this inconsistency
lully considered and provided for. The result
taken as a whole was a U.S. policy that worked
against uself.

The Board believes that failure 10 deal ade-
qualely with ihese comiradicnons resulted 1n
large part from the flaws in the manner n
which decisions were made. Estabhshed proce-
dures for making nauonal security decisions
were ignored, Reviews of the ininauve by all
the NSC principals were too infrequent. The
iniiatives were not adequately veued below the
cabinet level. Imtelligence resources were un-
derutilized. Applicable legal constraints were
nol adequately addressed. The whole matier
was handled too informally, without adequate
written records of what had been considered,
discussed, and decided.

This pauern persisied in the implementation
of the Iran mitiauve. The NSC stafl’ assumed
duect operanonal comrol The mmatve fell
within the tradional junidichons of the De-
paitiincity ol Staie, Drelense, and ClA. Yel
these agenuies were bargely ignored Great reli-
atii e was placed on a network ol privale opera-
tois and imermediancs. How the unbative was
to be camed oul never recewed adequate al-
tenuon from the NSC pnnupals or a tough
working-level review. No periodic evaluation of

the progress ol Lhe initialive was ever conduct-
ed ‘The result was an unprofessional and, in
substantial part, unsausfactory operation.

i all of this process, Congress was never no-
wlied

As noied i Part 11, the record of the role of
the NSC staff in suppont of the Contras is
much less complete. Nonetheless, what is
known suggests that many of the same prob-
lems plagued that eftort as well.

The first secuon of this Pant 1V discusses the
flaws v the process by which conflicting poli-
aes were considered, decisions were made, and
the nitiatives were implemented.

The second section discusses the responsibil-
ity of the NSC principals and other key national
secunity oflicials for the manner in which these
initiatives were handled.

The third section discusses the special prob-
lem posed by the role of the Israelis.

The fourth section of this Part IV outlines
the Board's conclusions about the management
of the initial public presentation of the facts of
the [ran iniuative.

A. A Flawed Process

1. Contradictory Polines Were Pursued —The
arns sales to [ran and the NSC support for the
Contras demwonstrate the risks involved when
highly controversial inatives are pursued cov-
crily.

Arms Transfers tv Lran. —The initiative 1o Iran
was a coverl operation directly at odds with im-
poriant and well-publicized policies of the Ex-
ecutive Branch. But the initiative uself em-
bodied a fundamenial contradiction. Two ob-
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Jectives were apparent from the outset: a surate-
gic opening to lran, and release of the U.S. citi-
zens beld hostage in Lebanon. The sale of
arms to Iran apprared 1o provide a means to
achicve both these objectives. It also played
into the hands of those who had other inter-
ests—some of them personal financial gain—in
engaging the Uniled States in an arms deal
with Iran.

In fact, the sale of arms was not equally ap-
propriate for achieving both these objectives.
Arms were what Iran wanted. If all the United
Statcs sought was 1o free the hostages, thea an
arms-for-hostages deal could achieve the imme-
diate objectives of both sides. Bui o the US
objective was a broader straicguc selatonstup.
then the sale of arms should have been conun.
gent upon frst putung o place the clements
of that relauonship. An anns-for-hostages deal
in thia context could become counter-produc-
uve to achieving this broader sirategic objec-
uve. In addiion, release of the hosuages would
require exerung influence wuh Huzballah,
which could involve the most radical efements
of the lranian regime. The kind of strategic
opening sought by the United Siates, however,
involved whai were regarded as more modcrate
elements.

The US. officials involved i the invatve
appeared 1o have held three disunct views. For
some, the principal molivation seemed consust-
enily a strategic opening to Iran. Fer others,
the stralegic opening became a rationale for
using armu sales to obtain the release of the
hostages. For still others, the initiative ap-
peared clearly as an arms-for-hostages deal
from first 1o last.

Whatever the intent, almost jrom the begin-
ning the initiative became in fact a seres of
arms-for-hostages deals. The shipment of arms
in November, 1985, was direcily tied to a hos-
lage reclease. Indeed, the Augusi/September
" transfer may have been nothing more than an
arms-for-hostages irade. By July 14, 1985, a
specific propasal for the sale of 100 TOW:s 10
lran in exchange for lranun ctons (o secure
the release of all the hosiages had been trans-
mutted 10 the White House and dsscussed with
the President. What actually occurred, at lcast
o far as the Scpiember shipment was con-
cermed, involved a direct link of arms and a
hostage.
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The initiative continued to be described in
terms of its broader strategic relationship. But
those elemenus never really materialized. While
a high-level meeting among senior U.S. and
Iranian officials continued 10 be a sulyear of
discussion, it never occurred. Although Mr.
McFaslane went to Tehran in May of 1986, the
promised high-level Iranians never appeared.
In discussions among U.S. officials, the focus
seemed to be on the prospects for obtaining
release of the hostages, not on a strategic rela-
uonship. Even if one accepts the explanation
thai arms and hoswages represenied only “bona
fides™ of senousncas ol purpase for cach side,
that had cearly been csiablished, one way or
anuiler, by the Sepicmber enchange.

It wrue thaet, strily speaking, arms were
nut cuchanged for the hostages. The arms were
suld for tash, and o0 Iran, rather than the ter-
ronsis holding the hoswges. Iran  clearly
wanied to buy the aims, however, and ume and
tme again U.S wilingness to sell was direcily
condinoned upon the release of hosiages. Al-
though lran might claim that 0 did not iself
hold the hostages, the whole arrangement was
premued on lran's ablity to secure thewr re-
lease.

Whule the United Stdies was seelung the re.
lease of the hostages 1o this way, it was vigor-
ously purswing pohiaes that were dramaucally
oppased 10 such ctforis. The Reagan Adminis-
raton i particular had come o office de-
clanng a firm stand against terronsm, which it
conunued (0 mamnin. in December of 1985,
the Admamstration completed a major study
under the chaumanship of the Vice President.
It resulied in a vigorous reaflirmation of U.S.
opposition (o lerronsm in all its forms and a
vow of tolal war on terronism whatever its
source. The Admimstrauon continued 10 pres-
sure U.S. allies not (o sell arms 10 Iran and not
Lo make CONCESONS 1O LETTONNS.

No senous elfort was made 10 reconale the
mconusteney between these policies and the
Iran unniive No ellutl was inade systemanical-
Iy 1o sddress the consequences ol this incon:
spicncy—the ctlea on U5 palicy when, as u
inevitably would, the Wran uululive became
known

The Boasrd belicves that a sirategic opcung
10 lran may have been wn the national interest
but that the United States never should have
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been 3 pasty to the arms transfers. As arms-for-
hostages trades, they could not help but create
an incentive for further hostage-taking. As a
violation of the U.S. arms embargo, they could
only remove inhibitions on other natons from
sclling arms to Iran. This threatened to upset
the military balance between Iran and Iraq,
with consequent jeopardy to the Gulf Siates
and the interests of the West in that region.
The arms-for-hostages trades rewarded a
regime that clearly supported termorism and
hostage-taking. They increased the nisk that the
United Siates would be perceived, especially in
the Arab world, as a creawure of lsracl. They
suggested 1o other US allies and (nends in the
regron that the Unued Suaies hud shulied us
pohicy in lavor of lian They rased questions 43
1o whethes US poluy statements could be
rched upon.

As the arnmns-for-husiages proposal first came
10 the United States, it clearly was wempiy.
The sale of just 100 TOWs was 10 produce the
release of all seven Amernicans held in Lebanon.
Even had the offer been genuine, # would have
been unsound. Bul it was not genwne. The 100
TOWs did not produce seven hosiages. Very
quickly the pnce went up, and the arrange-
ments became protracied. A patlern of succes-
sive bargained exchanges of arms and hostages
was quickly established. Whiie release of all the
hostages continued to be promised, in fact the
hostages came owt singly if a1 all. This sad his-
tory is powerful evidence of why the United
States should never have become involved in
the arms transfers.

NCS Siaff Support for the Contras.—The acuivi-
ties of the NSC siaffl in support of the Contras
soughi to achieve an imporiant objective of the
Administration's foreign policy. The President
had publicly and emphatically declared his sup-
port for the Nicaragua resistance. That brought
his policy in direct conflict with that of the
Congress, at least dunng the penod that direct
or indirect support of muuary operations in
Nusiagua was barred

Althuugh ithe evidenie belore the Board s
himited. no serious cllon appedrs o have been
tiade 10 come o gnps wilh the nsks o he
President of direct NSC suppoit lor the Con-
tsas i the face of these Congressienal restnic.
uons. Even if o could be argued that these re-
stncuons did not techmucally apply to the NSC
safl, these activitics presented great political

risk to the President. The appearance of the
President’s personal staff doing what Congress
had forbade other agencies to do could, once
disclosed, only touch off a firestorm in the
Congrcss and threaten the Administration's
whole policy on the Contras.

2. The Decision-making Process Was Flowed.—Be-
causc the arms sales (o Iran and the NSC sup-
port for the Contras ocourred in scitings of
such controversy, one would expect that the
decisions to undertake these activitics would
have been made only after intense and thor-
ough consideration. In fact, a far different pic-
lure cmerges.

Arms Tranifers o Ivan.-~The Iran initiative was
handled almost casually and through informal
thannels, always apparently with an expectation
that the prowess would end with the next arms-
fui-bosiages exchange. It was subjected neither
to the general procedures for interagency con-
sideravon and seview of policy issues nor the
muore restncuve procedures set oul in NSDD
159 for handhing coverl operations. This had a
number of consequences.

(1) The Opportumity for a Full Heanng before the
Fresudent Was  Inadequate.—In the last halfl of
1985, the lsraelis made three scparate propas-
als 1o the Uniled States with respect 1o the Iren
inibative (iwo in July and one in August). In
addition, lsrael made three scparaic deliveries
of arms 1o Iran, one cach in August, Seplem-
ber, and November. Yet prior 1o December 7,
1985, there was at most one meeting of the
NSC principals, a mecting which several partic-
pants recall taking place on August 6. There is
no dispute that full meetings of the principals
did occur on December 7, 1985, and on Janu-
ary 7, 1986. Bui the proposal 1o shift 1o direct
U.S. arms sales 0 Iran appears not to have
been discussed until later. It was considered by
the President at a meeting on January 17 which
only the Vice President, Mr. Regan, Mr. For-
uer, and VADM Poindexter auended. Thereaf-
ter, the only senior-level review the lran initia-
uve received was duning one or another of the
President’s daily nauonal secunity briefings.
These were foutinely auended only by the
President, the Vice President, Mr. Regan, and
VADM Poindexier. There was no subsequent
collective consideration of the Iran initiative by
the NSC principals before it became public 11
months later.
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This was not sufficient for a matter as impor-
tant and consequential as the Iran initiative.
Two or three cabinct-level reviews in a period
of 17 months was not enough. The meeting on
Pecember 7 came late in the day, afier the pat-
tem of arms-for-hostages exchanges had
become well established. The January 7 meet-
ing had earmarks of a meeting held afier a de-
cision had already been made. Indeed, a drafi
Covent Action Finding authorizing the initiative
had been signed by the President, though per-
haps inadvericntly, the previous day.

At each significant step in the Iran initiative,
deliberations among the NSC principals in the
presence of the President should have been var-
tually automatic. This was not and should not
have been a formal requirement, somethay
prescribed by sianue. Rather, u should have
been somcthing the NSC pancipals dewred as
a means of csunng an opumal envuuvhment
for  Presdential  judgmeni. The mecungs
should have been preceded by consderanon by
the NSC princpals of siafl papers prepared ac-
cording 1o the procedures applicable 10 covert
actions. These should have reviewed the histo-
ry of the iniliative, analyzed the issues then
presented, developed a range of realisiic op-
tions, presented the odds of success and the
costs of failure, and addressed questions of 1m-
plementaion and execution. Had this been
done, the objeciives of the Iran iniuative nught
have been clarified and aliernatives te the sale
of arms might have been identified.

{5i) The Mnitiative Was Never Subjecied 0 a Rigor-
ows Review below the Cabinet Level —Because of
the obsession with secrecy, interagency consd-
eration of the initiative was limited 1o the cabi-
net level. With the exception of the NSC swaff
and, afier January 17, 1986, a handful of CIA
officials, the rest of the executive departments
and agencies were largely excluded.

As a consequence, the initiative was never
vetted at the siaff level. This deprived those re-
sponsible for the initiative of considerable ex-
pertisc—on the situation in Iran; on the diffi-
culties of dealing with ierrorisis; on the me-
chanics of conducung a diplomauc opemng It
also kept the plan from receving a tough, cnu-
cal review.

Moreover, the wunauve did noi receive &
policy review below cabinet fevel. Careful con-
sideration at the Deputy/Under Secretary level
might have exposed the confusion in U.S. ob-
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Jecuives and clarified the risks of using arms as
an instrument of policy in this instance.

The vetting process would also have ensured
better use of U.S. intelligence. As it was, the in-
telligence input into the decision process was
dlearly inadequate. Firat, no independent eval-
uation of ihe Israeli proposals offered in July
and August appears to have been sought or of-
fered by U.S. intelligence agencies. The lsraekis
represented that they for some time had had
contacts with clements in Iran. The prospects
for an opening 1o Iran depended heavily on
these contacts, yet no systemalic assessment ap-
pears (¢ have been made by U.S. iniclhigence
agencics of the relubdiy and mouvations of
ihese (onuiis, and the wentity and obyecuives
of the chements i lian that the operung was
spposed 1w icah Neuber was any sysiemat
aspeasmeiy made of the motivation of the larac-
Ls.

Second, ackher Mr. Ghorbamfar nor the
sccond channel seem 1o have been subjected 10
a systemanc inteligence velung before they
weie engaged 4 intermediancs. Mr. Ghorbani-
far had been known to the CIA for some time
and the agency had substantal doubts as 1o his
velabiluy and truthlulness Yet the agency did
not velunieer that informatiun or inquire about
the wdenuy ol the itermediary f hus name was
unknown. Conversely, no carly requesi for a
name check was made of the CIA, and ot was
not wiid January 11, 1986, that the agency
gave Mr. Ghorbanfar a new polygraph, which
he faled Notwithsianding this siuation, with
the signing of the January 17 Finding, the
United Siaies took control of the iniuative and
became even more directly involved with Mr.
Ghorbamndar. The issues raised by the poly-
graph results do not appear to have been sys-
tematically addressed. In simdar fashion, no
prior inuelligence check appears to have been
made on the second channel.

Thiurd, alihough the Premident recalled being
assured that the arms sales 1o lran would not
alter the military balance wuh lran, the Board
cowd find no evidendc 1hat the Presdent waa
ever breled un this subjear The quesuon of
the impuct of any imclbgence shared with the
franuns docs nod appesr 1o have been brought
to the Piesident’s attenuion

A thorough veuing would have included con-
siderauon of the legal implications of the inita-
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tive. There appeared linde effort to face square-
ly the legal restrictions and notification require-
ments applicable 10 the operation. At several

ints, olther agencies raised quesions aboul
violations of law or regulations. These con-
cerns werc dismissed without, it appears, inves-
tigating them with the benefit of legal counsel.

Finally, insulficient attention was given to the
implications of implementation. The impiemen-
taton of the initiative raised a number of
issues: should the NSC siafl rather than the
CIA have had operational conirol; what were
the implications of Israeli involvement; how re-
liable were the Iranian and various other pri-
vate intermedianes; whai were the imphcations
of the usc of Mr Sciord’s pnvate network of
operatives, what were the wnpli dtions tor the
mibitary balance i the regwon, was vperavunal
wecunty adeguate  Nuwhere do these 1ssucs
appcar to have been sutficiently addreased.

The concern for preservang the seuredy ol
the inative provided an excuse for abandon-
ing sound process. Yei the iistiative was known
to a varety of persons with diverse uieiests
and ambinons—Ilsrachs, {ramans, vanous arms
dealers and business iniermedianes, and LiCol
North's network of private operatives. While
concern for secrecy would have jusufied lunu-
ing the circle of persons knowledgeable about
the initiative, in this case it was drawn 100
tightly. As a consequence, important advice and
counsel were lost.

In January of 1985, the President had adopt-
ed procedures for striking the proper balance
beiween secrecy and the need for consultation
on sensitive programs. These covered the insu-
tuwiion, implementation, and review of covert
operations. In the case of the Iran initiative,
these procedures were almost totally ignored.

The only saff work the President apparently
reviewed in connection with the Iran initiative
was prepared by NSC siaff members, under the
direction of the National Secunly Advisor.
These were, of course, the prncipal propo-
nenis of the wmuauve. A poruon of this sl
work was reviewed by ibe Buard Ji was fre-
quenly sindsng i us fwlure 1o present the
record ol past elluris—parucularly past fadures.
Alictnative ways of achueving U S objecuves—
othes than  yet anuther arms-for-hostages
deal—were not discussed. Fregquently it nesther
adequately presented the risks involved in pur-
suing the initiative nor the full force of the dis-

senting views of other NSC principals. On bal-
ance, it did not serve the President well,

(i) The Process Was Too Informal.~-The whole
decision process was loo informal. Even when
mectings among NSC principals did occur,
often there was no prior notice of the agenda.
No formal writien minutes seem to have been
kept. Decisions subsequently taken by the
President were not formally recorded. An ex-
ception was the January 17 Finding, but even
this was apparently not circulated or shown to
key U.S. officials.

The effect of this informality was that the ini-
uative lacked a formal institutional record. This
preciuded the participans from undenaking
the mwore informed analysis and refleciion that
u allorded by 4 wisien record, as opposed 10
micie fccollecuon. It made u difficult to deter-
mune whese the imtiative stood, and to leam
lessons from the record that could guide future
athon  Ihus lack of an wsulational record per-
mitted specitic proposals for arms-for-hosiages
exchanges (o be presented in a vacuum, with.
vut relerence to the results of past proposals.
Had a searching and thorough review of the
Iran snimative been undertaken at any stage in
the process, it would have been extremely diffi-
<ult 10 conduct. The Board can attest first hand
t0 the problem of conducting a review in the
absence of such records. Indeed, the exposition
in the wake of public revelation suffered the
most,

NSC Staff Suppert for the Contrai.—It is not
clear how LtCot North first became involved in
activities in direct support of the Contras
during the period of the Congressional ban.
The Board did not have before it much evi-
dence on this point. In the evidence that the
Board did have, there is no suggestion al any
point of any discussion of LiCol North's activi-
ties with the President in any forum. There also
does not appear to have been any interagency
review of LiCol North's activities at any level.

This latter point is not surpnsing given the
Congressional resincuons  under  which  the
other relevant agencies were operating. But the
NSC stafl apparently did not compensate for
the lack of any interagency review with its own

internal vewing of these activities. LtCol North
apparently worked largely in isolation, keeping
first Mr, McFarlane and then VADM Poindexter
informed.
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The lack of adequate vetting is particularly
evident on the question of the legality of LiCol
North's activities. The Board did not make a
judgment on the legal issues raised by his ac-
tivities in suppont of the Contras. Nevertheless,
some things can be said.

If these activitics were illegal, obviously they
should not have been conducied. If there was
any doubt on the mauer, systemauc legal
advice should have been obtained. The political
cost to the President of illegal action by the
NSC staff was particularly high, both because
the NSC sualf is the personal siafl of the Presi-
dent and because of the hustory of senous con-
flict with the Congress over the issue ol Cunira
suppon. For these reasois, the Prenden
should have been hept apprued of any 1evees
of the legaluy of LiCol North's s tivitscs

Legal advice was apparently obtained fruin
the Presdent’s latclhgence Oversight Board
Without passing on the quality of that advie, n
1 an odd source. It would be vac dung fur the
Intelligence QOversight Board 10 review the
iegal advice provided by some other agemuy. It
is another for the Intelligence QOvernght Boaid
to be onginating legal advice of its own. That
is a function more appropnate for the NSC
staff’s own legal counsel.’

3. implementation  Was  Unprofessonal —The
manner in which the lran iniiative was imple-
mented and LiCol North undernocok 10 suppon
the Contras are very similar. This is in large
pan because the same casl of characiers was 1n-
volved. In both cases the operations were un-
professional, although the Board has much Jess
evidence with respect 10 LiCol Nonh's Contra
activities.

Arms Transfers @0 Iran.—With the signing of
the January |7 Finding, the Iran inilative
became a U.S. operation run by the NSC siaff.
L1Col North made most of the significant oper-
ational decisions. He conducted the operation
through Mr. Secord and his associales, a nel-
work of private individuals already involved in
the Contra resupply operation. To this was
added a handful of sclecied individuals irom
the CIA.

But the CIA suppont was hined Two CIA
oflicials, though oficn at mceungs, had a rela-
tively limited role. One served as the poini man

¥ The issuc of kegal advice 10 the NSC siall w treaied i mose
desil in Pan V of this repon.
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for LiCol North in providing logistics and fi-
pnancial arrangements. The other (Mr. Allen)
served as a coniact between LiCol North and
the inteligence community. By contrast,
George Cave acwially played a significant and
expanding role. However, Clair George,
Deputy Director for Operations at CIA, toid
the Board: “George was paid by me and on the
paper was working for me. But I think in the
heat of the battle, ®* * ®* George was working
for Oliver North."”

Because so few people from ihe departments
and agencies were old of the initative, LiCol
North cut humsell off from resources and ex-
penue from within the government He relied
suwiced v & muunber o pavale wicrmediancs,
busncssmrn and uviher hinanaial broden, pn-
vale vpergiors, snd lianane hosule 1o the
Unied Siates dSume ol these were individuals
with yuestwnable credenaals and poteniadly
large personal financwl nierests i the wansac-
nons This nuade the transacuons unnecessanly
comphicaied and wviied hick-backs and payoils.
This arrangement abo dramaucally mcreased
the ruks that the wnmnatve would leak. Yet no
provision was made for such an eventuahty.
Further, the use of Mr Sccord’s pnvate net-
work in the Iran vuunaive linked those upera-
1ors with the resupply of the Conras, thrcaien-
ing cuposure of both operatons f enher
became public.

The resull was 2 very uaprofessional oper-
alion.

Mr. Scword undertook in November, 1985, to
arrange landing clearance for the lsraeh fight
brnnging the HAWK missiles into a third-coun-
ry staging area. The arrangements fell apart. A
ClA ficld officer aunbuted thus failure to the
amateurish way in which Mr. Secord and his as-
sociates approached officials in the government
from which landing clearance was needed. If
Mr. Ghorbansfar 13 1w be beleved, the mission
of Mr. MdFarlane (o Tehran was undertaken
withoul any advance work, aind with distinaly

ditferemt cspectations onv the pant ol the (wu
udes 1 his could have voninbuied vo iy falure
Bul thete wmere much divie dclfious ciruls

Withuut sdoquate study and comudesranen, in-
telhgenee was pasred 1o the lianians ol poten-
ually major signihcance 10 the Iran/lragq war.
At the mecung with the second channel on Oc-
tober 5-7, 1986, LiCol North misrcpresenied
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his access to the President. He told Mr. Ghor-
banifar stories of conversations with the Presi-
dent which were wholly fanciful. He suggested
without authority a shift in U.S. policy adverse
to Iraq in general and Saddam Husain in par-
ticulas. Finally, in the uine-point agenda dis-
cussed on October 26-28, he committed the
United States, without authorization, 1o a posi-
on contrary to well established U.S. policy on
the prisoners held by Kuwait.

The conduct of the negotiators with Mr.
Ghorbanifar and the second channel were han-
died in a way thal revealed obvious inexpen-
ence. The discussions were 100 casual for deal-
ings with uncrmediines (o a regpme so hosule
w US. interests The US hand was repeatedly
npped and unshilllully played ‘The amrange-
ments faled 10 guaraniee tut the US ob-
Laned i3 hostages in exchange lor the asms
Repeatedly, LiCol North permuted arms w be
dehivered wihout the release of a single «ap-
uve.

The umplemeniauon of the mitiative was
never subjected 10 a ngorous review. [tCol
Nonh appears to have kept VADM Pondexier
fully informed of his actviues. In addiuon,
VADM Powndexter, 11Col Nurth, and the CIA
officials wmvolved apparendy apprised Durector
Casey of many of the operatuonal details. But
LiCol Nonh and his operauon funcuoned
largely outside the orbit of the U.S. Govemn-
ment. Thewr acuivities were nol subject Lo cnu-
cal reviews of any kund.

After the initial hostage release in Septem-
ber, 1985, it was over 10 months before an-
other hostage was rclcased. This despite recur-
ring promises of the release of all the hostages
and four intervening arms shipments. Begin-
ning with the November shipment, the United
States increasingly 100k over the operation of
the initiative. In January, 1986, it decided to
transfer arms directly to lran.

Any of these developments could have served
a1 a usclul occasion lor a systematic reconsider-
aton of the miative. Indeed, 4 lcast one of
the schemes contained a provison for reconsid-
crahon f the uingd assumptions proved 1o be
mvahid They did, but the reconsideration never
touk place. It was the respunmbility ol the Na-
uonal Secunty Advisor and the responsible ofli-
cers on the NSC salil to call for such a review.
But they were too involved in the initative
both as advocaies and as implementors. This

made it less likely that they would initiate the
kind of review and reconsideration that should
have been undertaken.

NSC Staff Support for the Contras.—As already
noted, the NSC activities in support of the
Contras and its role in the Iran initiative were
of a piece. In the former, there was an added
element of LiCol North's intervention in the
customs investigation of the crash of the SAT
aircraft. Here, too, selected CIA officials re-
ported directly to LiCol North. The limited evi-
dence before the Board suggested that the ac-
tivities in support of the Contras involved un-
professionalism much like that in the fran oper-
alion.

v Congress Was Never Notified —Congress was
wt appased ather of the Iran initiative or of
the NS0 sadl’s aciiviues 1o support of the Con-
tras

in the case of Iran, because release of the
hostages was cxpected within a short time afier
the delivery ol equipment, and because public
disclosure would have destroyed the operation
and perhaps endangered the hostages, it could
be argued that it was justifiable to defer notifi-
cation of Congress prior 1o the first shipment
of arms to Iran. The plan apparently was lo
inform Congress immediately after the hostages
were safely in U.S. hands. But after the first de-
livery failed to release all the hostages, and a3
onc hostage releasc plan was replaced by an-
other, Congress certainly should have been in-
formed. This could have been dene dunng a
period when no specific hosiage release plan
was in cxecution. Consulation with Congress
could have been useful to the President, for it
might have given him some sensc of haw the
public would react to the initiative. It also
might have influenced his decision to continue
Lo pursue it.

v. Legal Issues. —In addition io confliciing with
several fundamental U.S. policies, selling arms
10 Iran raised far-reaching legal questions. How
i dealt with these is imporiant to an evaluation
of the lran imuative.

Arms Transfers to {ran.—Lli was not part of the
Board's mandate to consider issues of law as
they may pertain to individuals or detailed as-
pects of the Iran initiative. Instead, the Board
focused on the legal basis for the arms wans-
fers to Iran and how issues of law were ad-
dressed in the NSC process.
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The Arms Export Conirol Act, the principal
U.S. satule governing arms sales abroad,
makes it unlawful to expont arma without a ji-
cense. Exports of amms by US. government
agencies, however, do not require a license if
they are otherwise authorized by law. Criminal
penalties—Enes and imprisonment—are provid-
ed for wiliful violations.

The initial arms transfers in the Iran iniua-
tive involved the sale and shipment by Isracl of
U.S.-origin missiles. The usual way for such
international retransfer of arms to be author-
ized under U.S. law is pursuant to the Arms
Export Control Act. This Act requires thai the
President consent to any transfers by another
country of arms exponed under the Aa and
imposes three condisons before suh Fresuden-
ual conscnt may be iven:

{a) the United States would iiscll iramsier
the anms in question (o the reopsent coun-
try,

(b) a commitment in wnting has been ob-
tained from the recipient couniry aganst
unauthonzed reiransfer of significant arms,
such as missiles; and

(¢} a prior written cenification regarding
the rewransfer is submitted to the Congress
if the defense equipment, such as missiles,
has an acquisiion cost of 4 million dollars
or more. 22 U.S.C. 2753 {a), (d).

in addiion, the Act gencrally imposes re-
strictions on which countries are cligible to re-
ceive U.S. anms and on the purposes for which
arms may be sold.?

The other possible avenue whereby govern-
ment arms transfers (o Iran may be authorized
by law would be in connection with intelligence
operations conducted under the National Secu-
rity Act. This Act requires ihat the Dircctor of
Central Intelligence and the heads of other in-
telligence agencies keep the iwo Congressional
" intelligence cammittees “fully and currendy in-

8L may b posuble to suthorue trandens by another counry
under e Armg Lapont (oniral Act wihow oblunug the Pres
o’y LOBMTE AS 2 Prastu 4l mic1. however e rgad reguae
mrmdy may mod defley mgnuluantly For riamphs spoouo B4
perwmis dhr Prosdond 10 mave Uve rquuiemmrnis of the Adt B
Uit wrptvet MOruy By Rod b Cudtoued unkiw o W drouasuned
had Une imiernalona arme saket arc CvHal 1o Und el ey
imterests of e Unued Maies " Morcuves. briowe gianung »
waiver, the Prosmdend must consuli wnth and provdse whniten just-
Beation 1o the foreign aflfars and appropoalons cominstees of
the Congress. 22 ULS.C. 2374(3).

fv-é

formed™ of all intelligence activities under their
responsibility. 50 US.C. 413. Where prior
notice of significant intelligence activities is not
given, the intelligence committees are to be in-
formed “in a timely fashion.” In addition, the
so called Hughes-Ryan Amendment to the For-
eign Assistance Act requires that “significant
anticipaled intelligence acuvities” may not be
conducted by the CIA unless and unul the
President finds that “each such operation is im-
portant o the nanonal secunity of the United
States.” 22 U.S.C. 2422.

When the Israclis began transfering arms 10
Iran in Augusi, 1985, they were not acung on
thew own US officads had knowledge abous
the casennal clements of the proposed ship-
meuns lhe  Unued Swies  shared some
common purpuse s the vanslers and recaived
4 benclu lrom them—ithe release ol a hoslage.
Must umportantly, Mr. Mckarlune communscar-
ed pnor US approval to the lirachs for the
shipments, including an undenaking for replen-
ishinent. But for this U.S. approval, the ransac-
uons may nol have gune forward. In shon, the
United States was an essenual parucipant in the
arms wransfery to Iran shat occurred in 1985,

Wheiher s US. nvolvement in the arms
transfers by the lscachs was lawlul depends
fundamentally upon whether the Pressdem ap-
proved the transactuions before they occurred.
In the absence of Presidenial approval, there
does not appear 1o be any authonty in Uus case
for the Unued Siates 1o engage in the transfer
of arms or consent 10 the wansfer by another
country. The arms transfers 1o Iran in 1985
and heace the Iran inivative uselfl would have
proceeded contrary to U.S. law.

The Attorney General reached a similar judg-
meni with respect to the acuvities of the CIA in
facihuting the November, 1985 shipment by
the Israclis of HAWK missiles. In a letter to the
Board.® the Attorney General concluded that
with respect to the ClA assistance, “a finding
under the Hughes-Ryan Amendment would be
required ™ ¢

T A ey wb e brress se e b
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The Board was unable 1o reach a condlusive
judgment about whether the 1985 shipments of
arms (o Iran were approved in advance by the
President. On balance the Board believes that
it is plausible 10 conclude that he did approve
them in advance,

Yet even if the President in some sense con-
sented to or approved the transactions, a seri-
ous question of law remains. It is not clear that
the form of the approval was sufficieat for pur-
poses of either the Arms Export Control Act or
the Hughes-Ryan Amendment. The consent
did not meet the conditions of the Arms Expon
Control Act, especially in the absence of a pnor
wniten commument from the lranwans regard-
ing unsuthonzed rewansler,

Under the Nauonad Sewunty Act, it s not
ciear that merc oral approval by the Presidem
would qualdy as o Presdental findang that the
imbanye was vilal 1o the national secunty inter-
esis of the United States. The approval was
never reduced 10 wriing. It appears 1o have
been conveyed 10 only one person. The Presi-
dent himseil has no memory of it. And there 13
coniradictory evidence from the President’s ad-
visors about how the President responded
when he learned of the arms shipments which
the approval was to support. In addition, the
requirement (or Congressional notdication was
ignored. In these circumsiances, even if the
President approved of the transactons, it is dif-
ficult 1o conclude that his actions constitmed
adcquale legal authonity.

The legal requirements pertaining to the sale
of arms 10 lran are complex; the availability of
legal authority, including that which may fow
from the President's constitutional powers, is
difficult 1o delincate. Definitive legal conclu-
sions will also depend upon a variety of specific
factual determinations that the Board has not
atiempted 1o resolve—for example, the specific
content of any consent provided by the Presi-
dent, the authority under which the massiles
were unyinally (ransieried to lsraed, the knowl-
cdge and mienuons of individuals, and the Lke
Nevesiicless, it was sullicieat ior the Board's
purpuses 1o condlude that the legal underpuin-
ling of the lran wanative dunny 1985 was at
besi highly quesuonable.

The Presudenual Finding of January 17,
1986, furmally approved the Iran miuative as a
covert intelligence operation under the Nation-
al Security Act. This ended the uncemainty

about the legal status of the initiative and pro-
vided legal authority for ithe United States to
transfer arms directly to Iran.

The National Security Act also requires noti-
fication of Congress of covert intelligence ac-
tivities. If not done in advance, notification
must be “in a timely fashion.” The Presidential
finding of January I7 directed that Congres-
sional notification be withheld, and this dec-
sion appears to have never been reconsidered.
While there was surely justification to suspend
Congressional notification in advance of a par-
ucular transaction relating to a hostage release,
the law would seem to require disclosure
where, as in the lran case, a pattern of relative
wacviy owcurs over an extended perniod. To
du otherwise prevems the Congress from ful-
{ling ws proper oversight responsibilities.

IMsvughout the Iran wative, significant
questions of taw do not appear to have been
adequaicly addressed. In the face of a sweeping
statwiory prohintion and explicis requirements
relating 10 Presidential consent to arms trans-
fers by third countries, there appears to have
been at the outset in J9B5 litde attention, let
alone systemalic analysis, devoted to how Presi-
denual actions would comply with U.S. law.
The Board has found no evidence that an eval-
uation was ever done during the life of the op-
eration 10 determine whether it continued to
comply with the terms of the January 17 Presi-
dential Finding. Similarly, when a new prohibi-
tion was added 1o the Arms Export Control Act
in August of 1986 to prohibit exports to coun-
trics on the terrorism list (3 hst which con-
tained Iran), no evaluation was made to deter-
mine whether this law affected authonty to
transfer arms to Iran in connection with intelli-
genee operations under the National Securily
Act. This lack of legal vigitance markedly in-
creased the chances that the initiative would
proceed contrary o law.

NSC Swff Support for the Contras. —The NSC
stafl activites in support of the Contras were
marked by the same uncertainty as to legal au-
thunty and insensitivity 1o legal issues as were
present in the lran intiative. The ambigusty of
the law governing activities in support of the
Contras presented a greater challenge than
even the considerable complexity of laws gov-
emning arms transfers. Intense Congressional
scrutiny with respect to the NSC suaff activities
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redating (o the Contras added to the potential
;nlu of actions that pushed the litits of the

w.

In this context, the NSC staff should have
been particularly cautious, avoiding operational
activity in this area and seeking legal counsel.
The Board saw no signs of such restraint.

B. Failure of Responsibility

The NSC system will not work unless the
President makes it work. Afier all, this system
was created 1o serve the President of the
United States in ways of his choosing. By tus
actions, by his leadership, the Pressdent there-
fore determines the quality of 1s perforumance

By his own account, as evidenced in hay daary
potes, and a1 conveyed (0 the Buard by hus
phncipal advisors, Presdent Reagan was deeply
commilicd 10 securing the release of the hos-
lages. It waa this intense compassion for the
hostages that appeared 10 motivate huis siead-
East support of the Iran initiative, even in the
facc of opposition from his Sccretanes of State
and Defense,

In his cbvious commitment, the President ap-
pears 1o have proceeded wich a concept of the
initiative that was not accurately reflected in
the reality of the operation. The President did
B! scem 1o be aware of the way in which the
operation was implemenied and the full conse-
quences of U.S. panticipation.

The President’s expressed concern for the
safety of both the hostages and the Iranians
who could have been at risk may have been
canveyed in 2 manner so as (o inhibit the full
functioning of the system.

The President’s management siyle is 1o put
the princpal responsibility for policy review
and implementation on the shoulders of his ad-
visors. Nevertheless, with such a complex, high-
risk operation and so much at stake, the Presi-
dent should have engured that the NSC system
did not fail him. He did not force his policy o
undergo the most critical review of which the
NSC panticipanis and the process were Capabie
Al 0o wme did he st upon accountabibiy
and performance review. Had ie President
chosen 10 dnve the NSC system, the vuicome
could well have been duerent. As u was, the
mosi powerful features of the NSC sysiem—

providing comprehensive analysis, alternatives
snd follow-up—were noi uulized,
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The Board found a strong consensus among
NSC participants that the President’s priority in
the Iran initiative was the release of U.S. hos-
tages. But setting priorities is not enough when
it comes to scositive and risky initiatives that
direcdy affect U.S. national security. He must
ensurc that the content and tactics of an initia-
tive match his priorities and objectives. He

must ingist upon accountability. For it is the .

President who must take responsibility for the
NSC system and deal with the consequences.

Beyond the President, the other NSC pnnci-
pals and the National Security Advisor must
shire i the responashiliy lor the NSC sysiem.

Presdend Reagan's  personal mandgement
siyls plaes an capecually heavy responsibiliy
on hus hey adviors Knowang his siyle, they
should huve bren pansulasly mindiul of the
need lor speaal sitention 10 the manner in
which this arnine sade mituve developed and
proceeded On this score, neither the Nauonal
Sccuriy Advisor nor the other NSC pnnapals
deserve high masks.

It » thewr obligauion as members and advi-
surs 1o the Council o ensure that the President
u adequaicly served The princpal subordi-
fales 1o the Premdent must not be deterred
from urging the President not 10 proceed on a
highly questionable course of action even in
the face of hus strong convicuon 1o the con-
Lrary,

In the case of the Iran wnauve, the NSC
process did not lail, it sunply was largely ig-
nored. ‘The Nauonal Secunty Advisor and the
NSC pnncipals all had a duty (o raise this issue
and insist that orderly process be impased.
None of them did so.

All had the opportunily. While the National
Secunty Advisor had the responsibility 10 see
that an orderly process was observed, his fail-
ure to do so does not excuse the other NSC
principals. It does not appear that any of the
NSC pnnapals called lor more frequeat con-
sideration of the Iran iniaiive by the NSC
prinupals i the presetne of she Prenident
None of the pancipals called lor o senous ver-
tng uf the iative by even a tosticied group
o dsuderesied individusls | he miclhgence
questions du Nul appedr to have been raised,
and legal consideranons, while raised, were nod
pressed. No one seemed to have complained
about the informality of the process. No one

—

called for a thorough reenminali_on once the
initiative did not meet expectations or the
manner of execution changed. While one or
another of the NSC principals suspected that
spmething was amiss, nonc vigorously pursued
m;;:_ﬂfcgan also shares in this responsibility.
More than almost any Chiefl of Siaff of recent
memory, he asserted personal control over the
white House siaff and sought to extend this
control 1o the National Security Ad\fuor. He
was personally active in navional security affairs
and attended almost all of the relevant meet-
ings regarding the Iran imtauve He, as much
as anyone, should have wnsisted thit an orderly
process be observed In addinon, he especually
should have ensured that plans were made fut
handimg any public disclosure of the nutanive
He must bear prnunery respenmbilny for the
chavs that descended upon the Whie House
when such disclosure did ocouwr.

Mr. McFarlane appeared caught beiween 4
President who supporied the ininative and the
cabinel officers who sirongly oppused n. While
he made etforts 10 keep these cabinet officers
informed, the Board heard complanis from
some that he was not always successful. VADM
Poindexter on several occasions apparently
sought 1o exclude NSC pnncipals other than
the President from knowledge of the initative.
Indeed, on one or more occasions Secrelary
Shultz may have been actively misled by VADM
Poindexter.

VADM Poindexter also failed gnevously on
the matter of Conira diversion. Ewdence indi-
cates that VADM Poindexter knew that a diver-
sion occurred, yet he did not take the steps that
were required given the gravity of that pros-
pecl. He apparently failed to appreciate or ig-
nored the serious legal and political risks pre-
sented. His clear obligation was either to inves-
ligaie the matier or take it 10 the Presidenti—or
both. He did neither. Director Casey shared a
sunilat responsibiuy. Evidence suggests that he
fecoved iformaton about the possible diver-
sion of tunds 10 the Coniras shinvst a munth
belore the stury broke lie, too, did nat maove
pruinpuy 1o rase the matier with the President.
Yet tus responnibibity 10 do 30 was clear

The NSC principals other than the President
may be somewhat excused by Lhe insuﬂ'nc:e_m
auenion on the pan of the National Secunty
Advisor 1o the need to keep all the principals

fully informed. Given the importance of the
issue and the sharp policy divergences in-
volved, however, Secrewary Shuliz and Secretary
Weinberger in particular distanced themselves
from the march of events. Secretary Shuliz spe-
cifically requesied to be informed only as nec-
cssary (0 perform his job. Secretary Wembcr.g-
er had access through intelligence 10 deuwails
about the operation. Their obligation was 10
give the President their full support and contin-
ued advice with respect to the program or, if
they could not in conscience do that, ta s0
inform the President. Instead, they simply dis-
tanced themselves from the program. They
prutecied the record as to their own Pos.ilions
on dus i3sue. They were not energetic in at-
wempung o protesi the Pl'r.'!ldtﬂ.lA from the con-
scquences of s personal commitment 1o free-
ing the hosages. _

Duecior Casey appears to have been in-
lurmed in considerable decall about the specif-
iy ol the lraman operauon. He appears to
have acquiesced in and 1o have encouraged
Nurth's exercise of dircct operational control
over the operation. Because of the NSC stafl’s
proxumily o and close identification with lh.e
President, this increased the risks 0 the Presi-
dend if the mitative became public or the oper-
ation failed.

There is no evidence, however, that Director
Casey explained this risk to the President or
made clear to the President that LiCol Norih,
rather than the CIA, was running the oper-
ation. The President does not recall ever being
informed of this fact. Indeed, Director Casey
should have gone further and pressed for oper-
ational responsibility to be transferred 1o the
ClA. .

Director Casey should have taken the lead in
vetting the assumplions presented by the lsrae-
bs on which the program was based and in
pressing for an early exammation of the reli-
ance upon Mr. Ghorbamfar and the second
channel as mtermedianies, He should also have
asswmned responsibiluy for checking out 'lht
other intermedianes invelved in the operation.
Finally, because Congressional restnictions on
covert achons are both largely directed at and
familiar (o the CIA, Director Casey should have
taken the lead in keeping the question of Con-
gressional notification active.
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Finally, Director Casey, and, to a lesser
exjend, Secretary Weinberger, should have
taken it upon themselves to assess the effect of
the transfer of arms and intelligence (o Iran on
the Iran/Traq military balance, and to wansmit
that infornation to the President.

C. The Role of the Israelis

Conversations with emissaries from the Gov-
ernment of Israel took place prior to the com-
mencement of the initiative. It remains unclear
whether the initial proposal o open the Ghor-
banifar channel wat an lsracli initiative, was
brought on by the avarice of arms dealers, or
came as a resull of an Amencan request for -
sistance. There is no doubt, however, that u
was lsrael that pressed Mr. Ghorbansdar on the
United Suates. US. officals accepied lerach as-
surances that they had had (or some wme an
extensive dialogue that mvolved hugh-level ira-
nians, as well as their assurances of Mr. Ghor-
banifar’s bona fides. Thereafter, at cnucal
points in the initiative, when doubis were ex-
pressed by critical U.S. participants, an lsraeh
emissary would armive with encouragement,
ofien a specific proposal, and pressure to stay
with the Ghorbanifar channel.

From the record available 10 the Board, it 18

not possible 10 determine the role of key U.S.
participants in prompting these [sraeli interven-
tons. There were active and ongoing consulia-
tions between LiCal North and officials of the
laracli government, specifically David Kiniche
and Amiram Nir. In addition, Mr. Schwimmer,
Mr. Nimrodi, and Mr. Ledeen, also in frequeni
contact with LiCol North, had close nies with
the government of Isracl. It may be that the
Isracli interventions were actively solicited by
particular U.S. officials. Without the benelit of
the views of the Israeh officials involved, it is
hard to know the facis.
It is clear, however, that Israel had its own
interests, some in ditect conflict with those of
the United States, in having the United Siates
pussuc the imuative. For tus reason, u had an
incentive 1o keep the inuanve ahive 1 sought
10 do hu by wtervenuons with the NSC siaff,
the National Secunuy Adwisor, and the Prem-
dent. Although u may have recewed sugges-
tions from LiCol North, Mr. Ledeen, and
others, U responded allirmatively 1o these sug-
gestions by reason of its own interesis.
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Even if the Govermment of [srael actively
worked 1o begin the initiative and o keep it
going, the U.S. Government is responsible for

"its own decisions. Key participants in U.S. de-
liberations made the poini that Israel’s objec-
lives and interests in this initiative were differ-
ent from, and in some respects in conflict with,
those of the United Siates. Although Israel
dealt with those portions of the U.S. Govemn-
ment that it deemed were sympathetic to the
initiative, there is nothing improper per se about
this fact. U.S. decision-makers made their own
decsions and must bear responsibility for the
Conscyuences.

D. Aftermath—The Efforus
To Tell the Story

From ihe fust hunt an late-Ocrober, 1986 that
the Mckarlane tnp would soon become public,
wlomiaon on whe Iran uitaive and Contra
acuvity cascaded wnio the press. The veiled
humis of secret acuviues, random and indis-
crimunaie disclosures ol inlormanon from a va-
nety of sources, both knowledgeable and other-
wise, and conllicung swatements by high-level
officials presenied a confusing piciure 10 the
Amencan public. The Board recogruzed that
conllicts among contemporancous documents
and swatements raned concern about the man-
agement of the public presentaiion of facts on
the Iran iniiative. Though the Board reviewed
some cvidence * on evenis after the exposure,
our abiily 1o comment on these cvenls remains
hinuted.

The Board Jound evidence that ymmediately
following the public disclosure, the President
wanted 1o avaid providing too much specificity
or detail out of concern for the hostages still
held in Lebanon and those lramans who had
supported the inuative. in doing su, he did
not, we believe, iniend 10 nuslead the Amencan
public or cover-up unlawlul condua By a
least November 20, the President 1ook sieps 1o
cusure that all the lads would (ume out From
ihe Premdent’s request 1o Mi Meeore 1w luok
unw the hastory ol the untatve, W hs appot-
ment of this Board, 10 his yequest fur an Inde-
pendent Counsel, to his willingness o discuss
this maticr {ully end 10 review his personal

* See Appenca D

—

notes with us, the Board is convinced that the
President does indeed want the full story 1o be

d. '
wl']‘hosc who prepared the President's support-
ing documeniaticn did not appear, at least ini-
tially, to share in the President's uliimate
wishes. Mr. McFarlane described for the Board
the process used by the NSC siaff to create a
chronology that obscured essential facts. Mr.
McFarlane contributed to the creation of this
¢hronology which did not, he said, present “a
full and completely accurate account™ of the
events and lefi ambiguous the President’s role.
Thus was, according to Mr. McFarlane, done 1o
distance the President btrom the vming and
nature ol the President's authoruation He 1old
the Board that he wruie a memurandum on
November 18, which tned o, i hus own words,
“gild the President’s mouves.” This version
was ancorporated wmito  the chronology. Mr
McFarlane 10ld the Board that he knew the ac-
count was “musleading, av least, and wrong, &t
worst.” Mr. McFarlane 1old the Board that he
did provide the Auomey Genera an accurate
account of the President’s role.

The Board found considerable reason 10
quesiion the acuons of LiCol North i the
altermath of the disclosure. The Board has no
evidence (o either confinm or refute that LtCol
North desiroyed documenis on the innative in
an eflort 10 conceal facts from threatened n-
vestigations. The Board found indications that
LiCol North was involved in an effort, over
time, to conceal or withhold imporiant infor-
mation. The files of liCol Nonh contained

much of the historical documentavion that the
Board used 10 construct its narrative, Morg-
over, LiCol North was the primarsy U.S. govern-
ment official involved in the details of the oper-
ation. The chronology he produced has many
inaccuracies. These “histories” were 1o be the
basis of the "“full” story of the Iran initiative.
These inaccuracies lend some evidence to the
proposition thai LiCol North, either on his own
or at the behest of others, actively sought to
conceal important information.

Out of coencern for the protection of classi-
fied tnatenal, Director Casey and VADM Poin-
dexter were 10 brief only the Congressional in-
teiligence conunittees on the “full” story; the
Do betore the Commitiees and VADM Poin-
dexler iy pnvaic sessions with the chainuen
and vice-chairmen. The DCIL and VADM Poin-
dexier undertook 1o do this on November 21,
1986 It appears from the copy of the DCI's
testsuony and notes of VADM Poindexter's
meenngs, that they did not fully relate the
nature of events as they had occurred. The
result s an understandable perceplion that they
were not fortheoming.

The Board is also concerned about varnious
notes that appear to be missing. VADM Poin-
dexter was the official note taker in some key
meelings, yel no notes for the meetings can be
Jound. The reason for the lack of such notes
remains unknown 1o the Board. If they were
wrilien, they may coantain very important infor-
mation. We have no way of knowing if they
ewst.
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Part ¥V
Recommendations

“Not only * ® * s the Federal power
uver cxtermal aliars wn ongin and cs-
senual characier diflerent from that
over witernal aflars, but parcipauon
in the excrase of the power 13 signufi-
candy hosted. In this vasl external
realm, with its important, complicated,
delicate and manifold problems, the
President alone has the power 10
speak or listen as a representalive of
the nation.” Uniled Statss v. Curtug.
Wrght Export Corp., 299 U.S. 3(H, 319
(1936).

Whereas the ulumate power 1o formulate do-
mestc policy resides in the Congress, the pn-
mary responsibility for the fornulaiion and un-
plementanion of national secunty policy falls on
the President.
~ lis the President who is the usual source of
innovation and responsiveness in this field. The
departments and agencies—the Defense De-
partment, State Department, and CIA bureauc-
racies—iend to resist policy change. Each has
s own perspective based on long experience.
The challenge for the President is to bring his
perspective 1o bear on these bureaucracies for
they are his instruments for executing national
secunty policy, and he must work through
ther His 1ash 13 10 provide them leadershup
and diecnion

e Natwnal Sccurmy Adt of 1947 and the
iysiem that has grown up undes it allords the
President speaal tools lor carrying out this im-
Puilain role. These tools are the Nauonal Se-
cunty Counci, the Nauonal Sccumy Advisor,
and the NSC Swualf. These are the means
through which the creative impulses of the

President are brought to bear on the perma-
et goveimsncent  The National Security Act,
and cusiom and pracuce, nghtly give the Presi-
demt wide lauude n fashiomng exacly how
these means arc used.

These 18 o magic formula which can be ap-
phied w0 the NSC suucture and process to
produce an opimal system. Because the system
is the vehicle through which the President for-
mulates and implements his national secunity
pobicy, it must adapt to each individual Presi-
dent’s style and management philosophy. This
means that NSC structures and processes must
be flexible, not rigid. Overprescription would,
as discussed in Part II, either destroy the
system or render it ineflective.

Nevertheless, this does not mean there can
be no guidelines or recommendations that
might improve the operation of the sysiem,
whatever the particular style of the incumbent
President. We have reviewed the operation of
the system over the past 40 years, through
goed times and bad. We have listened carefully
to the views of all the living former Presidents
as welt as those of most of the paricipants in
their own national security sysiems. With the
strong caveai that flexibiity and adapuability
must be ar the core, 1t is our judgment that the
naticnal sccurity system seems to have worked
best when at has in general operated along the
Lines set forth below.

Organuing for Natonal Secunty. Because of the
wide latitude in the National Secunity Act, the
President bears a special responsibility for the
eflective performance of the NSC system. A
President must at the outset provide guidelines
to the members of the National Securicy Coun-
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cil, his National Security Advisor, and the Na-
tiopal Security Council staff. These guidelines,
to be effective, must include how they will
relate 1o one another, what procedures will be
followed, what the President expects of them.
If his advisors are not performing as he likes,
anly the President can intervene,

The National Security Coundil Pprincipals
other than the President participate on the
Council in a unique capacity.? Although hold-
ing a seat by virtue of their official pozitions in
the Adminisiration, when they sit as members
of the Council they sit not as cabinet secretar-
ies or department heads but as advisors 1o the
President. They are there not simply o ad-
vance or defend the panicular posions of ihe
deparuncows or agencies they hicad bus to Hive
their best advice 1o the Presdent  Thew pab—
and their challenge—u 10 see the wsuc (rom
this perspective, not from the narrower wier-
ess of their respective bureaucracies.

The Nauonal Security Counc 1 only adviso-
ry. It is the President alone who decides. When
the NSC pnincipals receive those decinons, they
do 30 as heads of the appropriate departments
or agencies. They are then responsible 10 see
that the President’s decisions are carried out by
those organizaiions accuraiely and effecuvely.

This is an importan: point. The pelicy nno-
vation and cveativity of the Pregident encoun-
ters a natural resistance from the execuung de-
partments. While this resistance is a source of
frustration to every President, it is inherent in
the design of the government. It is up to the
politically appointed agency heads (o ensure
that the President’s goals, designs, and policies
are brought 1o bear on this permanent struc-
ture. Circumventing the depariments, perhaps
by wing the National Security Advisor or the
NSC Staff 10 exccute policy, robs the Presiden
of the experience and capacity resident in the
depariments. The President musi act largely

through them, but the agency heads musi
ensure that they execuie the Presiden:'s poli-
cies in an expeditious and effective manner. 1
is not just the obligation of the National Secur-
ty Advisor to see thai the nanonal sccunuy

VA3 dasiunbed i mawr detad  Pant 1l ihe [TFITVTIVEN TP PR W
of U Nassony Sorunty Lownd ae the Preaden Yur Prew
Orod, Seerevary of S, and Setrerany ol Delcnse By ther s aser
“Natoaal Securwy Coundd PRl Of TN peks T dhe
Board gencrally means those lowr MBLLO(Y membels plus the [y
recior of Comrad bueligence and the Chanman of 1he Joun
Chiefs of Siaff.
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process is used. All of the NSC principals—and
particulaily the President—have that obligation,

This tension between the President and the
Executive Depariments is worked out through
the national security process described in the
opening sections of this report. It is through
this process that the nation obtains both the
best of the creativity of the President and the
learning and expertise of the national secunity
departments and agencies.

This process is extremely important 1o the
President. His decisions will benefit from the
advice and perspective of all the concerned de-
panments and agencies. Husiory offers numer-
ous cxanples of dws aruth President kennedy,
los cvamnpic, did noi have sdequate consulia-
o briwte cntenug upun the Bay ol Pigs anva.
sy, uie of hus gicatest dadures He remedied
thu i tmse {or the Cuban musde cnus, one of
his grcatest successes. Process will not always
produce bidhuni ideas, but history suggests o
can at least help prevent bad ideas from be-
coniing Presidenual polbicy.

T Nanonal Secunty Advuor 1113 the Nauonal
Sccunty Advisor who s prumanly responsible
lor mansging this process on a daily basis. The
Job requires skall, sensiuvily, and integrity. It is
his responubility to ensure that matiers submi-
ted for conmderation by the Coundil cover the
{ull range of ussues an which review 1s reyuired;
that those issues arce fully analyzed; that a ful]
range of oplions 1 considered, that the pros-
pecis and nsks of each are exanuned; that all
relevant inicligence and other information is
available 10 the principals; that legal consider-
auons are addressed; that difficuliies in impie-
mentation are confronted. Usuaily, this can
best be accomplished through interagency par-
tcipation in the analysis of the issue and a pre-
paratory policy review at the Deputy or Under
Secretary level.

The National Security Advisar assumes these
responsibiiies not only with iespeqt o the
President but with respect 1o all the NSC prn-
cipals He must kecp them ntonmed ul the
President's thindunig and deisions Lhey should
have sdeguate notne gl an agcivda lur all
meetngs Dedon papris should, o at all puos-
sble, be prosided w advanie

The Nauonal Securny Advisur suust dlsa
ehsure that adequate recards are kepr of NSC
consultauons and Presidenndl deasions, This is

cssential to avoid confusion among Presidential
advisors and departmenial ll.'a.ﬂ'! abow what
was actually decided and what is wanl'cd. Thos_e
records are also casential for condm‘?ung a pen-
odic review of a policy or initative, and to
om the past.
lea]:nis&me rcspgnsibili:y of t'he National Securi-
ty Advisor 1o momlo_r_polu:y mplemeptanon
and to ensure that policies are executed in con-
formity with the intent of the President’s deci-
sion. Monitoring includes initiating penodnq re-
assessments of a policy or operation, especially
when changed cucumstances suggest that the
policy or operauon no longer serves US. wter-

13.

“Buc the Nauonal Scourty Advisor does not
umply manage the nanonal secunly process
He i humsell an imponant sourse of advice on
national secunty mauers o the President tle i
not the President’s only source of advice, but
he s perhaps the onc most able 10 sce things
frum the President’s perspecuve. He is unbur-
dened by departmental responsibiliues. The
President is his only masier. His advice 1s confi-
dential. He is not subject (o Senate confirma-
uon and tradinonally does not formally appear
belore Congressional committees.

To serve the President well, the Natonal Se-
curity Advisor should present his own views,
but he musi at the samec ume represent the
views of ethers fully and faithfully 10 the Presi-
dent. The sysiem will not work well if the Na-
tional Secunity Advisor does not have the trust
of the NSC principals. He, therefore, must not
use his proximity to the President to manipu-
late the process so as to produce his-own posi-
tion. He should not interpose himsell between
the President and the NSC principals. He
should not seek to exclude the NSC principals
from the decision process. Performing both
these roles well is an essential, if not easy, task.

In order for the National Security Advisor to
serve the President adequately, he must have
direct access 10 the President. Unless he knows
fst hand the vicws of the Presidemt and 1
Liown 1w rellect them i hus management of
the N3 osystem, he will be wellecuve. He
should net report 1 the Preaden thrvugh
bume oiher official. While the Chiel ol Suall or
others can usefully interject domesiic political
Consderanions into nauonal secunity delibera-
tons, they should do so as adduional advisors
io the President.

Ideally, the National Security Advisor should
not have a high public profile. He should not
iry to compete with the Sccrelary of State or
the Secretary of Defense as the aniculator of
public policy. They, along with the President,
should be the spokesmen for the polides of the
Administration. While a “passion for anonymi-
ty” is perhaps too surong a termn, the National
Security Advisor should generally operaie off-
siage.

The NSC principals of course must have
direct access to the President, with whatever
frequency the President feels is appropnate.
But these individual meetings should not be
uscd by the principal to seek decisions or ath-
crwise arcuinvent the system in the absence of
the other pnnapals in the same way, the Na-
il Security Adwvisor should not use  his
snhcduled wieligence or other daily briefings
of the Pressdent as an vpportunity to seek Pres-
wennal decisiun on siginficant issues.

li the system 1s (o operate well, the National
Securny Adwvisor musl promote cooperation
rather than compeuuon among himself and the
other NSC principals. But the President is ulu-
mately responsible for the operation of this
system. lf rancorous infighting develops among
his  principal national secunity functionaries,
only he can deal with them. Public dispute over
externatl policy by senior officials undcrmmqs
the process of decision-making and narrows his
options. It is the President’s responsibility to
ensure that it does not 1ake place.

Finally, the National Security Advisor should
focus on advice and management, not imple-
mentation and execution. Implementation is
the responsibility and the strength of the de-
partments and agencies. The National Secunty
Advisor and the NSC Safl generally do not
have the depih of resources for the conduct of
operations, In addition, when they -lake on m-
plementation responsibilites, they risk compro-
mising their objecuvity. They can no longer act
as wmparual overseers of the implementation,
ensuring that Presidennal guidance is followed,
that poliies are kept under review, and lhal
the results are serving the President's policy
and the national interest.

The NSC Swaff. The NSC staff should bc
small, highly competent, and expenienced in
the making of public policy. Staff members
should be drawn both from within and from
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quiaide governmmenl. Those from within gov-
exppuent should come from the several depart-
ments and agencics concerned with national se-
gty mattenn. No particular department or
agency should have a predominate role. A
proper balance must be maintained between
people from within and outside the govern-
ment. Staff members should genmerally rotate
with a stay of morc than four years viewed as
the exception.

A large number of staff action officers orga-
nized along essentially horizontal lines en-
hances the possibilities for poorly supervised
and monitored activities by individual staff
members. Such a sysitem is made 1o ordes for
energetic sell-atarters to take unauthorized -
uatives. Clear verucal lines of control and au-
thority, responssbility and accountabalgy, ase
csscntial 10 good managemen.

One problem affecung the NSC s1afl s lach
of wnstimtconal memory. This resuls from whe
understandable desire of a President 10 replace
the staff in order to be sure it s responsve Lo
him, Depanuments provide contimwty that can
belp the Council, but the Council as an insutu-
tion also needs some means 10 assure adequate
records and memory. This was identificd 10 the
Board as a problem by many witnesses.

We recognize the problem and have idenu-
fied a range of possibilities that a President
might consider on this subject. One would be
to create a small permanent execulive secrelar-
iat. Another would be to have one penson, the
Executive Secretary, as a permanent position.
Finally, a patern of limited tenure and overlap-
ping rotation could be used. Any of these
would belp reduce the problem of loss of insti-
tutiona! memory, none would be practical

unless each succeeding President subscribed to
.
The guidelines for the role of the National
Security Advisor also apply gencrally to the
NSC swaff. They should protect the process and
thereby the President. Departments and agen-
cies should not be excluded from participation
in that process. The swafl should not be imple-
mentors oF operators and swalfl should keep a
low profile with the press.

Principal Recommendation

T:he model we have oudined above for the
National Security Councl system consutuies
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our first and most important recommendation.
It includes guidelines that address virtually all
of the deficiencies in procedure and practice
that the Board encountered in the lran/Contra
affair as well as in other case studies of this and
previous administrations.

We believe this model can enhance the per-
formance of a President and his administration
in the area of national security. It responds di-
rectly to President Reagan's mandate 10 de-
scribe the NSC system as it ought 1o be.

The Board recommends that the proposed

model be used by Presidents in their manage-
ment of the national security sysiem.

Specific Recommendations

In addison 1o ws princpal recommendduon
regaiding the organization and funcioning of
the NSC system and roles (0 be played by the
parucipants, the Buard has a number of specific
recommendaiions.

V. The Nanomal Securuy Act of 1947. The Naws
of procedure and lalures of responsibibiy re-
vealed by our swudy do not suggest any inad-
equacics in the provinens of the National Secu-
oty Act of 1947 that deal with the suruciure
and operauun of the NSC sysiem. Fory years
of expenence under that Act demonstrate 10
the Board that 4 remains a fundamenially
sound framework for national security decision-
making. Tt strikes a balance between formal
structure and fewbiity adequate to permit
cach Premndent (o tailor the sysiem (o fit his
needs.

As a general mauter, the NSC Siall should
not engage in the implementation of policy or
the conduct of operations. This compromises
their oversight role and usurps the responsibil-
ities of the depariments and agencies. But the
inflexibility of a legislative restriction should be
avoided. Terms such as “operauon” and "un-
plementaton” are diilicult 10 deline, and a leg-
islative  proscnponon sught predude some
futuse Prosident brom oiebiig 4 very consiugc:
Lve use ob the NS Suall

Predussposinon on saing ol ahe sl should
be toward {ewer rether than mure But 4 leygis-
lalive restnclion cannut ‘Ul’ltf the reguire-
ments of future Preudents. Size s best Iefi 10
the discreuon of the President, with the admo-

e

hat the role of the NSC staff is to
‘n:l to duplicate or replace, the work of
riments and agencies.

pition
review,
the depa

nd that no substantive change
hew-:.::: :nm:l‘:: pravisions of the National Se-
curity Act dealing with the sttucture and op-
eration of the NSC sysiem.

2. Senate Confirmation of the Natwnal Secunty Ad-
psor. It has been suggesied that the job of the
National Secunty Advisor has become so im-
portant that its holder should be screencd by
the process of confirmation, and that once con-
firmed he should retura irequeatly for ques-
womng by the Congress 1t 13 argued ihat tha
would improve the accountability ol the Na-
nonal Secunty Advisud .

we hold a duferent view ‘ihe Natonal Secu-
niy Adwisor docs, and should conunue, o
serve only one masier, and that 1 the Press-
dent. Further, conlimmation 1s incousisicnt with
the role the National Secunty Advisor should
play. He should not decde, only adwise. He
should not engage in pohcy implementauon or
operations. He should serve the President, with
no collateral and patenually dverung loyalues.

Confirmation would tend (o insttutionahze
the natural tension that exists between the Sec-
retary of Stale and the Nauonal Secuniy Adwi-
sor. Questions would increasngly anise ;bom
who really speaks for the Presideat in national
security matters. Foreign governments could be
confused or would be encouraged to engage in
*‘forum shopping.”. .

Only one of the former government officials
interviewed favored Senate confirmation of the

National Security Advisor. While consultation

with Congress received wide support, confirma-

lion and formal questioning were opposed.

Scveral suggested that if the National Secunty

Advisor were 10 become a position subject to

confirmation, i could mnduce the President (o

tuen 10 other 1ntemal stalf or 10 people outside

goverunent o play that role

We urge the Congress not Lo requi:re
Senate confirmation of the Nauonal Secunty
Advisor.

8. The Intcagency Proces. 1uas the Na_nional Se-
curity Advisor who has the greaiest interest in

ing the national security process work, fot
?tmi: thgi: process by which the President obiaing
the information, background, and .analym he
requires to make decisions and build support
for his program. Most Presidents have sel up
interagency commitices al both a ataff _a.nd
policy level to surface issucs, dcvglop options,
and clanify choices. There has typically been a
struggle for the chairmanships of these groups
between the National Security Advisor and the
NSC staff on the one hand, and the cabinet
secrewaries and deparimeni officials on the
other.

Our review of the operation of the present
system and that of other administrations where
commsttce chawmen came from the depant-
ments has led us 1o the conclusion that the
sysem gonerdlly vperaies beter \yhcn lhf.' com-
muiees are chaired by the individual with the
greatost stabe making the NSC system work.

We recommend thai the National 'Sccurity
Adviaor chair ihe senior-level commitiees of
the NSC syatem.

4 Covert dchons. Policy formulation and im-
plementatuon are usually managed by a team of
experts led by pohcymaking g_encrallsls. Covert
aclion requirements are no different, but there
is a need 1o hmit, sometmes scverc]y. the
number of individuals invoived. The lives FJ
many people may be at stake, as was ':he casc in
the attermpt to rescuc the hostages in Tehrap.
Premature disclosure might &ill the idea in
embryo, as could have been the case in the
opening of relations with China. In such cases,
there is a tendency 1o limit those |m:0Ivcd 102
small number of top officials. This practice
tends to limit scverely the experlise brought 1o
bear on the problem and should be used very
spanngly indeed.

The obscssion with secrecy and preoccupas
uion with leaks threaten to paralyze the govem-
ment 10 us handling of covert operabons. Un-
[uriunately, the concern is not m_lsplaced. The
selecuve leak has become a principal means of
waging bureaucratic warfare. Opponents of an
operation kill it wih a Jeak; supporiers seek 1o

build support through the same means. )

We have witnessed over the past years a sigs
nificant deterioration in the integnly of proc-
ess. Rather than a means to obtain results more
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_(atisfactory than the position of any of the indi-
vidual departments, it has frequently become
spepething 1o be manipulated 1o reach a specif-
ic ogicome. The leak becomes a primary instru.
ment in that process.

. This practice is destructive of orderly gov-
ernapce. It can only be reversed if the most
senior officials take the lead. If senior decision-
makers set a clear cxample and demand com-
pliance, subordinates arc more likely 10 con-
form,

Most recent administrations have had careful-
ly. drawn procedures for the consideration of
tovent activities. The Reagan Administration
established such procedures in January, 1985,
then prompily ignored them in thew consder-
ation of the Iran iniuauve.

We recommend that cach admisisiralion
formulste precise procedures for restricied
comsideration of covert actioa and thal, oace
formulaied, those procedures be stricily od-
hered to.

5. The Rols of the ClA. Some aspecus of the
Iran arms sales raised broader questions in the
minds of members of the Board regarding the
role of CIA. The first deals with intelligence.

The NSC staff was actively involved in the
preparation of the May 20, 1985, update 10 the
Special National Intelligence Estimate on lran.
It is a matter for concern if this involvement
and the suong views of NSC staff members
were allowed to influence the intelligence judg-
ments contained in the update. It is also of
concern that the update contained the hini that
the United States should change its existing
policy and encourage its allies (0 provide arms
to Iran. It is critical that the line between intel-
ligence and advocacy of a particular policy be
preserved if intelligence is to retain its integrity
and perform its proper function. In this in-
stance, the CIA came close enough 10 the line
10 warrant concem.

We emphasize to both the intelligence com-
munity snd policymakers the importance of
malptaining the laegrity sad objectivity of
the inslligence process.

6. Lgal Counsel From ume (0 ume issucs
with importapt legal ramifications will come
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before the National Security Council. The At-
tormey General i3 currently a member of the
Council by invitation and should be in a posi-
tion to provide legal advice to the Council and
the President. 1t is imporiam that the Antorney
General and his depariment be available 1o
interagency deliberations.

The Justice Department, however, should not
replace the role of counsel in the other depart-
ments. As the principal counsel on loreign al-
fairs, the Legal Adviser to the Secreiary of
Siuate should also be available to all the NSC
participants.

Of all the NSC participants, it s the Assisiant
lor Natwna Securuy Aftaurs who scems 10 have
had the least atccas 10 enpert counsel Lanubar
with lis o tivilace

The Board recommends that the posiuion
of Legal Adviser o the NSC be cnhanced in
stature and in its role within the NSC staff.

7. Secvery and Comgress There 1s a natural ten-
sion between the deunre lor secrecy and the
aced to consult Congress un (overt vperations.
Presidents seem 10 become increasingly con-
cemed about leaks of dassificd information as
thewr  adnumisirations  progress. They blame
Congress dupropornondtely. Vanous iabinel
oflicials from prnor admunistraions indicated 1o
the Board that they believe Congress bears no
more blame than the Execuuve Branch.

However, the number of Members and staff
involved n reviewing covert aciivities ts large;
it provides cause for concern and a convenicnt
excuse for Presidents to avoid Congressional
consulwation.

We recommend that Congress consider re-
placing the existing Intelligence Commitiees
of the respective Houses wilh & new joint
committee with a restricied staff (o oversee
the intelligence community, paticrmed after
the Joint Commiitese on Alomic Encrgy that
existed until the mid-1970e.

8 Pruaicing MSatwadd Seunny Pulsy Caiclual
and lunued use of peuple vuide the L S Gove-
ernment may be wery bhelplul i soime umigue
cases. But this pracuce taises subsianngl ques-
wons. It can ceate contha ol mterest prob-
lema. Private or foreign sources may have difs

e

ferent policy interests or Persoqal motives and
may exploit their assgclauon with a U.Ss. gov-
crmment effort. Such involvement gives private
and foreign sources potentially powerful lever-
age in the form of demands for return favors
of even blackmail. ‘ .
The U.S. has enormous resources invested in
agencies and departments in order to conduct
the government’s business. In all but a very few

Epilogue R

it bui one of the majur pulicy nustehes we
examuned had been avoided, the nation’s hiato-
ry would bear one less scar, one leas cmbar:
rassment, one less opportunity for opponents
to reverse the pnncples this nation sccks Lo
preserve and advance in Lhe waorld.

cases, these can perform the funcuons necded,
If not, then inquiry is required 1o find out why.

We recommend against having implementia-
tion and policy oversight dominated by inul\-
mediaries. We do not recommend bn'rrlnl
limited use of private individuals o assint in
United States diplomatic initiatives or in
covert activities. We cantion a.gnull use of
such people cxcept in very limited ways and
under close obscrvation and supervision.

As a cullection, these recommendatioqs are
olicred 10 thuse who will find themselves in sil-
watrons sumdar 1o the ones we reviewed: um‘icr
sticss, with high siakes, given Litie ume, using
wemplere nlurmanon, and troubled by pre-
mawure disclusure. In such a state, modest am-
provemenis may yield surpnsing gains. This 1s
oul hupe.



Note

I the following narrause, ditatons 1o the Board's record are
indicated in parentheses. Where the atation 18 to 4 name, for ex-
ample “(McFarlane (1) 6)7, n means Robert C. McFarlane's furst
interview with the Board at page 6 of the transenipt. 'The same
page in Mr. McFarlane's second terview would be designated
by “(McFarlane {2) 6)."

Representatives of those departments concerned with the na-
uonal security of the Unied States reviewed the manuscript in
order 10 declassify it. The criteria {or deletions in the interests of
the national securuy were: (1) protection of intelligence sources
and methods; {2) protection ol negotiations and relations with
third countnies; and (3) proteciion of hfe. The Board [inds that
these critena have been reasonably applied




pory
The Iran/Contra
Affair: A Narrative

Quis custodiet 1psus custodes.
—Juvenal, datires, Vi, 347

Introduction

In 1985, the United States began a process
that eventually included the shupment ol ad-
vanced weapons unoblainable on the mtema-
tional arms wmarket o Iran for cash and the
freedomn of Amencans kidnapped and held hos-
tage in Lebanon. Israel also sold such weapons
10 Iran, and the Unued Stawes resupplied Iscacl,
at least in part. In some instances, lran appar-
ently arranged for the release of Amencan an-
zens, and perhaps nationals of other countries,
kidnapped in Lebanon. These transacuons ui-
volved American, lranian, and lsracli middle-
men, and occurred at a time when the public
policy of the United States sirongly deprecated
arms shipments o Iran and ransoming hos-
tages. Large sums changed hands. Large sums
are unaccounted for, and may have been divert-
ed o guerrilla groups in vanous countries,
including the resistance in Nicaragua, or to
middlemen.

A number of elemenis appear 1o have con-
verged at the ongin of these (ransactions.
Wiuhout assigming pnionity. they indude: {1) the
strategu amportance of lran and concem of n-
dividuals i the Uoted Stacs government 1o
testoae something rcscmbhng nunnal relatons
with that country, (2) 4 long bustary ol Russian
and Sovict denigns on Iran, 4nd the perceptiun
that the Soviet ivasion ol Alghamstan repre-
sented an episode n this histary; (3) evidence
of lraman influence with, and conirol over,
groups engaging in (erronist acis against citi-

sens and interests of the United States, its allies
and tisends, (4) Amecncans held hostage in Leb-
anon by such groups, (5) lanian efforts 1o
gty advanced weapons for use against lrag;
() Israel’s uicrest, for a number of reasons, in
sclling such weapons 10 Iran with the approval
ut acquicscence of the United Suates; (7} the
perceplion by international arms dealers that
the Amencan concern abowt the future course
of Iran and Americans held hoswage, together
with Iran's wish to buy weapons controlled by
the United States, offered an opporunity for
guick, sure profits.

1. Background

On January 16, 1979, the Shah was over-
thrown, ending an intimate lranian-American
relationship over iwenty-five years old. Mutual
hostility and tension characterized American re-
lations with the Khomeini government, which
the seizure on November 4, 1979, of the Amer-
ican Embassy in Tehran intensified. From No-
vember 12 to 14, the United States adopied
economic sanctions culminating in the decision
on the l4th to “block™ all Iranian government
property and interests ia the United States. Ira-
mian ol could no longer be purchased, nor
wedpons shipped, even those previously pur-
chased by tran. (Order of 11779, confirmed by
Exccutive Order, 4/17/80) The Unned States
broke diplomatic relations with Iran on April 7,
1980, and impused further economic sanctions.
Some sin weeks alter the Embassy seizure, the
Soviet Umon invaded Afghanistan. Since short-
ly thereafier, the United States and Iran have
pursued compatible policies towards the

B-1



L

resistance. On September 22, 1980,
auacked Iran.

The hostage aists begun November 4, 1979,
coatinued until the end of the Canter Adminis-
tration. At that time, direct, formal communica-
tons between Washington and Tehran re-
sumed with the establishment, pursuant to the
Algiers Accord of January 19, 1981, of the
Iran-United Staes Claims Tribunal at the
Hague in 1981. That agreement partially lifted
cconomic sanctions, but the arms embargo was
reinforced. In 1983, the United States helped
bring to the aiention of Tehran the threal in-
berent i the extensive infiltraton of the gov-
cmment by the communist Tudeh Pany and
Soviet of pro-Sowviet cadres i the country
Using this information, the Kbomeuu guvern:
mend ook measuwres, including mas ouetu-
tions, that virtually chmunated the pro-Sovin
infrastruciure in Iran,

A. Intellectual Threads in the
NSC Staff: 1984

From the wspring of 1982 through the
summer of 1984, interagency groups aitempied
1o formulatec “'a security strategy” for South-
west Asia. (Teicher 6-7) At the beginning of
1984, Geoffrey Kemp, Senior Director for Near
East and South Asian Affairs on the salf of the
National Security Council (“‘NSC"} and ihe
principal NSC staff officer responsible for the
Persian Gulf, (id a1 6), wrote a memorandum
to Robent C. McFarlane, Assistant to the Presi-
dent for National Security Affairs and head of
the NSC swaff, recommending that the Adminis-
tration reevaluate its atitude towards lran. He
viewed the Khomeini government as a menace
to American interests, and suggesied a revival
of covert operations against it. According to
Kemp, Tehran's politics and policies enhanced
Syria’s slanding among Arab states, and threat-
ened western access to Persian Gulf oil. Kho-
meini's [ran was also believed to have engaged
directly or indirectly, in errormst acts againal
citnens and interests of the Unued Siates, us
friends and allics. He reporied that culed Ira-
nians, with whom he regularly communicated,
hoped that, with foreign help, they might -
stall a pro-Western government. Suggestions of
divisions in the country and suppont from
Saudi Arabia for the exiles encouraged Kemp
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to submit his proposal. (Kemp to McFarlane,
1/13/84)

Kemp prepared his memorandum during a
period in which a number of foreign nationals
living in Lebanon were kidnapped by groups
known to have important ties to Iran. Further,
the United States determined that [ran had
played a role in hijackings and bombings, nota-
bly the bombings of the Amernican Embassy and
of the Marines barracks in Beirut on Oclober
29, 1983. Evidence of lranian compliaty in
such cvents caused the United States 1o desig-
nate lran a sponsor of intermational terronism
and 10 umpose sddisonal controls on exporis Lo
lran on Januany 23, 1984 Among thuse bud-
oapped alier Remp submuited hs memoran-
dum 1o Mubuline was William Budkley, CIA
Chael o Ststiun in Bewut, scued on March 16,
1984 Bucbicy cventually died in capivity

On August 31, 19494, Mckarline formally re-
quested an inieragency analysis ol Amencan re-
lations with Iran abicr Khomeun, (NSS1) 5-84,
B/31/84, Tewher 7) Accordiag 1w the detaled
interagency study completed in Odober 19584,
Khomeini's death was probably a precondition
to changes i Iranan pohaes and the sealistic
prospect of unproved iranuan-Amencan rela-
uons. The study, which incorpurated the analy-
sus of a Specual Natondl Intelligence Estunate
{*SNIE"} then in preparation on Iran, conclud-
ed thai the possibiity of resuming arms shup-
ments o Irun depended on Iran’s willingness
to restore formal relations, which itself tumed
on Iran‘s perception of the importance of such
shipmenis and the Amernican percepiion of the
impact of such shipments on the regional bal-
ance of power. (Enclosure to Hill 1o McFarlane,
10/19/84) The study conveyed an impression
of relalive American powerlessness o affect
events in Iran, powerlessness that would con-
tinue indefinitely. (Jd.)

The CIA reached a similar conclusion with
regard to the unliy ol covert action i Iran 1o
improve the United States posiuon The CLA
Deputy Directur of Operations wonsidered the
Marxist Mujsheddin b Khaly o be well orga-
puzed. wdlucaied by e Suvicis, and bibely w
swiecd Khomenn (DD 10 Powndester, 12/
11784}

The State Depanment disulled these views
inio a draft Nauonal Secunty Decision Directive
("NSDD") at the end of 1984. This document

would have directed the United States govern-
ment (o maintain and expand its capability 10
exploit opportunitics that might arise in Iran,
but reaffirmed, absemt changes in the Iranian
situation, exisung policies. Thus, the draft
NSDD would continue the policy of discourag-
ing arms transfers to lran. (Draft NSDD 5, in
Hill 1o McFarlane, 12/14/84) Howard Teicher,
Senior Director for Political-Military Affairs on
the NSC siaff, tald the Board that these inter-
agency efforts “produced no ideas which any of
us involved considered 10 be of great value in
terms of significanily affecting our posiure in
the region.’ (Teicher B)

B. Further 1984 Threads:
Iran, Weapons, and Hostages

By the summer of {984, Irdnan purchasing
agents were approachung nternationad anns
merchants with requesis for TOW wmussiles.
The Chief of the Near East Dwision of the
CIA's Direciorate of Operations ("C/NE”) told
the Bourd.

We have w the DDO probably 30 o
40 requests per year from Iranians and
Iranian exiles 1o provide us with very
fancy intelligence, very imporant in-
temal polisical insights, o we an retum
can arrange for the sale of a doien
Bell helicopter gunships or 1,000
TOW missiles or something else tha
18 on the contraband lisi.

{C/NE (2) 98)

By November 1984, Iranians with connec-
tions to the Tehran government were indicat-
ing a connection between such weapons and
the release of Amernicans kidnapped in Leba-
non. Theodore Shackley, a former ClA officer,
reporied that, in meetings November 19-21,
1984, in Hamburg, West Germany, General
Manucher Hashemi, former head of SAVAK's
Department VI {rounterespiunage),  sniro-
duced um w Manuchehr Ghorbandar. Ha-
shenn said Chotbamnifar’'s contaas in lran were
lenasie . (CAmencan Hosiages in Lebanon™
4t 2 (L1/22/84)) Ghoibamtar was  already
khown 10 the CIA, and the Agency dud not
have a lavorabie impression of his rehability or
veracity. (Cave 8-5, 44; C/NE (2) passim) Shack-
ley veported that Ghorbanifar had been a

SAVAK agenti, was known (o be an internation-
al dealmaker, and, generally, an independent
man, difficult to conwol. Ghorbanifar. told
Shackley that he and other Iranians wanted to
help shape lran's future policies and bri.nq
Tehran closer to the West.

He feared that Iran would become a
Soviet satellie within the near term—
three to five years—if he and people
like General Hashemi did not do
something to stem the tide. He rhe-
torically asked what can we do, for de-
spite our ability to work with the
"moderates” in lran, we can’t get a
meamngful dislogue with Washington.
Acturding to Ghorbanifar, it is Presi-
demt Beagen who has the destiny of
ihe lranwn people i his hand. When
st Uus jundure Ghorbanfar was asked
i he had wned w open a dialogue with
the Amenicans, hie sad, “"We know 1the
ClA 1in Frankturt. They wamnt Lo ireat
us like kieenex—use us for their pur-
pose and then throw us out the
window. We can't work with them as
they are unreasonable and unprofes-
sional. In fact, if you check on me with
them, they will tell you I am unreason-
able and undisciphned.”

{*Amencan Hostages in Lebanon,” supra, at 2)

To prove that he and Hashenmi had influen-
tal contacts in Iran, Ghorbanifar suggested
that Iran wouid be willing to trade some Soviet
equipment captured in Iraq for TOW missiles.
He further suggested the possibility of a cash
ransom paid to Iran for the four Americans
kidnapped in Lebanon (ncluding Buckley),
who, he said after making telephone calls, were
alive. The transaction could be disguised by
using Ghorbanifar as a mddieman. Shackley
reported that Ghorbanifar needed a response
by December 7, 1984. According 1o Shackley,
later that month, the State Department in effect
replicd: “‘thank you but we will work this
problem out via other channels.” " (“American
Hostages in Lebanon' ar 1 (6/7/85).

VAR unsiinbuied and undaied note analysed mectings invadv.
ing Hashemi. Shackicy, and Iranians ar about this ime and in
March 1983, when the same topics noted by Shachley were dia.
cusscd. This note added that [wic determined that the lrinan
[sic) side was only interesed {uic] in money.” Sor wfm p. B 11,
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L:AI\# t;cgim'ling of 1985, the Administration
adopied new procedures for approving and co-
ordinating covert actions. These were mcticu-
Jously set forth in elaborate detail in a National
Security Decision Directive signed by the Presi-
dent. They included comprehensive inleragen-
cy evaluation of proposed covent actions, co-
ordinated review of actions undertaken, and
notification of Congress in accordance with
statute. (NSDD 159, 1/18/85) The NSDD alsa
specified that the President would approve in
writing all covent acuion Findings made pursu-
ant 1o scction 501 of the National Secunty Adl.

A. The NSC Staff in Action

Early in 1985, the NSC sall undenook ac-
tions aimed a1 the least (o improve the govern-
ment's knowledge about Iran. Michael Ledeen,
who, from November 1984 to December 1986,
was an NSC consuliant on terronsm and cer-
tain Middle East questions, including Iran, woid
the Board that the NSC stalf regarded Iran as a
strategically important place about which the
United States had inadequate informanon.
(Ledeen (1) 7-8) McFarlane was prepared in
January to send Ledeen to Europe on a mission
of inquiry. In this connection, Rear Admural
Poindexter, McFarlane’s deputy, wrote a letler

of introduction saying Ledeen “has the com- -

plete confidence of Bud McFarlane and
myself.” (Poindexter 10 Schurer, 1/4/85. Ses
alse McFarlane to Grossouvre, 1/4/85) In the
early spring of 1985, Ledcen reporied to
McFarlane a discussion about Iran he had had
with a Buropean iniclligence official who be-
lieved the situation there was more fluid than
the Uniled Statea government seemed to think.
Ledeen's unerlocutor suggested speaking to
the Iiraclis as the best, quick way lo leam

Ledeen 1obd the Board ithat Ghorbenly had ined lor wome
wme 10 colpblaly conlaci wub the Ulaed Sawcs [ Jang Laded
10 reach us a the brond doos. b weel alound o the sde dow 7
Shacbley Umoamaitcd bus repuay to Leiwrel Webiery il edesn 11}
4147) Ledeen and Shachity scpaiach) tuld she Boad that @
May 1985, Shabley 1okl Ledecn thas e bed mu tepunss bum
Waken. ln Juse 1995, be gave Be ropunt, iogriher wuh a0
updaie, 10 Ledeen who, wuhout rreding u. be sud, passcd W1
Nosih with the report “that Shackley had had a contaa wuh an
Lranisn who had said he thought he could ranscm Buchley ™
{Ledecn (1) $8); Ledeen (2) 2-6; Sbackley 13-24)
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about events in Iran. According to Ledeen,
McFarlane

suggested that 1 talk to Peres privately and
ask him whether Lsrael had better informa-
tion about Ilran than we had, whether
Israel had enough information about Iran,
about Iranian terrorism, about Iran's role
in intermational terrorism, all these vanous
subjects, so that one could evaluate a ra-
tional policy and, if so, whether they would
be willing 10 share that information with
us.

{Ledeen (1) B-49) ?

Docunients suggest & sumcwhat  dillerent
ongin and purpuse lor the tnp Duoiald Foruer,
Speviad Amstant 1w the Presdent and Semwor
Duestor for Pobits ad Mustary Allaus, reponied
10 McFalane va Apid 9, that Ledeen told lum
on Aprd B tha MiFaslane was picpared 1o ap-
prove Ledeen's wavellug 1o Jsrael (apparendy
a previous tnp had becn cancelled) il Foruer,
Covey, and Teuher appruved. Foruer won-
dered [ Ledeen had accurately represented
McFarlane's view. Fornier, Covey, and Teicher
disapproved of usug Ledeen as the govern.
meat’s “pamary channel for warking the Iran
ussue with foreign governments, and we think
you should probably should [sic] not provide a
formal leuer.” {Foruer PROF noie 10 MoFar-
lane, 4/9/85, 10:22:14) On the other hand,
they thought he could usclully carry iwo mes-
sages 1o Prime Muusier Peres, whom Ledeen
came to know when, as Secretary ol Siate
Haig's advisor, he had responsibility for dealing
with the Socialist Intermatonal. (Ledeen {l) 6)

1) the White House lecls it is essenual 1o
begin 1o develop a more serious and co-
ordinated strategy for dealing with the Ira-
nian  succession cnsis—a cnsis  that s
almost cerlain to wrn on outside involve-
meni of one kind or another; and 2) we
would like hus wleas on how we could co-
Qpcrale more ellecively The last pou s

8 heders ok e Berid adie b baclar apepas el gl hus g
rucps b R s alnas wm ok s fualy Sugus 198% and e
Pyl prssal bas £ upernada Ledroew saml e comvandricd hunarl an
ropabeyer A v L aacd Maigs eBat ol b igm anl made
chras bus bea warrko st Uhal B had o suihedug i g EME
bt muubd  drpeet bubd) snd wowscly Penvibeng Ui basparcd
i thane dasi usymsiis mid that | wwukd J dshed ept and | om
munsale lully a0 siuiacly bach (o them whateser declassns
were made i Washingion. " (Ledeen T-18)

a hard one for us to ask our inteiligence
cOmMmMuUNity 1o corumunicate, since we sus-
pect they may be pant of the problem. We
don’t think Mike should be the one to ask
Peres for detailed operational information;
he probably doesn’t know, and even if he
did, this should be reserved for official
channels once we have arrived al ideas for
restoring better cooperation,

(Fortier PROF note to McFarlane, 4/9/85,
16:22:14) On his own initiative, on April 9,
Ledeen made arrangements to see Prime Minis-
ter Peres. Fortier and Teicher thought it wise
fur Teicher (0 sound out Nimrod Novik, the
Pome Minister’s Pohiucal Advisur, 10 sce
Lodeeu would be welivine (Forner PROF e
to Mckbarlane, 479785 11 41 22) Mok arlane ap-
proved the check wiulh Nuvik " turms up
ncgative, sunply tell Mike that the mceung i
not sponsoied by us and he should noi so 1ep-
resent.”” (MdcFarlane PROF noie 10 Yoruer, 4/
9/85, 12:45:22) He also wroie Foruer:

Yes 1 ithink it is ennrely worthwhile 10 co-
operate closely wuh Iran [sic: srael] w our
planung for Iraman succession. . . . As a
separate maiter ! want to talk to Shuliz so
that he is not bhndsided when Sam Lewis
[Ambassador 10 1srael} reporis—as he will
surely find out—aboul Mike's wandenngs.?
So for the moment let's hold on 1he
Ledeen aspect. [ will get back to you. 1 do
consider planning for the succlession [sic|
to be one of our greatest failures and vul-
nerabilities so 1 am very glad you are tum-
ing (o it.

(McFarlane PROF note to Fortier, 4/9/85,
11:22:47)

Ledeen traveled (o lsrael and met Prime
Minister Peres on May 4 or 5, 1985. (Ledeen
(1) 10} Ledeen told the Board that, “in es-
sence,” Pnme Minister Peres

said that while he thought tharr informa-
tion was probably beiter than ours, he did
ol consder 11 satislactary and he didn’t
leel that st was sullicent lor them 10 base
any kind of senous lran puly, but thet he
agiccd that W was an importan matter and

* Appascatly Lodern thought he could mabe the 1np withuut
Anbassador Lewes findisg out abour w Mok lie doubded o
wa  poshible  (McFalane PROF note w Foruer, 49785,
12.45:22)

said that they would be happy 10 work with
us to Iry to develop better information in
all these areas—the internal Iranian situa-
tion, the Iran role in terror, general intey-
national terrorist questions and so forth,

So he constituted a group of pecple out-
side the govemment, not government offi-
cials, 10 work with us to study the Iran
question and the Iranian terrorist issue,
The agreement was that each of us would
try to find oul what our respective govern-
ments knew about Iran. We would then sit
down, compare notes, and see if possibly
by putting them 1ogether we might be able
to develop some knd of useful picture.

Ud ai JO-11)

In lus second uterview with the Board, Ledeen
sdded that the Prune Mimster

was happy to work wgether to ry 1o devel-
op beuer wlormanon about lran, but he,
conjary o all these newspaper reports,
which conunue to drive me crazy and |
don't know where they come from, there
was no discussion of comtacts with Iran,
none. There was no discussion of hosiages.
And except for this one final point where
he said we have received a request from
the lIranian government to sell them this
quantity of matenel, we will not do it with-
out explicit American approval, will you
please raise it with McFarlane when you
get back o Washinglon and tell me shail
we do it or shall we not, there was no dis-
cussion of weapons or irade or relations or
anything.

It was simply a discussion of what could be
Jearned abour Iran and how could we
betwer work together to undersiand that
siluation.

[Tlhere was no discussion of policy at all
between me und Peres. 1t was simply a dia-
cussion of infonnanon, and then hypotheti-
cally i there were wformation and they
had policy recommendations (o make, then
okay. But we never got to them. It was
purely a research trip.

Ledeen (2) 10-11)
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‘ ﬂllomo Gazit, President of Ben Guron Uni-
verpily and a former chief of Israeli intelli-
geoce, led the Israeli team. Gazit still had good
u_‘hl.iom with Israeli intelligence and could
filrea both the military and Mossad to provide
information. Ledeen did not know the other Is-
raclis, but assumed that David Kimche, Direc-
tor General of the lIsraeli Foreign Ministry,
worked on this matier. (Ledeen (1) 11)

When Ledeen returned 1o Washington on
May 13, he called Fortier wisth the news of
“very positive feedback. [Ledeen) will briefl me
tomortow on what that really means.’ (Fortier
PROF note to Poindexter, 5/13/85, 18:12:20)
According to Ledeen, during the May conversa-
uon, Prime Minister Peres also asked hun to
ask McFarlane o the Uniied Staies would ap-
prove an arms shupmeni to lian [odeen oo

' called that “[ijt was either ammunution lor and-

! lery picces or some quanuty ol arublery pictes,
but it had 10 do wih antllery.” (Ledeen (2) 19)
Israel would not ship it to Iran "without explic-
it Amencan approval.” (Ledeen T-2) ledeen
said McFarlane subsequenily authoried him 1o

\lell the Prime Minssier “it's okay, but just that
and nothing clse.” (Id))

B. Intellectual Formulations:
The NSC and Intelligence
Estimates

Afier Ledeen reported o McFarlane on the
inip, McFarlane asked Fortier 10 direct the CIA
to preparc a special intelligence estimate on
Iran. (Ledeen (1) 11-12) Graham Fuller, Na-
tional Intelligence Officer for Near East and
South Asia, and Teicher panicipated in this
cffort. Fuller told the Board that he “regularly”
saw Teicher who

shared a lot of my feelings abouwt our sira-
tegic bind vis a vis Iran, And there were
others as well in Government, but Howard
was the one 1 was most well aware of in
that regard, who felt that we should at
least be working towards [sic] un expanded
policy towards lran, expanded i the
broadess sense, more than 2 purcly nega-
tive one of no arms and slap duwn on 1er-
ronasm. It was i face ihat NSDD thai a 1he
end got nowhere that was pan of the ra-
tionale for the estinate that we did in '85.
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{Fuller 28-29)+

On May 17, 1985, Fulier submited a five-
page memarandum to William Casey, Director
of Central Intelligence, entitled “Toward a
:’olicy on Iran.” Fuller began his analysis as fol-
ows:

. The US faces a grim situation in devel-
oping a new policy toward ({sic] Iran.
Events are moving largely against our in-
terests and we have few palatable alierna-
tives. In bluntest form, the Khomeini
regime is faltering and may be moving
toward 4 moment of truth, we will soon
see 4 ssuggle for vmiesswn lhe US has
shnust o cards 1o play, the USSR has
maiy dran bus obvsousty comdduded tha
whethaor they ke Mussid and Conninumam
uf i, the USSR s the countny o coae tu
tevms with  the USBR can both hutt and
belp lran wore than the US can. Our
urgeadl ueed w1 develup o broad spec-
ttum ol pulicy moves designed 1w give us
suie leverage v the race lor wlluence
Tehran.

(buller o DO, “Toward 4 Poly on
bean,” 5717/85) Fuller athen noed st the
Unined States and Sovict Limon buth supporied
liay, bur for dilercnt reasons, and this suua-
von was anhercmly unsiable He wrote that
both countries “lack our preleired access o
hian. Whoever geus there hrstis s sirung po-
siton 10 work towards [sic] the exdusion of the
other.” (Jd at 1) Fuller reporned diat the el
ligence communiy moniored “"Suviet progress
toward developing  sigruficant  leverage  in
Tehran,” progress, which, however uneven,
menled a respunse given the stakes. (id) He
then analyzed Amencan policy.

The Umited States had two atitudes towards
Iran. birst, it was prepared to respond with
foree of Iran was mvolved i 4 terronst attack.
Second, it stiove to deny anms o bran Fuller
beheved that these “tmun pillas” were o
longer senuble becaue ihicy were sthupied o
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deal with a vacuum in Iran and a strong Kho-
meini. These conditions no longer eisting,
Fuller concluded, the palicy pillars had become
entirely negalive “‘and may now serve Lo facili-
(ate Soviet interests more than our own.” {/d at
2) While acknowledging the difficulty of formu-
lating alternatives, he thoughi that

[i}t is imperative, however, that we perhaps
think in terms of a bolder—-and perhaps
riskier policy which will at least ensure
greater US voice in the unfolding situation.
Right now—unless we are very lucky
indeed—we stand to gan nothing, and lose
more, 1 the oulcome ol developments in
bran, which sre all vutside our control

(dd a3

“Nobudy has any bridhaat ideas about how 1
get us back into Tehran,”™ Fuller wrote, (s ). he
then analysed s number of dliernative courscs,
i luding helping Irag 10 win the war and en-
couraging fniendly siates 1o make arms aval-
able w Iran as a means for ganung wdluence
Tehvan, He noted that an Irage viclory mughi
lead 1o the estabhishment of an even mote radi-
cal regune o Tehran. Auacking lran’s radual
ally Libya would demonstrate our resolve and,
possibly, remove Qadhafi. Iran's vther radical
ally, Syna. could only be pressured by lsracl,
which had no wish for conflict at ibis ume. He
thaught demonstrating o lranians thal we were
not hostile by withdrawmg our fleet from the
Persian Gulf and making public statements
about our friendly imtentions, for example,
might strengthen “Iranian moderates—and op-
ponunists;” it also might produce derision in
Tehran. The best course, he concluded, was to
have [riendly states sell arms that would not
affect the strategic balance as a means of show-
ing Tehran that it had altermatives to the Soviet
Union. (/d. at 5) Were the Sovieis to gain in
Iran, we would have 1o sirengthen our comnut-
mens 1o Turkey and Pakistan, as they are logi-
tal next Soviet targets e 4) The Duector
ol Central hwelhigence provaded a copy of this
mcmotandum (o the Scuretany ol Staie on June
4. 1985 {Note on routuiyg shieei)

On May 20, 1985, the buelbgence {ummuii-
ty ueulated 4 revision of us SNIE of Qclober
1984 on Iran (SNLE 34-84, fran The Post Kho-
mam Era) According to Fuller,

I think the [intelligence] community had
very definitely felt that most of she Iranian
regime perceived us as implacably hostile
towards an Islamic republic in principle,
and that maybe there were some gestures
that could be made that would suggest that
we were rather more sophisticated in our
approach to it than simply that.

(fd. at 11)

The first SNIE and the update tried to pre-
dict Iran's course over the next six to twelve
months, and acknowledged the difficulty that
elfort implied. Iis conclusions were consistent
with Fuller's earlier memo to the DCIL. The
Communiy expected Khomeini's health to con-
hwe 1o dedhine, and predicted thai Tran would
soun ciket @ petiod ol wstability, in part the
tesubt ul the segune’s dechimng popularity, the
growih ul privaie armies, and jockeying for po-
Lial advaniage by compeung groups. One
could tonlidently expect “serious instability™
betore hhomemy's desth. Already the Commu-
wiy saw signs ol opposiwon o the radicals
amuny widusinal workers. The prospects for
the Communst left (the Tudeh Party and Mu-
jihedin-e Khalg) were hard to estimate, but the
Soviets were discreetly keeping their options
open by allowing their East European allies (o
sell weapons 1o Iran while the U.S.S.R. publicly
suppaoried lrag. “Tebran’s leadership seems to
have concluded,” the Community wroie, “thai
improvement of relations with the USSR is now
essential 10 Iranian intéresis; any improvement
of ties to the United States is not currently a
policy option.” (fran. Prospecis for Near-Term In-
stallity at 5 (5/20/85) (1o holders of SNIE
$4-84)) Moscow would offer a number of in-
centives in relurn for Iran's ceasing Lo support
the Afghan resistance. The United States cur-
rently lacked an ability to counter Soviet
moves. As a whole, however, the West could
take sieps Lo improve 1ls position.

The United States 1s unhikely to be able to
directly influence Iraman events, given ils
turrent lack of contact ar presence in Iran,
European states and other fnendly states—
mdduding Turkey, Pakistan, China, Japan,
and even lstael—can provide the next
must valuable presence or entree in Iran to
help protect Western interests. The degree
to which some of (hese states can fill a
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military gap for Iran will be a critical meas-
of the West's ability 10 blunt Sovict in-
. These states can also play a major
in the economic life of the country,
ing its isolation and providing alier-

natives (o Soviet influence or that of the

radical sate.
(Id. a1 12) According to Fuller, nothing in the
May 1985 SNIE proved to be “highly coniro-
versial” in interagency deliberations. (Fuller
22)

Teicher told the Board that this esuimate
became the basis for a2 new draflt NSDD on
Iran. (Teicher 8-9) On May 28, Fonier wrote
McFardane:

We spent the beuer part of the day wotk-
ing on the Iran NSSD [sic] | have Dennus
[?Ross, ai that ume an NSC consullam]
here looking at the recent spate of Soviel
acuvity and the levers we may have ansing
out of the war and other circumstances |
think we need about one more full day
before we send up a draft for you and John
[?Poindexier] Lo Teview. We also just got a
booteg copy of the draft SNIE. We
worked closely with Graham Fuller on the
approach, and I think it really is one of the
best yet. Iran may come up in the breakfast
tomorrow. If pressed for action you can
credibly promise paper within the next few
days. I also think the lsraeli option is one
we have w0 pursue, cven though we may
have 1o pay a cenain price for the help.
I'm not sure though that we have the right
interlocutor. Mike has 2 call into me now.
His message is that he necds 10 see me ur-
gently to follow up on his weekend conver-
saton and 1o get a new planc ticket.
Would appreciate guidance and substantive
feedback. Thanks.

(Fortier PROF nole 10 McFarlane, 5/28/85
18:52:14)

On June 11, 1985, Fortier and Teicher sub-
mitied to McFartane a drafi NSDD on Iran that
Teicher had worked on for mudch of May. They
described it as

provocative. W banically cally Jor a vigorous
_ policy designed 10 bluck Soviet advances in
! the shont-term while bullding our leverage
i in Iran and wying 1o restore the U.S. posi-

tiop which existed under the Shah over the
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longer-term. This would require a sharp
depariure from ongoing . .. measures,
most notably the supply of Western mili-
tary hardware, U.S. initiative to dialogue
with Iranian leaders. . . .

Because of the political and bureaucratic
sensitivities, we believe that it would be
best for you 1o provide a copy of the
NSDD drafi only to Shuliz and Weinberger
{eyes only) for their comments. Whether to
proceed with a resiricted SiG, NSPG or
other forum would depend on thew reac-
tons.

{Foruer and lewher 1o McFarlane. 6/11/785)

lewher's diate ROYDLD. whu b had umospurat
ed soine (vauncints of Vuuem Cannsisato,
Seaws Dector los lnelhgeme and the NSO
stall member prninapally responsble for mom.
tonng covent operations, st forth these ponts
al leagth Mutonng the analysis by Fulles, the
NSDD defined uninediate United Siales intes-
ot as

{1} Prevenuag the dinicgrauon of lran, and
preserving lran as an independent builer be-
tween the Sovier Umon and the Persian Gull;

(2) Lumitng Sovici polital opporiunuies In
fran, while posiiomny the Usited States o
adjust to changes,

{3) Mamtanng access 10 Perswn Gull ol and
transi through the Gulf ol Hormuz,

(4) Ending lramian sponsorship of terronsm,
and policy of destabiizing neighbonng swites;
Longer-term goals were:

{1) Restoration of lran's moderate and con-
sirucuve sole 1o the non-Communst political
community, the Persian Gull region, and "lhe
world petroleum economy,”™

(2) Conunued Iranian resistance to Soviet ex-
pansion (in particular, in Afghanistan);

{3) An carly end 1o the lran-lrag war without
Soviel mediation or change in the regiond) bal-
ance of power,

1) Elumnauon ol bean hyman oghes
abuscs.

15 Movemeni tuward the nutinalicauun ol
Tiaian Amecrwan telanens,

(0) MHesoluton ol Amcrtuan lcgal and hian
c1a) ddanns i the Hague inbunal,

{7 Jraman moderanon on OPREC priang

pohicy.

To begin the process of reaching these goals,
Teicher and Foriier recommended that the
United States:

(1) Encourage Western allies and friends
to help Iran meet its import requiremenis
so as o reduce the attractiveness of Soviet
assistance and trade offers, while demon-
strating the value of correct relations with
the West. This includes provision of seleci-
ed military equipment as determined on a
case-by-case basis.

(Drait NSDD, U.5. Polbey Toward [si) fran at
1-2, 5-6, in McFarlane o Secretaries of State
and BDelense, 6/]17/85)

(2) Coopetaie with Inendly miclhgence sers.
wes o unpiove abibuy 16 counier andosune
Soviel acivites i lean,

(3) hrease contadts with alhies and incnds
un the lraman situation and be ready w com-
murncate thiough them w lran,

(4) Estabhsh binks with, and prownde suppon
1o, lraman leaders who might be receptive 1o
ctlons 1o umprove relaions with the Unied
States;

(b} Avaud acnons that could alienate Iranian
groups that mught respond lavorably 10 such el
foris,

(6) Respond to lraman supported terronsm
with imliary acton against tervorist infrasiruc-
tures;

(7} Increase our Yoice ol Amenca effort 1o
discredi Moscow's islamic credentials;

{8) Develop a . .. plan” for supporung
United States policy in vanous conungencies;

{9) Continue 10 encourage third party eflonis
to seek an end to the Iran-lraq war. (/d.}

The Secretary of State responded to the draft
NSDD on June 29, 1985, *“The strategic impor-
tance of Iran and the value of reassessing our
policy toward i are clear,” he wrote. “The
drafi NSDD constructively and perceptively ad-
dresses a number of the key issues. | disagree,
however, with one point o the analysis and one
spediic recommendation ' (Comment on Drah
N3DD, Shulu to Mckalane, 7/29785) In ha

Lt

e dralt MDD appeaiy (o exaggeiaie cur-
Icht anti-regime sentmens and Soviet ad-
vantages oves ugan gaming dluence Musi
unporiantly, s proposal that we permt or
encourage a flow of Western arms to lran
18 conirary to our interest boih in contain-

ing Khomeinism and in ending the ex-
cesses of this regime. We should not alter
this aspect of our policy when groups with
ties to Iran are holding US hostages in
Lebanon. 1, therefore, disagree with the
suggestion that our efforts to reduce arms
flows to Iran should be ended. If the
NSDD 1is revised to reflect this concern, I
would like 10 see the drafi again before it
is put in final form,

- (id)

Secretary Shultz devoted the rest of his com-
ments to further analysis of his reasons for op-
posing arms shipments 1o lran and his dis-
sgreement with the NSDD’s portrayal of Iran's
tclanons with the Sovier Union. “"The imherent
lusuny on the braman-Soviet relationship are un-
doiplayed wm ahe NSDLD drali. lranians have a
deep histoncal sustrust of the USSR, The Ira-
wian leelens w the Sovicts are lor arms and for
hintatons oo Soviel arms supplies 10 Iraq; the
lianana do not seek a doser relavonship.” Any
attempt 4t a closer relatonship with the Soviel
Uion would encounter resistance. His com-
wient turther semmmded McFarlane that, under
the Shah, “lramian-Sovietl relations were closer
and more cooperauve than they are now.” (id)
The Secretary had no objection to passing a
message to the Speaker of the Iranian Majlis
(Parhament) Ralsanjani while abroad express-
ing the United States interest in “correct’’ sela-
tons, and to encourage allies and friends to
broaden their commercial relations with Iran.
Such initiatives to diminish Iran’s isolation
should not undermine pressure 1o bring an end
to the war and restram arms flows. The com-
ment concluded that this two track policy re-
mained best. (Id )

The Secretary of Defense submitted his reac-
uon to the draft NSDD on July 16, 1985. He
told the Board that his iniual reaction was to
wite “absurd” i the margin. '} also added
that this s roughly Like invinng Qadhafi over
lor a cozy landh” (Weinberger 5) While his
lorimal commient noied his agreemens

with nany of the major points in the
paper, several of the proposed actions
seem  questionable. Moreover, it is ex-
tremely duflicult to consider an explicit re-
vision of our policy toward Iran as long as
we continue 1o recewve evidence of Iranian

B-9



. complicity in terrorist actions and planning
' agumst us. | do not believe, therefore, an
NSDD should be issucd in the proposed

(Weinherger to McFarlane, 7/16/85) The Sec-
retary of Defense “fully” aupported the short-
term goal of hlocking Soviet cxpansion into
lan.

Under no circumstances, however, should

WC DOW easc our resuriclion on arms sales

to [ran. Aucmpiing to cut off arms while

remaining neutral on sales o either bellig-
event is anc of the few ways we have lo
protect our longer-range interests in both

Iran and Iraq. A policy reversal would be

scen as inexplcably inconsisiens by thase

nauons whom we have urged (o refran

fom such sales, and would lkcly lead o

increased arms sales by them and 4 poasns-

ble alterauon of the sraiegac balance wn
favor of lran whie Khomeini is sull the
controlling influence. It would adversely
affect our newly emerging relationship with

Iraq.

S'ecreury Weinberger then enumeraied those
aclions—improving intelligence gathering capa-
bilities as recommended in the SNIE, eswablish-
ing contacts with “moderaies”, whom intelli-
gence might idenufy as favonng policies favor-
able (0 U.S. and Western interests; communi-
caling our intcrest in cormect relations through
allies and friends while remaining neutral in
the Iran-Iraq war; pressing the Xhomeini gov-
emment in public satements to mitigale its
hostile policies, while encouraging opponents
of those policies; and the like—he believed best
calculated to achieve United States goals in the
region. He concluded by reaffirming his sup-
pori for present policies in face of Iran's
“international lawlessness.” He cmphasized
that “[c]hanges in policy and in conduct, there-
fore, must be initiated by a new Iranian govern-
ment.” The United States should encourage
change, and support moderation and the devel-
opment in the future of amicable relations He
did not think the program ouikined in the drall
NSDD served these goals. {/d)

In contrant, the Direcior of Central Iniclh-
gence wrote McFarlane on July 18, 1985, that

I strongly endorse the thrust of the draft
NSDD on U.S. Policy Toward Iran, particu-
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larly its emphasis on the need 1o take con-
crete and timely steps 10 enhance U.S. le-
verage in order Lo ensure that the USSR is
not the primary beneficiary of change and
turmoil in this critical counury. White [ am
broadly in agreement with its assessment
of the current political situation, the NSDD
nceda to reflect more fully on the complex
of Soviet motives and recent actions lo-
wards Iran and their implications for U.S.
policy iniuatives. . . .
{Casey to McFaslane, 7/19/85) The Direcior of
Central Imelhigence then enumerated what he
consudeted 1o be substanual weaknesses i the
uncligence analysus of the dialt NSDD (/)

Tewher told the Board that the reacnions ol
the Mevrciancs of disic and Delense brougiu
wicr-agency conssderanon of a new lranan
pulicy 10 "4 standaull.” (Texher 13) Tewcher
sought guidance from Forticr, Poindexier, and
“perhaps with McFarlane.” (id) They asked
him 10 sec f the process had any other ideas.
Afier  discussing  the matter  with  Richard
Murphy, Assstamt Sccrciary of State for Near
East and Soulh Asian AHairs, he concluded that

il was dear there was no give and there
really wasn’t any more creativily.

1 went back 1o Foruer and [ said the only
question ¥ 1o do nothing, and hope that
the suuation doesn't create or lead 10 the
negative dangerous situanon thal we sec as
a possituluy, or present the President with
a decision memorandum which lays out, in
very clear terms, the diflerent perspecuves
of his advisors and asks him o make a de-
cision,

In the event, | was advised 10 do nothing
and basicaily 10 siand down. § did not
produce a drali deasion memorandum for
McFarlanc 10 sent 1o the Presdent.

That was sume tme i August, sbout nud-
August, 1985

From that pon on. unid carly March ol
1980, | had no (ugnizance whatsoever ol
the oither tach thai was tabing place on
Iran.

(d. a1 14)

C. Events Keep the NSC’s
1deas Alive: January-June
1985

Despite the criticisms of the Secretanies of
State and Defense, the ideas embodied in the
draft NSDD survived in action. Thu fact per-
haps reflected the turbulent environment in
which Teicher drafied the NSDD. A series of
kidnappings occurred in Lebanon in 1985: on
January 8, jenco; on March 16, Anderson; on
March 22, Fonuwine and Carton, both French;
on March 26, the Briush journalist Collets; on
May 22, the Frenchmen Kaulinann and Seura;
on May 28, Jacobsen; on June 10, Sutherland.
In the same penod, mecungs involving difler-
ent members of the NSC sl ook place with
Israelis about Iran. The cunversations became
more sysicmatc a3 Lme passed. Comtempoura-
Nevus discussions del’Ig p-crsun: l][ various
nationalines about lranan-Amencan relagons
also occurred. Together with violent evens, es
pecially including the hpaciung of TWA Flight
847 in mid-June 1985, they formed part of the
circumstances that seemed Lo have given hfe 1o
the pohcics advocated by Fuller, Teicher, For-
tier, McFarlane, and the Director of Central In-
teligence.

In a series ol mecungs beginning in January
1985, Yaacov Nimrodi, an arms merchant and
former lsrach Defense Autache i Tehran,
Ghorbanifar, Amiram Nir, Advisor 10 Pnme
Minister Peres on  Counterterrorism, and
Adolph Schwimmer, a long-time arms merchant
and, since Sepiember 1984, Specaal Advisor to
Prime Minister Peres, considered Iran and the
American hostages. They concluded that a plan
to gain the release of the hostages and o
“open up a dialogue with Iran" was realistic if
they could obtain American support. Roy Fur.
mark, a business associatc of Adnan Khashoggi
and participant in at least one of the meeungs,
1old Charles Allen of the CIA what “profit was
tenanly a mouve but that the group did sce
theu ctiorts as leading toward stabdiy v the
iegion and the telease of the hosiages " * (DCI

Yoy buimarh, an ssmniane ol the Seudi busnesanan Adaan
mhashoggs. tobd the Bowd thar he aurt Lhibatiler n January
1985 amd subscyucruly wtroduced han e khashogge He e

valied ihat Chorbamias and Khashog had o numiber of conver.
sationy about Mddic Eastern polias (Furmark 3) Ghorbamtar
and Khahoggs had 2 number of micttngs starting in january
1985, Mhashogp reponed Ghorbamfar's views on lranan politis

to Poindexter, undated but after October 22,
1986)

The Board also obtained rather cryplic evi-
dence of a meeting in Cologne in late March
involving Iranians, including probably the chief
of the Iranian buying office, Dr. Shahabadi, a
friend of Adnan Khashoggi. (Unsigned and un-
dated note; Furmark 34)

Basic thrust of the meeting is that we
wanted 10 open discussions with Iranian
oflicials and we also wanted the hostages
freed. Shabadi said that he would discuss
this with Khameni'i and [a cleric] and come
back oul to sec us al subsequent meecting
thus mecung never took place. However,
there weie Iwu phonc conversations with
somecune W lehran who according to
lahen was |a denc]. In thus case there
wlicd lcquul: for wrapons to lhOW our
boia fides. These were tuned aside. They
then 1ned to get boeing spare lkans
[pasts]. Finally gave us a list of ten items of
spare parts for a boeing. cast of characters
was Zaheri, Shoja'i, ghorbanifar (no direct
contact in his case) and Shahabadi. Zhaheri
khad a falling out with Shoja’i over money.
Zahen finally gave up and rewrned to
Houston. We determined that the lranan
side was only interesed in money.

{Onginal spelling and punciuanion. Unsigned
and undated note) In May, Shackley recalled
discussing the hostage problem over lunch with
Ledecen. Shackley told him about his report on
his November 1984 meeting with Ghorbanifar.
Shackley remembered that Ledeen asked for a
copy of the report. Ledeen said people in the
govermment were intercsied in investigating the
hostage question, and asked if Shackley could
“find oul whatever that was as a channel, if it i3
still open.” (Shackley 23)

On June 7, 1985, Shackley prepared a second
report on “Amencan Hostages in Lebanon.”
lle gave u to Ledeen who passed it to LtCol
Oliver North, the NSC siafl olficer responsible
{or counterterronsm. (Shackley 34; Ledeen (2)
5-8) Shackley reporied that General Hashemi
had taken soundings with Iranians on the possi-
biluy of arranging the freedom of Americans

10 McFarlane in a long memorandum on july 1. (/d.; Ghorbanifar
37.34)
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AT ke

kidnapped in Lebanon. On June 1, Ghorbanifar  the Defense  Minist i i
. i thas by Tranhs i morbanifar er mentioned neither

by e foljowing:

1 =lranian authorities were flooded with
proposals 0 help obwain the release of
Am hostages in Lebanon. As a result,
they did not know who was who.

.—T_ehnn was not interested in the human-
ftarian ploy that had been put forth by
Ghorbapifar.¢

~—Tehran wanted the following:

(1} a dialogue with a responsible
American who can idenufy what he
represents;

(2) a discussion of a quud pro quo tha
iavolves wems other money.
We lgld Ghorbandas that we would pass
oa this commentary 1o “fnends.”

("Amencan Hostages in Lebanon,"” 6/7/85)

D. NSC Suaff Activity: May-
July 1985

On December 16, 1986, Secretary Shuliz 1e3-
tiﬁed_before the Senate Select Committee op
Intelligence (closed session), and subsequently
told the Board that, on May 30, Ambassador
lewis in Tel Aviv reponed that Ledeen was on
a “secret mission for the White House” and 1o

a:k“if Secretary Shuliz kaew “what was going
on.

Tl_le anawer was no. Ambassador Lewis
said he had asked at the Israeli Ministry of
Defense about Mr. Ledeen and had been
told it was “too hot™ 10 1alk about, but that
Defense Minister Rabin would tell me
about it when he visited Washingion.

(Shuliz, 12/86, 4: SRB, 9) 7 When Secrctary
Shuliz met Defense Minister Rabin on june i,

¢ Pevhaps a reference 10 Ghorbafars suggesuun i the hos-
lages be ransomed for cash o o dagused ranas wn wnng hun
sl a0 muddieman. Sce ngras p B 3

Tin ot frw micrview, badees il sbhe Board thet B siade 4
serond g W luact e the eod wl Moy tu et mub daie i lusd
ot whie dhe Loracls bocw abut ibr lsian siuaton [§odeen
(1) 13, 14-18) Lo bus second miet varw . §rdevn tepuied that al
though e thoughy he bad made twu s (o laracl o May, bas
paupont and othey records do nw somruboraie his memany He
concluded bt b did Dot retum W laracd woud July 1983
{Ledeen (1) 13)
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Ledeen nor Iran. {/d. at 5) The Secretary fur-
ther testified that an NSC staff member told a
member of his stafll that Ledeen had asked
McFarlane for permission o follow up on his
carlier trip to obtain intelligence about Iran,
that McFarlane “was ambivalent, refused (o
give Mr. Ledeen a letter 10 Prime Minister
Peres, but reportedly agreed to allow Mr.
Ledeen to pursue the maiter. We were told
ahat. Mr. Ledeen went to Israel and received a
positive response (o this propaosition.” (id. at
4-5) On Junc 6. 1985, Poindexter informed
Robert Kimnuii, 4t that time Execuuve Secre-
tary of the NSC, that McFarlane had deuded 10
cancel Ledeen’s ing

Jhis atnuy comerned the Secrctay  of
Swae Nl wudd ihe Senaie Selecr Comnutice vn
Itctlgene tha, oo June 5, 1985, whule he was
wn Lisboan, he

scat a message to Mi McFarlane complan-
urg about Mr | edeen’s contact with the Is-
rachs, which had bypassed both Ambassa-
dor Lewis and mysell | sad that lsrael's
secord of dealings wih [ran indicates that
Isracl’s agends s not the same a3 oury,
and an mtelhgence relationship with 1sracl
conceatung bran might not be onc upon
which we could fully rely. | felt that “u
could scnowly skew our own percepuon
and analysus of the lranwan scene. ! said 1o
my mesiage 10 Mr. McFarlane, 1 am mys-
tified about the way this siuation has been
handled and am concerned that & contains
the seeds of further embarassment and se-
;—io.us error unless strarghtened out quick-
y."

On June 7, 1985, in Portugal, | received a
message from Mr. McFarlane saying that
he was "a luile disappoimted in my pre-
judginents”, and that he had intended 10
tell ine abour the matter bot had not had
time 10 du so He said "1 am wming 1 off
entrely . 7 Mr MiFarlane said that 1
had been an bsach nauve and 1tha My
ledeen was sotng “ou s uwi houk ™

(Shulis, 12780, H—0)

Alsue on June 7, Noith was working oi vari-
ous approdches 1o achicve the gelease of those
Americans kidnapped in Lebanon. He submit-

ted an aciion memorandum to McFarlane
asking approval for two efforts aimed to secure
the release of hostages. McFarlane approved
both. Under the first, the United States would
support efforts o find a private solwtion to the
problem of the American and French hostages
in Lebanon and the three Lebancse Da'Wa
prisoners in Kuwait whase release the hosiage
holders demanded. “[Tlhe . . . operation will
likely have produced results or failed by June
16, 1985,” North wrote. The second plan in-
volved the private ransoming of Iwo hostages,
including Buckley, for $2 million.® This oper-
avion would take “considerable ume (contacts
inside Lebanon, financwl  transacuois,  and
reotal of yacht/salchuose)”, thus, 1t was pussi-
ble 10 undertahe s at the same L a8 the por-
varc ctlons were underway (North (o Motbar:
lane, 6/7/85%) ‘lo smplemem ths  proposal,
North asked Mckarlane 1o coutact the Altuincy
General 1o securc the services of 1wo ollicers ol
the Druy Enlorcement Agency who would waik
with the NSC swaff on this matier. McFarlane
approved and wroitc “Nurth to follow up 6/10
w/AG. (id)

On June 14, 1985, two lebanese men -
jacked TWA Dight B47, and duected the pilot
1o land at Beirut awrport. There, the hiyackers
removed thirteen Amencans from the plane
and killed an Amencan salor. Thus eprsode ab-
sarbed the guvernment unil the surviving hos-
tages were released on June 29. On Junc 17,
the Director of Ceniral Inieligence heard from
his wartime friend, John Shaheen, that a Dr.
Cyrus iashemi, under indiciment for aitempt-
ing 10 sell arms to Iran, claimed 1c have dis-
cussed with the Iranian Foreign Ministry an ex-
change of hostages for the release of the
Da'Wa prisoners in Kuwait, TOW missiles, and
a nolle prosequi for Hashemi. (Casey 10 C/NE,
6/17/85) According 1o the CIA Inspector Gen-
eral, Israeli officials asked Ghorbanifar to use
his influence in Tehran 1o obtain the release of
hostages. (C1A/1G Chronology 2) On june 19,
lran sent the Unued Siates @ message 1o the
ellect that Tehian waned 10 do 43 much as u
tould to cad the TWA «(nais (Tewher 10
Mitatlane, B/719785) Fhe Unued Siaes re-

* L awnlay ovdena e suggeats thae she privaie source ol
ihewe humds was i Boss Poror U Aagun b, Noath noted thar
Poot had calbed wah the news that an NBL ceporner had asked
him Lo confum that he had donated $2 midlion (w ubuan the re-
Jease of hoatages. {6 Aug,” note n Nocth's handwning)

sponded on June 21 that “[iju is the view of the
United States that the government of Irmn
cannot escape its respensibilities . . . 10 help
secure the release of the hostages. . . ." (DT
6/21/85 1828L) *

At the beginning of July, McFarlane and
Ledeen had separate, but apparently related,
meetings with Schwimmer and Kimche, respec-
tively, in Washington. Ledeen told the Board
that Kunche cailed him early in the month to
ask him to meet Schwimmer. They met a week
later (probabiy July 11; see note 10 infra).
(Ledeen (1) 17) In his two interviews with the
Board, Ledeen recalled Schwimmer reporting
that he had recendy met Ghorbanifar through
Schwimmer's iniend, Khashoggi. Ghorbanifar's
bnowbedge of lianwn policies impressed the Is-
Tachs

Gisnbaular had lor the first ume given
them what they considered to be a really
sobid piciure, n detal, of the internal fra-
awn stuation and the Iransan connection
1o sucrnatonal terronsm.

And i addition he had vanous proposals
that he claimed to be representing on
behall of the lranian government, who
were tugh individuals inside the Iranian
government, and they thought it was im-
poriant that I should come and meet this
person,

And 1 said [l] was planning to come 10
Israel anyway and that 1 would check with
Bud [McFarlane] and if it was okay with
Bud 1 would uy to meet with him then.
And [ aiked 10 Bud and he said fine.

(Ledeen (2} 17) Schwimmer. whoin Ledeen de-
scribed as one of Foreign Minister Peres’
“close friends,” knew about lrdeen’s May con-
versation with the then-Prime Minisier. ({d. at
I9) “'{A]s best as I can recall it at this point,”
Ledeen iold the Board,

* In Nuvcinber 1980, the N5L: stall peepaicd a number of chro-
nudogics The dwo fulless. coniled LS Jhatan Comacs and the
Amencan Hustages.” bear ihe desigrations “11/17/86 2000
(Mastmum Yoy {Maximum Yernon”) and "1 1/20/86 3000
{Hutorwal Chrunolegy)” ("Hutorigal Chronology”™) The Mlaxi-
mum Versen notes tha U S intelligence reponts indicate that
Maghis Speaber Ralsanjam, who was waveling n the mid-cast af
the ume, and Iranun Foreign Mimsier Yelayan both intervened
with the capiors |10 secure the release]. Rafsanjan, in his speech
on November 4, 1986, for the fisst ume publicly ackoowledged
his role 1 this mauter.”
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+ | think that what happened was tha
Schwimmer described Ghorbanifar and he
may have talked something about hostages
also, that I weni to Israel and met Ghor-
banifar, where all of this took on real flesh,
that Kimche then came back to Washing-
won early in August and 1old Bud abouw if,
and formulated the proposition, that Bud
then discussed it with the President, and by
the time 1 came back in the middle of
August the President had approved it and [
then communicated that decision to the 13-
raclis.

And I'm quite sure that is the chronology.

General Scowcroft: Do you have any
notion how this thing got transtormed
{rom a rescarch project 1nto an wton pro-
gram over a very shon penod ol ume and
who made the wansformauon?

Mr. Ledeen: It is what [ wrote in the Post,
General. The lranuns came forward
Ghorbanifar came forward. Ghorbanuar s
really the driving force belund this whole
thing. 1 mean, one can speculate abow
Americans and Israelis, but it is clear that
the guy really—!I mean, these ideas did not
come cither from the Government of the
United States or the Government of Israei
or arms merchants. These ideas came from
Ghorbanifar. He was the person who iniro-
duced them. He was the one who put them
forward, and he was the one who claimed
to have the capacity to achieve them.

So i happened because the Israelis were
approached hy Ghorbanifar as a way of
geuting to the United Siates, and [ be-
lieve—I mean, one of the few things that |
do believe that Khashoggi has said is what
he s3id on that TV show with Barbara Wal-
ters, that he suggested to Ghorbanifar that
the best way to get the Amernicans’ auen-
uon was 0 go 1o the Israelis, That is che
way he would think, and he was right, in
fact, and it worked.

S0 thai was the channel from lian 10 the
Unued Siates and that 1 how it happened,
and 1 was the one who found myselfl i a
room with them. that's all. bt was an aca-
dent.

(id a1 21-23)
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Contemporaneously, Kimche also visied
Washingion. He met McFarlane on July 3. Ac-
cording to McFarlane, Kimche sought “'the po.
sition of our government toward engaging.in a
politicat  discourse with Iraman  officials.”
(McFarlane (1) 6) Kimche thought the Iranians
in question would ultimately need something,
namely arms, 10 show for the discussions.
"But,” McFariane told the Board in his first
\nlerview,

thai was not a request [for arms] on July
3rd. He said that the lranians undersiond
that, because we had never secn them and
had no basis lor conlidence that they were
people ol wilucine and authornny, vnder-
stoud il ey noeded 10 demonsirale
thew vwin boda ludes, and that they be-
beved i they could wdlucna e the Blizbal-
lah v Lebanun tu release the hustages,
and w fact went a3 Jar as v convey
through lum on July 3¢d that they had
three approaches, Just in 1enns ol formats,
of where they mughi deliver 1the seven hos-
tages, and sought our conunent on winch
ol these was preferable

(fd a1 7-8) McFailane ok this C3sdge ds dil
indication that framans undersiood that Iram-
ap-Amcrican relaions “cownldi't prosper irom
our point uf view lor a3 fong as people dose to
Iran and lmsked 1o them conunued w hold hos-
tages.” (/d a1 B)

I1. The President, His Staff, and
the Cabinet: July-August 1985.

In his first interview, McFarlane told the
Board he then repourted this conversation Lo
the President belore he entered the huspital for
his cancer uperauon in the second week of July.
He informed the Sccretanes of State and De-
fense and the Director ul Cenual Intelligence
In separate conversations. He also said he vis-
ited with the President in hospital, and the Sec-
rerary of State “to discuss oo boel (i) bHe
told the Fresident that hinnhie's uestion was
Twhdi o yous sistude tueard cogaging with
Iran v o poluwal ageida persd 7 (4d ) Ac-
wwidmy 1o Mcbarlane, the President sonsidesed
the question i & broad contert, ncuding
Kimche's suggesion that eventually arms trans-
fers would become an 1ssue.

And while it wasn't linked 1o the hostages,
the President said, well, it seemed to him
that the Middle East experience well
beyond Iran is that elements to succeed ul-
umately to power do need to srengthen
themselves, and that the currency of doing
that is usually weapons. And he said the
key element is not denying history, but de-
ciding whether or not our doing that or
somebody else doing that can be distin-
guished as a political mater of policy be-
iween Lhe natural perception of people
that weapons are going to pcople por-
trayed as terronsts. lran s dentfied as a
terronsi state. He said the key element as
whether or nut thiese poople arc ndecd de-
voted (o chiange and ot pust suuply vppoi-
tuinses, sell-serving sadu als.

(Id a9)

In by wecting with the Board on bebruary
Lh, 1987, the President said he had no recolledc-
von of 4 meeung in the hospital w July with
M« Farlane and that he had nu notes that would
show such a meeiing. (R Dawson & W C.
McFadden LI, Memorandum for the Record, 27
9/87)

In has thurd sndeirview with the Board, Febru-
ary 21, 1987, at the Beihesda Nauonal Naval
Hospual, McFarlane recalled:

I have lelt since last Novewber—and that
i5 where we started—that 0 has been, |
thunk, nusleading, auv least, and wrong, at
worst, for me (0 overly gild the President’s
motives for his deasion in this, 1o portray
them as mostly diwecied oward political
oulcomes.

The President acknuwledged those and
recognized that those were clearly impor-
tant. However, by the 1enor of his ques.
tioning, which was oriented toward the
hostages and uming of the hostages. from
s recutrent virtually daly guesuoning
just about wellare and do we have anyilung
sew and so fonh, oo very dlear that has
tonccins hete were dor the teturn of the
hualages

Now maybe s come 1o you attenti that
hiere was 4 mecting wih the 1WA 847 rel-
atives and hostages on July 4+ or 5, and the
President stayed with Mrs. Rcagan at Ar-
hington Cemetery for an extra half hour or

so going down and greeting each of the
families there, and it was a very moving
moment and it had an impact on him.

Within a day or so of that 1 brought to his
auention this original proposal from Mr.
Kimche, and the President’s reaction was
quite enthusiastic and somewhat perhaps
excessively enthusiastic, given the many
uncertainties involved. But it was expres-
sive of his attitude on this issue from the
beginming, and from the four, five, or six
meetings we had in the next thirty days on
it there weren't any inhibitions as persist-
ently as well as the Secretary of Stale and
Icfense made them, and they were very
well muade

Bui the Presdent bad no hesicancy about it
at ail, nor did he when he called me about
st last week hiere i the hospual.

Well, the recollecuon of my having briefed
the President on Kimche's wisit in the
White House and his coming here and his
rcactions when here at the hospital, 1
brweled lum on the new information re-
cawved lrom Mr. Schwimmer, there is a viv-
idness in my recoliecuon that is document-
ed datewise by the calendars that I have
that the meeungs were held in the image
of bewmng across the hall with Mr. Regan
and the President, filling them in on this,
and the President saying words to the
eifect that gee, that sounds preuy good.

The weapons issue is a problem, and ous
discussion of that, and he says: 1 guess we
can't do the weapons or something like
that ourselves, but isn't there a way that we
can get at irying 1o keep this channel going
or something hke that.

Mr Dawson: And that’s ued i 1o the hos-
tages db thar poue? Jo s dear that one of
the purpuoses of s 1s not so niuch a stra-
1egic opeming as you might have otherwise
stated, but it is an attempt to gei1 arms for
hostages through the transfer from Israel
1w lran?

Mr. McFarlane: Well, I think that was fore-
mosi in the President’s mind.
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¢ Mr. Dawson: So if he didn’t state to you in
50 many words, Bud, go ahead and do it,
he clearly led you to believe from the
outses that here was a chance to bring
some hostages out through a third coun-
uy? ' '

Mr. McFarlane: It was unambiguously

(McFarlane {3) 11-14)

On November 21, 1986, McFarlane wrate
Poindexter thay the President “was all for let-
ting the Israclis do anything they wanted at the
very first briefing in the hospital.” (McFarlane
PROF note 10 Poindexier, 11721786, 21.01)

Donald T. Regan, the Presdent’s Chuel ol
Seafl, recalied firss learmung of MdFarlane's con-
versation with an [srach abowi lran wihile the
President was in hospual, some 1wo days alier
his operation. According 10 Regan, Mctariane
wanted authority 1o enter discussions with the
lranians identiticd by the lIsrachis as having
“reasonably good connections within Iran but
who were on the ouiside.” (Regan 4) Regan
told the Board:

About the second day alter the operauon, |
belicve it was, we went out there—I1 can
find the cxact date if you don't have u—
met with the President—he was in bed—
and McFarlane 10ld him that we had had a
contaci from Iranians whom he had reason
te belicve had reasonably good connec-
tions within Iran but who were on the out-
side, and this had come primarity as a
result of lsraeli connection with the Irani-
ans.

At that time ] didn't know their names. |
now know them (o be Ghorbanifar,
Kimche, and the like, but ai that time |
didn’t knaw the names.

And what McFarlane wanted was the Presi-
dent's authorily to make this contact, to
sce if it could be developed and what it
could lead 0. There was 4 discussion of
the importance of lran as far as s srate-
gic location . .. and the fact thar
scemed worthwhile to McFaslane that tus
be pursued.

The President, after asking quite a few
questions—and 1 would say the discussion
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lasted for perhaps 20, 25 minutes—assent-
ed and said yes, go ahead. Open u up.

{Regan 4-5) According 10 McFarlane, afier this
meeting, he then conveyed 1o Kimche the
President’s openness to a dialogue with Iran.
{McFarlane (1) 9)

The Secretary of State testified before the
House Foreign Affairs Commiutee that he first
heard of this matter while flying between Perth
and Canpberra, Australia, on July 14, 1985
McFarlane reported that Kimche had mer him
secretly the week before,

and had ashed hum o condirm thas the U S
wds ui Lot ununeresied wy puiasuing the o
opetatudl rdlocs propused o i bodeen
Mi Mobailaoe wroie that he had 3o con-
lwied He then stated thet an wnnamed
cmissary had tuday” rcupened the naue
on behall of the Prume Muuster *¢ '1he cm-
Byary sdid that i 4 recant mceang be-
tween lsrachs and sume ramans, adduding
Mr. Kimche, o Mr Al Schwismner, and Mr.
Ghorbaniar, the lranwns had panied a
pessimusiic view ol dran They allegedly
said “thewr hope and that ot what they por-
wayed as a signidicant cadre of the hierar-
chy was 10 develup o dialogue with the
West." and emphatally with the United
States The lsraehis had allegedly pressed
“for some tangible show’ of ihe bramans’

' Thas Ueniarery” apparsily war Schwaumcr A note from
MiFarlane's secreary, dated Juby 11, 1985, contancd the lolive-
W
IMP [Poindeater] talbed with Michael Ledeen thu morung
aboul an urgent mcasage Irom Peres doi Mobarlane whuh Al
Schwinmmes, a [twish: Anperuan whe provides kots of awncy
1o Peies, wanis (0 deliver 10 REM [MdFarlancf
Mokatlane’s scuiciary sepuricd (har Ledeen had lunch wuh
Sthwunmer on July 1 and kel the [ulowug message far Moba-
lane:

"It is indeed 4 qncasage [rum Prune Munster ul lsracl dnoa

toliow-un 10 the prvair tonversaton he had last weck when

David Kunche was hete s s eatremedy ufgeit snd enirencly

snnuve and o regarda the maticr he 1old Dasad bie sy

Eug o rane midi the Prevedein e situaiees s bitils

mcntally changed oo iie beiet a1 mige eepdam 1o

b Laey sumr W wudl adless dus decawmse boay aeas

LI LT LT R T LTV VIR N F Y PURNPITIN g

wiikay mussiiing  The o ey ical Buig aul 6o pobi e el bl

[T

Mbs b gd batir stvabe a4l vt fub smnd bbb B merukl we ) dabecn
Satwdder July JY Motailane v desd el ielad coaudumns dhies seecs
sy Mo badbaiie sl shor Braard dof suppused e casetary wmag
Schiwimmet, thai b ded et neet hun aod (hat he poubabily re
ceowed Schwanunes's meviage higm Ledeon (e barlane (23 4} On
July 13, 1he Frendent underwens bus cuuer uperaion

ability 10 deliver, and were purportedly
told “that they could in the short term
achieve the release of the seven Americans
held in Lebanon.” Bui, Mr. McFarlane re-
peated, in exchange’ the lranians had said
they would need to show “some gain" and
sought specifically the delivery from Israel
of 100 TOW missiles. “But they stated,”
Mr. McFarlane coantinued, “that the larger
purpose would be the opening of the pni-
vale dialogue with a high level American
official and a sustained discussion of U.S.-
Iranian relations,"

Mr. McFarlane reviewed the “imponder-
able questivns” raiscd by this proposal, in-
cluding “our wrrorisin pulicy agasnt nogo-
tatiug with 1crmonsis (notwitdaianding the
thin vel provided by hiracl 45 the (ut vul
on s speabic matice)  He nouted tha
our lung termn INerest was U MaiLaining
the passibiity ol renewed nes, and the un-
poriance of deng somecthing soun abuw
the seven hostages. He sad: “"We could
make 4 tentanive show of micrest wihiow
commitment and see what happened or we
cuuld walk away. Oa balance | tend w
favor going ahcad.” He said the enussary
was leaving soon, asked for a promipt
signal, and that he would “awau and abide
fully by your dedisions.™

[ rephed by a message tu Mr. McFarlane
that same day that [ agree with you that
we should make a temative show of mter-
esl without commitment. I do not think we
could justily turming our backs on the
prospect of gaining the celease of the other
seven hoslages and perhaps developing an
ability 10 renew ues with lran under a
more sensible regime—especially when
presented 1o us through the Prime Minister
of Israel.”

This positon—indicating a willingness 1o
tatk but no commument (0 pay—was Con-
astent with Aduwmsirabou pohicy ol ma-
tanng coniacd with people who nngla
eventualy provide wilormgnen ws hiclp i
ticemy hostages | poinied su however,
“the liaud thal secmis (0 acculipany so
many deals involvang anms and lran, and
ithe tomphitauons anising iom our “bless
g’ an Lsrael-lran relauouship where lsca-
el's wnterest and ours are nol necessarily

the same.” 1 suggesled that Mr. McFarlane
should give the cmissary “a positive but
passive reply.” That is, tell him that the
U.S. “is receptive to the idea of a private
dialogue involving a sustained discussion
of U.S.-Iranian relations. In other words,
we are willing to listen and seriously con-
sider any statement on this topic that they
might wish to intitiate.” I said i thought
Mr. McFarlane should manage this probe
personally, but that the two of us shouid
discuss its sensitivity and the likelihood of
disclosure after my retwrn. [ told him io
tell the emissary *‘that you and I are in
close comact and lull agreement every step
ol the way, tus 15 all the more imponant in
view of the present lack of unity and full
costdution un the lsraely side.”

iShulte. 12780, 8-10; SRB, 17-20) On July 16,
the Scuretary saw an intelbgence repon, which
wdicated that Ghorbamitas, whose name McFar-
lane had mentioned, was ' ‘a talented fabnca-
tor” " (Sholu, SRB, 20)

tn the nuddle of July, Ledeen wemt 10 Israel
ot vatanon and, toward the end of the month,
sttended a meeting with Ghorbanifar, Kimche,
Schwaminer, and Nimrodi. **[Tlo the best of my
recollecuon,” Ledeen said, this conversanon,

13 the first ume that the subject of weapons
and hostages was raised. They were rased
in the context of the future relationship
between the United States and Iran. They
were not raised separaiely as a deal or an
entity unto themselves because what Ghor-
banifar had to say, in addition o this fairly
enlightening picture of fran that he pre-
sented us with, was that there were signifi-
cant and powerful people within the gov-
ernmenl of Iran who were interested 1 im-
proving relanons  with  the  Uniled
States. . . . [A]s part of the evolution of
this relavonshup in o more positive direc-
uan lran would undenake to make ges-
tures of good faith and o demonsirate not
anily thew willmgniess bul their capaoy to
alier thewr pobicies in a dirediion which we
would consider positive, and that at the
sqie ume they would like to see on the
part of the United States a similar demon-
stration of willingness and capacity and
that the only such gesiure by the United

B-17



Bates that would convince them simulia-
.peouply that the President was personally
" invojved and committed to this policy and
that the United States would act and exert
s power in the world to do such things
would be if the United States enabled Irap
to obtain weapons which were at present
unobtainable because of the American
arms embargo, and that the sorts of ges-
tures that the Iranian government would
make to demonstrate its good faith and ca-
pacity included weighing in to try to obtain
the release of hostages in Lebanon, but
also other things, including statements by
leaders of the governmeni which we would
sec clearly were moving in that direcuon

(Ledeen (1) 22-23) After the mecung. Ledeen,
Kimche, Schwimmer, and Numsrods decsded tha

somecone should repont the conversauon 1o

;lcFarI.anc. which Kunche offered 10 do. (Jd a1
4)

At the end of July, Furmark and Ghorbanular
met Yaacov Nimrodi, an anms merchami and
former lsracli Defense Attache in Tehran,
Amiram Nir, Advisor (o Prime Minisicr Peres
on countenierrorism, and Adolph Schwimmer,
a long-time arms merchant and, since Sepiem-
ber 1884, Special Advisor to Prime Mimster
Peres, at one of Nimrodi's homes in Tel Aviv.
(Furmark 40; Charles Allen reported that Fur-
mark said Nir attended this meeting. C. Allen
to DC/DDCI, 10/17/86) Funmark, who was
not within earshot of the conversation, possibly
because the lsraelis were concerned that Fur.
mark might be a CIA agent, (Furmark at 41),
provided oaly a sketchy account to the Board.
He said that they discussed a program "o
begin o open up relations between the U.S.
and lran.” (Id at 37) He heard no mention of
hostages or armos, but did overhear a reference
to “spare parts.” (/d) But he said,
the US. had agreed, the lsraelis had
agreed, the Iranians had agreed 1o do
some business, but nobody would trust
cach other. The Ianuas would not pay for
anything unul they recewved aind nspected
the goods, becaune, I've heard on previous
transactions nvolving even fuodsiuifs and
swufl they would pay in advance and they
opened up the crates and there were rocks
in it. So they became very sheli-shocked
about paying in advance for anything.
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And of course the Israelis would not send
anything until they were paid in advance.

S0 now you had a stalemate. Khashaggi
then said, well, 1 will trust the Iranians, I'll
trust the Esraelis, I’ll trust the Americans,
I'll put the money up.

So the lirst transaction I understand was a
million dollar wansaction which he deposit-
ed inlo a numbered account which the [s-
raclis told him 10 put the money in. The fi-
nancing operates like this: He puts a mil-
lion doilars inio an accoumt. and then
Ghorbanifar gives lum what we will call a
post-dated chexh fos a smlhion doblars 10 hus
Mivuimt & Licdd dusse And then alies
the shupsncni s nude. the lramans Uit
the gouds. and they then pay Ghorbandar's
scivunt &l UCreda Sunsse Ghorbamibar teils
Khashogin the check i3 good, deposu .

And that s how the financing was done all
throughouw

{1d. ai 5-b)

Furmark apparently told much the same siory
1o Charles Alien, the CIA's Nauonal Intelli-
genee  Ollicer  for  Counverterrorism,  and
George Cave, a CIA annuitam and expert on
Iran, who met with Furmark on Ocdiober lo,
1986. Based v Furmaik's account, Allen con-
cluded that

[t}he wdea of provding lran with mebitdry
cgupment in exchange for Amenican hos-
lages—seen as a way ol conunencing a dua-
logue with Iran—also onginated in the
summer of 1985 and he along with Cho-
banifar [sic], traveled to Tel Aviv in August
1985, . . . Subsequently, arms were deiiv-
ered to Tehran in September 1985, a devel-
opment that resulied in the release of Rey-
erend Benjamin Werr.

(C. Allen 10 DCI/DDC), 10/17/86)

Kunche called Mibarlane July 30 s0d saw
hun August 2 According 1o Mot ariaine R e
sard that Batsanjain, Musavi ihe Pryar Miiss
ter. and hhaincnes  ihe Poesdont  hadg been
precocupued by dosnestin allaws boi abour 4
month, and. therelore, had nog putiued the
hostage o Amendsn wsues dunng that periud
Rafsangam in pasticular had been dealing with
“factional vulnerabilly.”  (McFarlape () 10y

———

Now, Kimche said, they found it more difficult
than they had thought to influence their friends
in Lebanon. The Iranians were “more con-
cerned about the bona fides of our side and
specifically about whether or not we would pro-
vide weapons right away, not for a threat, not
for expanding the war, but, as it was cast, for
the expansion of and consolidation of the fac-
tion with military elements, of army ﬂﬂ"ﬂtﬂll
specifically.” (/d) McFarlane informed Kimche
that he did not think it *wise or likely” that the
United States would iransfer weapons o the
[ranians, “because we had not dealt with these
people ... [ Tlhe nouon of vur giving weapons
10 peuple we did nut know, with the (rack
record belure us, was unprudent and | thought
pohucally ally " (fd a 1U-11) Whea Khe
asked what the United Siates reacion would be
if Vsrael stupped weapons 10 lran, Mckarlane
rephed by asking why lsracl would

{1ln a nuishell, [Kimche| said: Well, we in
Israel have our own interests. They are ba-
sically to ensure a stalenate of the conflict
with Iragq, but also to get the Unied Siates
back into lran, and that helps us o the
Unsted Suates' position in the Middie East
1s strengthened; and separaicly, 1o reduce
the Iranian support tor terronsm, i that i3
feasible, 1s very much in our inlereu, and
so we might very well do this as a mater
of Israeli interest.

But he said: [ pose it for us doing that, be-
cause ultimately if we provide things we're
going to have to come and buy other ones,
and | need to know, are we going to be
able 10 do that or not, whether it's Hawks
or TOWSs or whatever else.

And | said: Well, that really isn’t the issue.
Israel has bought weapons from the Uniled
States for years and always will, and so you
dun’t need 10 asd whether you can buy
wote weapons s a2 matier ol whether or
not the suppon ol the ides ot providing

weapuns to anybody o bran asin pobicy
verms scnsble. Bul 1 will el you vur posi-
uon

(id at 11)

A. The Principals’ Various
Views: August 1985

In his meeting with the Board on January 2.6.
1987, the President said that someume in
August he approved the shipment of arms by
Isracl to lran. He was uncertain as (o the pre-
cise date. The Presidemt also said that he ap-
proved replenishment of any arms transferred
by Israel to Iran. McFarlane’s testimony of jan-
uary 16, 1986, before the Senate Foreign Rela-
tions Commiitee, on which the President heavi-
ly relied, takes the same position. This porion
of McFarlane’s 1estunony was specifically high-
highted on the wopy of the testimony given by
the Piesident 1o the Board.

In his mecung wih the Board on February
Li, e Prendent sad that he and Regan had
gusie vver the mauer vepeatedly and lha'l
Regan had 4 firm recolleciion that the Presi-
dent had not authonzed the August shipment
i advanue. In response 10 a question from the
Board, the President said he did not aulhorizr:
the August shipment. He noted that very possi-
bly. the wransfer was brought to him as already
completed. He said that subsequently there
were anins shipments he authorized that may
have had 10 do with replenishment, and that
these could have waken place in September. A
memurandum from Peler Wallison, While
House Counsel, on which the President heavily
relied, stated that the President had been "sur-
prised” that the Israclis had shipped arms to
Iran in September, and that this fact caused the
President to conclude that he had not approved
the transler in advance.

On February 20, 1987, the President wrote
Chairman Tower:

In trying to recall events that happened
¢ighteen months ago I'm afraid thai 1 let
nysell be influenced by others' recollec-
nons, 1ol my own,

I have no personal nutes or records to
help my recollecnon on this marter. The
only honest answer is to state that iry as 1
might, 1 cannot recall anything whaisoever
about whether I approved an Isracli sale in
advance or whether I approved replenish-
ment of lsrachi stocks around August of
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1985. My anawer therefore and the simple
trygh is, 1 don't remember—period.”

Ip his frst inierview, McFarlane told the
Board he reporicd to the President within two
or three days of meeting Kimche on Auguse 2.
On McFarlane's recommendation, he told the
Board, an informal National Security Planning
Group (“NSPG") meeting occurred while the
President was convalescing. The Secretaries of
State and Defense, the Director of Central In-
telligence, Admiral Poindexter, Regan, McFar-
lane, and poassibly the Vice President altended.
Neither the Vice President, nor McFarlanc was
cenain about his attendance. (W.C. McFadden
I, Memorandum for the Record, 12/29/86;
McFarlane (1} 17) McFarkine remesnbered uus
meeting because the Preudent was weanng pa-
Jjamas. McFariane recalled

a very active argument, really, for 4 good
reason, about the wisdom of daing this
and very sharp disagreements on the pan
of the Secrewary of Defense, really, and 1o a
lesser extent bul emphatically by the Secre-
tary of Siate, but for different rea-
sons. . . . [T)he President had available (o

him very vivid, forceful, thorough expres-
sion of views of his Cabinet officers -
volved on this. And it was argued in policy
terms, both the issuc of a dialogue with
Iran, the legitimacy of these people, the
legal authorities for—this was not the
United States doing something; it was
Israel doing something, but nonetheless
for involvement of U.S. weapons with U.S.
endorsement, which is an important policy.

The legal ramificauons, the political risks,
the mauter of Congressional oversight, and
then basically the probabilities of, given all
these {actors, of this having any promise at
all,

{Alt the end of it the President said, well,
as he had before, that his inclination was
not to have any U.S.-owned weapons or
our inventory mvolved in ihis, but that he
believed that 4 was possible uver nme, if
these people’s standing and authoruy and
inlicnuons were reformust, o you will, that
he could see the need 10 support them,
and with weapons, although at the ume he
said, right now I'm inclined not w have
any 1.§. weapons involved, U.S.-owned,
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but if Israel, whose judgment on this is
based on a track record of dealing with
these people, believes that it is sensible to
do it and does transfer weapons, then ulti-
mately their wish to buy replacements we
should honor and we should sell o them.

{McFarlane (1) 12-13)

Regarding hoswages, McFarlane told the
Board he iried faithfully to summanze
Kimche's message:

that while the Iranians had iold hun (o say
that they undersiood they nceded 1o dem-
onsiraie thew bona hides and they thought
the hustage ickease was the best cvidence
of that, asd whde the anus, the matics ol
anns, war usicnmbly assocaied wuh the
biansans’ peticpuon ol vulnecabiluy, that
you would Le foolish sot w recogiuae that,
fust of all, that 0wy Le just an 4rudice, de-
liberatcly to cngage in & hostage los arms
deal, and even af sy, of they are dealing
i good Lath, the peicepuons of people of
guuod will will be that that s the de fado
conditwn.

The President understood that and he
said. Well, you'ie night, the nsks of nisun.
derstanding are gquite hugh. and ihe gues-
ton i3 are these people valid interlocutor-
ies or nut, deahing in guod laith or nod
And he says. We have no way ol judging o,
really, except the track record of the past
seven years, and i s only this report,
really, and other 1hungs, the corroburaung
work we have done, focused upon inteili-
gence hard copy that had been provided by
these Iranians 1o the Israehs and lsrael and
ulimately 10 us—that 4 was basically—an
order of battle is the wrong word. It was
the names of the leadership of the lranian
anmied forces from about the batiabon level
up, and that s nothing novel, but wdennldy-
ing those who weie diposed 10 suppornt
these clements and thoawe who were oot

Separately the cotmplesioin ab the governe
wmcit i both the Frune Minsster s ollue
and the Forogn Munsier’'s uthoe, il

Majlis, again wdennlyyg those were—well,
they were dentitied i one, one {sic], two,
or three hines or factions, basially extrem-

ists from left to right and where people
stood on the political map.3!

Well, all these things were considered by
the President and, in a word, his decision
was no U.S.-owned arms or U.8. transfers;
if Israel chooses 10 do this and ultimately
they seek replacements from us they can
buy them from us; and yes, finally, we are
interested in a political meeting with [rani-
ans.

Well, I conveyed this to Mr. Kimche, and |
was very precise in saying: The purpose
here 43 a polincal agenda; the vulnerabidiy
and nsk as a percepuon of something far
dulerent, whuch s anus lor hosiages

(/d aL 14-16}

On January 16, 1987, McFarlane gave the
Senate Forewgn Relations Comnutiee a suine-
what diflerent accoumt from the one he had
provided to the Board i hus lirst interview. He
sad:

As | say, it began in July with the President
convening each of the peuple on ihe
Council, hearing thew advice, not deciding,
bul thinking about it. Those same individ-
uals meeting singly or in groups with
him—again, the Secreiary of State and De-
{ense—and over time in the course of
about a ten-day period, late July, carly
August, the President coming to a conclu-
sion 1o authorize a specific awhority for
another country to do something. . . . The
President viewed the decision as a decision
to grant his approval for the actions of an-
other government, although indeed ulii-
mately that government would come 1o us
again, Israel, 1o buy replacement arms.
Now, he communicated that to me, and
when he did by telephone, 1 said 1o him,
Mr. President, as you know, your Secredar-
ies of State and Delensc are oppused io
this  He says, yes, | undeosiand i, and
provided his owi cxplanation ob the basis
lue hus deamon.

Y b ecterenac (o pobuscal Uluies o ban and 1o uduunanon
hwin 11 anag batuig uembers of the  lies” woth then paliical
Peletomes u conustens wub 3 documon. datcd Februany 3,
1985, prepared by, or wilh the assitance o, Ghorbanilar, (Ghor-

52). whach Khashoggi scnn McFarlane on fuly 1, 1985,

Then I notified the other National Security
Council members, the Secretary of State
and Defense and the others, and on those
occasions heard once more the opposition
of it from the Secretarics of State and De-
fense. And 1 encouraged them 10 be back
in touch with the President, because you're
quite right—the communications through
channels that are nol always open can lead
to ambiguities and misunderstanding. And
I know in at least one case, I believe the
Secretary of State—perhaps more than
once-~after  the decision, prompily
though—reaflirmed his concermns about i,
even though out of this country.

(Mibarlane, 1716787, 18-19) The President's
olticwal schedule nuies an August 6 meeting at-
1caded by the Ve President, the Secretary of
Delensc, the Chairman of the Joyn Chiefs of
Stall, the President’s Chiel of Staff, and McFar-
lane. (Ellen M. Junes, Presidenual Dharist, to
Jay B Siephens, 1/24/87)

McFarlane told the Board on February 19,
1987:

[Utpon rewurning from the hospital, if you
wanl o proceed in that direction, [the
Presiden:] did convene his advisors, the
members of the NSC, and discuss this
malter.

As 10 when concretely he made his deci-
sion, | have to say, Mr. Chainman, I don't
know and there is no written record of it.
The basis on which I say that it had 1o
have happened in the final week of July or
the brst week of August is, first of all, my
own memory of the sequence of events
and what we 1alked about in that period.
And there are, and I think my schedule has
been given to you, six meetings where he
met with his NSC peopie, all or more than
one, between July 22 and August 7, | be-

heve.

Now on .t least two occasions he discussed
this matter with snore than me, with al
least, un one occasion, with the Secretary
of State and the Secretary of Delense, the
DCJ, the Vice President and Don Regan.

General Scowcroft: All together at once?
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Mr. McFarlane: Yes. But my recollection is
that there was disagreement on the maiter
and he did not make a decision at that
meeting, and that only after a matter of
days, but within two or three, did he call
me directly and state that he had consid-
ered it and he wanted to go ahead and
specifically that if Tsrael decided that it
wanted to sell weapons 1o Iran that 1srael
could buy replacements from the United
States.

Now | have to stress that I don't know,
perhaps it has been minimized in the cov-
erage of this 3o far, but at the meeting it is
fair to say that though there was opposi-
tion by the Secretary of State and Delense
that cven those who favored it stressed the
matter that what was bewng approved was
something 10 be done by someonc else—
Isracl—and not the United States.

And it was seen to be an authonzation, 4
license if you will, for Israel o undertake a
plan and thai authonity given 10 me on the
telephone, and 1 shared in my recollection
with the Secretary of State also by phone,
and he expressed his opposition. And I en-
couraged him to be back in touch with the
President on it, and [ believe he was.

{(McFarlane (2) 9-11})

McFarlane noted that “generally speaking the
President would reach decisions only at the
time of a meeting only if there was unanimity.
Where there was disagreement it was his habit
almost never to make the decision there but 1o
vlﬂ;il and then convey it to me later on.” (/d at

)

Regan remembered that the meeting was in-
formal, without an agenda or briefing papers. It
occurred in late July or early August, afier the
President returned from the hospital.

Bud [McFarlane] briefed at this and talked
about the Isracli connection here and how
the Israclis were dealing with the Iranians
in an effort 10 secure the release of many
Iranian Jews who were irapped in that
country, and they were trying to get ihem
out into lsrael, and that the lsrachis may
have some type of arms sales going with
the Iranians.

No specific mention that we would be
asked to do that, although it was suggesied
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at that time that we might have a chance of
geuting our hostages out through the Irani-
ans. But the [ranians were sure to demand
something in exchange for that, and it
might be arms.

I recall at that time the President express-
ing concern over this one-for-one type of
swap and not wanling to get into amms
sales through people that he at this point
did not have enough assurance from Bud
that they were (a) reliable or (b) could de-
liver on anything, and that we should go
slow on this but develop the contact,

(Regan 7-H)

The Searetany of Detense recalled o mecting
4l the Fyesudent » resudenie atier he tetumed
frum the hospiial

| argued very lorcelully against the whole
idea, saying that | didn’t think 1t could
work. 1 thoughi there were all knds of
nsks, that the transler ol arms was obw-
ously sumething we shouldn't cven think
about doing because we were urging every
other couniry, and 1 had been urgmng
|other countnes] where we had found
sume  transters gomng, that this  just
shouldn’t be done, that this would under-
cut everything we were going 1o do in the
Mid East and everything else. George
Shuliz made many oi the same points. My
clear impression was that the idea was set
aside, or finished, that that was the end of
it. The President seemed 1o agree.

(Weinberger 6) The Secretary of Defense said
Israeli arms transfers to Iran were not dis-
cussed. "Ii was all should we sell arms to
Iran?" He recailed no discussion about resup-
plying lsrael if it shipped arms to Iran, but
noted that “McFarlane could have mentioned
that the Israelis did this." ({d a1 7)

The Secreiary of State tesified on December
16, 1986, and subsequently tald the Board that

On August b, 1985 duning une of my 1egu-
lar mectings with the President. st whuh
Mr  MdFarlane was  also presens. Mr
McFarlane said that he had again mec with
Mr. Kunche who reporied that the Iranians
and lsraehs had held three meeungs,
during which the Iranians said Iran was in

a shambles and a new government was in-
evitable. The military and the people, the
Iranians reportedly said, were “still pro-
American,” and “want a dialogue with
America.” They also wanted arms from us,
and wanted 100 TOW missiles from Israel.
All would be totally deniable, The Tranians
said they could produce four or more hos-
tages and wanted a meeling somewhere. [
staied my negative opinion fully. I do not
recall the President having decided at that
meeting to approve the Iranian offer. 1
noted then that Mr. McFarlane was pursu-
ing the matter. 1 assumed this was on the
basis we had discussed, with nu comma-
ments. Mr. MoFarlane said thaye Foreign
Minuster Shamir had 1old Mr. Kimche tha
he wanted 10 khow cxphcitly whether | was
mdormed. At this pomn el that 1 was
fully lormed. As far as arms sdles were
concerned, | said m the meeung that 1t's a
mustake, 1 said it had to be stopped.

{Shuhg, 12786, 11; SRB, 21-24)

B. Post-Mortem

According 1o the NSC's Historical Chronolo-
gy and the CIA Inspector General, Kimche
called McFarlane on August 22 10 ask abow
United States policy with regard 1o arms ship-
ments to lran. McFarlane

clevated the question to Lthe President (and
1o the Secretanes of State and Defense,
and the Director of Central Inteiligence).
The President stated that, while he could
envision providing materiel support to
moderate elements in Iran if all the West-
e hostages were freed, he could not ap-
prove any transfer of military materiel at
that time-period. This position was con-
veyed to the Israeli diplomat.'? ({d. a1 43-
45)

VE L b couiae s kg sbesaripliom ol the onigins of the B
vemtaen 1980 chronologies Mo barlane sand That modives o theai
whangal duniing the g ess He sasd that a0 e begumunyg 1N
vember 4 ) Poasdenien o sctwin telbooied i cosoenn fur
the buntager amd hope that sabers than Jasobaen woubl be re-
leased 1Mobailane (31 42 lacee around Noveatr 18 mben
Mot arlane was sabed b lend 4 hand ahe diglung group s

prusapsl obpeciine, probably the prunany objcctive, was 1w
descnbe 4 sequence ol events tha would dstance the Pres-
dent leom she uuual approval of the Iran arms sale, distance
hum dron it 1o blur dis associatbwon wath i

Regan told the Board that he called no dis-
cussion of the issue from August 6 until after
Labor Day, 1985.

1 don’t recall anything further about this
until after the President returned from the
ranch, which would have been after Labor

The November 18 chronology, which I indeed helped pre-
pare, was nol a lull and completely accurate account of those
events, but rather 1hus effort o blur and leave ambiguous the
President’s role. The language was intended. § would say, to
convey the impression that the United Slaes had not ex-
pressly authonzed the sale esther [of] arms direaily from the
Lhted Siates or by the Israelis on behalf of the United
Seates, but, second, 1o presesve the abulity (o say that if Israel
wele Lo ke such sabes that they could expect 10 purchase
fephaccment news Jon the United Sianes.
And §oibank that e an acoutate reflooion of how that 1 case,
Now o was duiie a8 4 Loeling menio 10 be used by peaple
whe mondd beset the Preadent pror 1o dhe nexl day’s press
vdeicame sl wown pudgemcin expriied 0 go through a
tusmdrt o ueratians belode i sedched that pont. But thad is
W sopirisetn ool thie ¢ luniare i whids that session occurred and
e wtent ol als Gulcome
trenctal yowotodt Lo pul i baldly, could one say that the
watcist o s was 144 sftae b put the burden on the lsrae-
Lis e W idn i wpprine o, they went ofl and did t—to soften
that by the comment about 1eplemshmeta?
Ia ather words, f you're going to say that the Presidem
dudn’y amhonee w, enly 1w thungs can happen-=thal you
vsdd the bsrachs to do o on ther own, or that the Liraelis did
u un their own
Mt Mctarlane Well, T ihink your porirayal of w as you origi-
wally cast w3 an aturdle desisipuon. I was an intent w
give the unpression that Istael had 1aken the action.
My Dawson Why did Puisdexter, though, at that pomt {ocus
woon tyng o datance the President rom the prior approv-
at in advance of the Lseach shupmenis? Why was thal, even at
il Junciuie. o ImpUELant an issue?
Mr McFarlane, Well, bear i mind 1 think this 13 an impor-
tatt part of 1, that before this ever vecurred he had already
himsell on the record acknowledged that the President did
appruve i advawe, aod that is in the Whie Huouse trun-
scnpis. Don Regan did, 1oo.
Mr. Dwson: You're relernng there 1o the backgrounders
that Pomndexier and Regan have uy advance of the November
18——
Mr McFarlane: [ believe that's right,
Mr Dawsun: And would you also add to that thar the Presi-
dent had already demed prior approval? | mean, was tha
also sumething else which you would pul into the context of
that?
M1 MiFasbane Weli, oy daflicoll tu hazmomize those posi-
twis That 18 ddear But the President’s pusiwon, which 1
ik did oastepieses thngs—I'n oot suie Gaung-wise
which statetent you aic kg ahout
Mr Bowson Well, you had savd earhes ——
Mr M Farlane Yes, amd those reindarks were cast at a lme
when they were sull ielying o1 rnostly an the hope hat there
were siull hustages that were goang 1o come oul.
Mr Ddwson. This i nght aker dre public disclosure?
Mr. MiFatlane: Yes.

{Hustorical Chronalogy 5. &f CIA/IG Chronology 3)
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- Day in 'B5. He had a long vacation then
. because they wanted him to take more
time 1o rest from the operation.

Al that time—again this was at a normal
9:30 meeting, not al a special meeting—
McFarlane informed the President tha
indeed the Israelis had sold arms to the
Iranians and that they hoped to get some
of our hosiages as well as some Jews from
Iran out as a result of this. This would
have been early September.

Now I recall at that meeting the President
being upset at the fact that arms had been
sold by the Israelis, American arms—and
“upset” I think is the proper word; it
wasn't real anger, but it was sort of, you
know, well, why did they do tha; how
come we didn’s know? That type of thing—
and McFarlane explaining that the Israchs
simply had taken it upen themaclves to do
this.

But the President ai that 1ime did not indi-
cate that he wanted 1o make a big deal ow
of it. It was done. It had been done. There
was a possibility of a hosiage coming ou.
He decided to leave it alone, just accept
the fact thas it was done, leave it there.

1 don't recall anything else happening,
except 1 believe that Benjamin Weir did
come oul at that lime, if I'm not mistaken,
or shorly thereafier.

{Regan 8-9)

Secretary Shuliz testificd to the same effect
on December 16, 1986, as did Secretary Wein-
berger. (Shultz, 12/86, 11; Weinberger 7)
Ledeen told the Board that, when he returned
to Washington in the middle of August and re-
poried to McFarlane on his meetings in Israel,
McFarlane said “'that the President had decided
1o go ahead with the test of the sort thas
Kimche had described—which is thai we would
authorize the Israelis to ship a quantity of
weapons to Iran and we would see whether the
Iranians followed through on their demonstra-
tions of good faith and capacities and so
forth.” (Ledeen (1)27) According to informa-
tion provided by the White House Counsel, the
President spoke to McFartane by ielephone on
August 23. Ledeen recalled that “all Bud said
io me was the President has said that it's okay
to tell them that. It's a go, And there wasn't
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any more detail than that.,” (/4. at 31) Accord-
ing to Ledeen, this statement meant that Israel
had American approval to ship TOWs to Iran.
({d. at 32) Ledeen assumed it meant that the
United States would resupply the Israelis for
the TOWs 12

In any event, he conveyed this message to
Kimche as his presumption. (/d. at 31) At the
same time, Ledeen thought Secretary Shultz
displeasure with his trips “sounded like a
simple standard turf irritation rather than any-
thing substantive. It didn't seem 10 have any-
thing 10 do with policy, There was no policy
anyway." ({d. at 29)

On January 16, 1987, McFarlane recalled tha

the President’s approval came i Auguat of
1985 Ihe authorty was that o hracl were
to sebl anus 1o lian and uwlumately came 10
the United States 10 1eplace them, thal
they could do that, so Yong a3 the quantity
shipped and the character of the weapons
wouldn't alier the complex of the situation
in the war or contnbute to terrorism.

(McFarlane, 1716/87, 13)

In his third interview with the Board, M(Far-
lane said.

I recall the President calling e and 1
while 1 couldnt give you verbaum quotes
or near i, his pount, his opening point was
about that matter we discussed the other
day, the hostages. Well, the matter was a
very big matter and in terms of purposes
and so forth, but it was expressive of the
kind of motives thai | think that lend some
urgency to his call.

He called and said: I think we ought 10 get
on with that. Let's go ahead with that. And
that, frankly, was more the way the Presi-
dent dealt with an issue, as opposed to

** Accordang 1o the “Maxupum Yersion,”

lon August 22, 1985 the U, through the U S cnicen w-
termedury [Ledeco. whom the Maximum Vedsion wendilied
by name and dewnbed as "2 privaie Amers an onzen’”| a
quicsed W an Juaeh debvery of mibuary wuggeiey 1904
TOW 16 Irhuan Wr were subseyuently adosmed that e
delivery had laben plaae o i cod o Augusi ihaugh we
wtte mas amare of the shipisent a0 ihe Lune o way made | 4
Woygrtha flad b s b erh opfiotn was bused i 4 devy
o at the highes level e explon exanting Esrach hinaels
with Tehran i an cilut w establish an Asbercan Hrategac
dialogue wich the Jranan government

{Maxumum Vernon a 4)

saying: well, I like Option 1, 2, 3 or 4. But
I did then spell it out, and I said: Mr.
President, what’s involved here is the sale
by Israel of weapons and ultimately them
coming to us to buy replacements. And he
says: Yes, [ understand that. And 1 said:
Do you understand, of course, now that
George and Cap are very much opposed to
this and they have very good reasons?

And he said: Yes, I do, but I draw a difter-
ence between our dealing with people that
are not terrorists and shipping arms to ter-
rorists. And I'm willing to defend that.
And he even said something like: I will be
glad to 1ake all the heat for that.

But the pomt about the opposiuon from
the Cabmnet ollicess was made vnce more,
and he said. Yes, | wnderstand bhow they
feel, but I want 1o go ahead with this.

{(McFarlane (3) 17-18)

IV. The NSC Staff, Arms,
Hostages, and Finances

Whatever the President may or may not have
decided on August 6, or subsequently, mem-
bers of the NSC stafl began in August 1985 wo
become involved in missions having to do with
the shipment by Israel and the United States of
advanced weapons 1o Iran and the release of
American citizens kidnapped in Lebanon,

A. The First Shipment of
TOW Missiles: August-
September 1985

While Ledeen’s account is not aliogether sat-
isfactory on the point, and McFarlane did not
mention the episode to the Board, when
Ledeen reported on his August meelings in
tsrael, McFarlane apparently decided to estab-
lish secure telephone communication with
Kimche. Ledeen flew 1o London on August 20,
carrying an elementary code for Kimche, which
he delivered the next day. (ledeen {1} 28)
Kuiihe gave Ledeen docuancnts for MoFarlane
vbtamed om Ghorbatar, Ac this or anulhc_r
aiceting, Kimche explained that “in his experi-
ence with lramans there was no way that Iran
would dehver everything that w had promised,
that whatever happened would be less than
what they were promising, but that he thought

that even something significantly less than what
they had promised would still be significant
and that he was basically positive about giving
it a wy.” (fd. at 37)

In late August or early September, North, 1o
whose office Ledeen was attached, (id. at 44),
was directed to prepare “contingency plans for
extracting hostages—hostage or hostages—
from Lebanon.” (/d at 46)'* On August 29
and 30, the NSC stafl arranged for the State
Department to issue a passport in the name of
“William P. Goode” for North to use on “a
sensitive operation to Furope in connection
with our hosiages in Lebanon.” (North to
McFarlane, 8/30/85; Martin to Plaut, nd.;
M« Farlane PROF note to Martin, B/30/85,
17 40 34; Shuliz, 12786, 12) In addition, on
August 31, 1985, Pundexter established a pri-
vaie method of wueroffice computer communi-
cation with North, preventing normal screening
by the Execuive Secreiary of the NSC. (Poin-
dexter  PROF  note, "PRIVATE BLANK
CHECK”, to North, 8/31/85, 13:26:58) North
asked Charles Allen, National Intelligence Offi-
cer for Counterterronsm, on September 12 1o
increase inielligence efforts against Iran and
Lebanon, and informed him that Buckley might
be released in the next few hours or days. (C.
Allen 4-5; CIA/IG Chronology 3)

When 1he first information was received on
September 13, Alten asked for

White House guidance on how thfis intelli-
gence] should be disseminated. North,
afier consulting with Nationa] Security Ad-
visor McFarlane, directfed] that dissemina-
tion be limited Lo Secretary Weinberger,
the Dfirector of] Clenwal] I{ntelligence]
{or Deputy Director McMahon), McFar-
lane, and himself. North [said] that McFar-
lane had directed that no copy be sent to
the Secretary of State; and that he, McFar-
lane, would keep Secretary Shultz advised
orally on the NSC project.

{CIA/1G Chronolagy at 4; C, Allen 6) '8

Ve edeen dold the Bodrd hat he thought this epasode marked
the hirst ume Nosth heard abou the program. {Ledcen (1) 46;
Ledecn {2) T4)

'® The onginal distribution bist provided included Vice Admaral
Moteau of the JCS siall, not Secaciary Wonberger. When the
Secretary saw an intelligence repart perisining w this program in
the fall of 1985, he nsisted that he receive all such documents.
s milnary assistant, General Powell, reponed that “the White
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* On August 30, 1985, Israel shipped 100
TOW missiles 1o Iran; on September 14, Israel
shipped an additional 408 missiles. There is
some evidence that this shipment was returned
to larael, in whale or in par, because it con-
tained defective or otherwise unacceptable mis-
siles, and that Israel replaced and reshipped
the weapons. {Furmark 6-7) Ghorbanifar told
the Board that he accompanied the shipment of
100 TOWS3s to Iran and that in exchange for
these weapons, the Iranians gave a “guarantee”
that they would neither engage in any “wrong-
doing’’ nor support terrorism. (Ghorbanifar 46)
Israel sold Iran 400 TOWSs in exchange for
Weir, Ghorbanifar recalled; when the plane ar-
rived in Tabriz, cight exra TOWs were
aboard. (/Jd a1 49; 100) Ledeen 10ld the Board
that be did “not believe that either we or they™
saw the August and Sepiember shipments as
two ransactions. (Ledeen (2) 27-28)

In the second week of September, Kimche
called McFarlane with the news that a hostage
would be released, and that he expecied all the
hostages 1o be released soon. McFarlane prob-
ably relayed this message 10 the President, Vice
President, Secretaries of State and Defense, Di-
rector of Central Intelligence, and Regan.
{McFarlane (1)} 18-19} The Director of Central
Intelligence repornedly connecied this release
with diplomatic efforts in Damascus and
Tehran aimed at resoiving the hostage prob-
lem. (CIA/1IG Chronology a1 4; Casey to
Shuliz/McFarlane, 8/16/85; Sigur 10 McFar-
lane, 9/19/85) Reginald Bariholomew, the
American Ambassador in Lebanon, reported on
September 4 that “North was handling an op-
eration that would lead to the release of all
seven hostages. [A U.S.] team had been de-
ployed to Beirui, we were told. Ambassador
Bartholomew had been aleried directly by the
NSC and would assist.” (Shultz, 12/86, 12) The
Director of Central Intelligence told his Deputy
and Chiefl of Operations thai “the Israelis were
doing something and they believed as a pant of
the ouicome of an affair the Israelis were in
some of the hostages could be released,” but
that the [sraelis did not want the CIA to be
“noufied.” (George 3) Since 1984, the CIA had
regarded Ghorbanifar as untrusiworthy, {Cave
3-5)

House 10ld [the rebtapng agency] that those |1epurs) were o
10 be duwnbuled to anybody except the White House.” (Wew-
berger 8)
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Meanwhile, Ledeen met Ghorbanifar,
Kimche, Nimrodi, and Schwimmer in Paris on
September 4. Ledeen told the Board tha

[t}lhe bulk of this conversation was given
over to the issue of future relations and
future cooperation between the United
Swates and Iran. And from time to time
Ghorbanifar, Schwimmer and Nimrodi
would sit down and start talking about hos-
tages and weapons. And when this hap-
pened Kimche and [ would go off and talk
about the future of lran and how we
thought we were going.

(Ledeen (1) 44) According 1o Ledeen, Ghor-
banufar predwted that lranan leaders would
soon give speeches in which they did awot de-
nounce the Unued Staies. Alter the speeches,
Ghorbandar calied lLedeen to ask if he had
scen them. Ledeen had not, but asked North to
have the ClA md and iranslate them. Some
weeks later, the CIA confirmed Ghorbamiar's
account. Iransan leaders had anacked the Soviet
Union. "So0 we were cheered by this. | was

cheered by this.” (id a1 44-45)

On September 15, 1985, Reverend Weir, one
of the Amencans ludnapped in Lebanon, was
freed. According to the CIA Inspector General,
on September 16, the Director of Central Intel-
ligence and Charles Allen discussed recent
events, including Weir's release. The Direcior
reporied McFarlane's saying they were related
to an NSC inuative. (CLA/IG Chronology at 4)
Secretary Shultz testified that, on September
17, Ambassador Bartholomew reported that

Mr, McFarlane had said the other hostages
would be released in three batches, with-
out publicity. But Weir had no information
about the others, and in fact said he had
been released only to bring pressure for
the release of the Da'Wa prisoners. Bar-
tholomew was pessimustic. He sad four
other hostages were reportedly m the
Bewrut arca, possibly an the same plice o
Weir . Nortb was nut in the ared, but
in Washingion, DG Bartholomew said he
knew “precious hitle abour ongms ol s
ar who 1 winvolved Bud bas wid me noth-
ing of who else was involved.” He was pes-
simistic aboul getting any maore hastages.

Two months then passed during which, to
my knowledge, the Department of State
heard nothing more about any aspect of an
operation invelving arms for Iran.

{Shulz, 12/86, 12-13)

When Weir was released, McFarlane
“learned of the transfer from Israel to Iran of
508 TOW missiles.’® Well, 1 was concerned,”
he told the Board in his first interview, “'frank-
ly, because in concrete terms we, after a
month's time, we Americans weren't dealing
with Iran, Israel was, and so the central pur-
pose from my point of view of the thing wasn't
yet being fulfilled.” (McFarlane (1) 20) Teicher
lold the Board that, although his involvement
in this operation had ceased i August, alter
Weir was released, he became suspicious that
the United States was rading arms to iran for
hostages. He quenied North, who old hun that
he could say nothing about i, and McFarlane,
who said the United Siates was not trading
arms for hostages and that there was nothing
more he could say. (Teicher i14-15)

{Historical Chronology 5-6)

At one of the President’s 9:30 a.m. brnichngs
in September (early in the month, according 10
Regan (Regan 8}), McFarlane reported that the
Israelis had sold weapons 1o Iran, and a hos-
tage had been released. McFarlane told the
Board:

[Wihile I didn’t know for certain because

we had not negotiated with the lranians,

the appearance was surely there that weap-
ons were transferred and one hostage was
released, and so that certainly looked
causal. And you would have to be a fool
nat to see that, whalever our inlentions

18 The Misiorcal Chronology comawms the following pars-
graph, not contained i the Maxumum Version:

In late Sepiember, we learned that the [srachs had trans-
ferred 508 TOW nusailes to Iran and tha this dupment had
tahen place an late August JHandwnuten in the margin 30
Augs’| e laraels told us that ey undertook the 3w,
despie uut oo iions, becauar they beleved it 1o be i therr
sravegu uuorcay  bhe inacbs owenaged this cntue opet-
stwent e i lude delivery arrangesscats lunding  and irans-
peoitatins ARey duscusany thin matter mith the Prendent, i
war desided nut 10 expose this harach delivery becavse we
wainicd 16 retan the opon of exphiuting the cxaung Issaeh
channel with 1chran wn our own clon w caablish 3 sRLegic
dialogue wuh the franuan government The wial value of the
503 [UWs shipped by lsracl was esumated (o be less than
$2 mullion,

were, the reality was appareatly arms for
hostages.

And I said so to the President in the mom-
ing meeting, and it basically kind of vali-
dated what the Secretary of Defense and
State had said before, and they expressed
their concerns again on that score.

This is not an excuse, but it is I think miti-
gating. Recall now that in this period from
late September to November quite a
number of things were happening in the
governmeni, and this was about number
12 on the agenda. T mean, you had the
Soviet foreign nunister in town, three
ather loreign heads of state, the prepara-
uon of four major presidential speeches Lo
fay vut the agenda for the summit, bilater-
al, regional issues, arms  control issues,
huinan nghts 13sues, a visit to the United
Nanons by the President for a couple of
days, meeungs with i2 or 15 heads of gov-
ernment up there, and in the middle of
that the Achille 1auro.

(McFarlane (1) 20-21)

As we have seen, Regan told the Board a
somewhat different story.!™ (Sec supra pages
B23-24)

VTl 4 memworandum, daied December 5, 1985, North provid-
ed sull a duierent account of the onging of lran ams transac-
uons He wrote that “{sjeveral months ago™ an sgent involved in
shipping matenal 1o the Contras saw U S. mmilitary equipment n a
Lisbon warchouse, which inquiries identified as srael equipment
being shupped 1o Iran by a pnvale company.

A "high-level lsraeli olficial” explained thay the weapons were
being s¢ni 10 Iran in exchange for Jranen Jews, and that because
private inlermediarier were used, the transaction was not a tech-
mcal violation of United States arms export conuol laws The Is-
raelis hoped the arms sales would enhance “the crediality of
moderaie elemnents i the Iraman army'' who might become pow-
erful gh o Lish a mote re. ble Iraman government
than presenily enuted, prevent the collapse of Iran in the war
with Iray. and extniate Jews irom lran

In carly Sepiember, w osdes thal we not lake acuon to ler
runate the arms sales, the Israchs proposed that this process
be uttd 23 leverage w recover the Amencan oinzens held
hustage m Lebanon e was deaided 10 Lest the vaiidity of thus
proposal and on Sepiember 1, the liraels, using chariered
aurcraft, delive.ed 500 1 0w massies w0 Tabnz, bran. Rror o
rommenung this operation, we commitied 1o the lsmelis
that we would seil them ceplacements for the uems they sold
and delhwered 10 Iran. Two days later Reverend Benjamin
Weu was released.
“Special Project re iran,” 12/5/55)
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1 den’t recall anything else happening,
except [ believe that Benjamin Weir did
tome out at that time, if I'm not mistaken,
o.f'llhor'tly thereafier.

e

The only thing I can remember there
[about the need to restpply lsrael] is that
there was talk that probably someday the
Israelis will want us 1o replenish that, but
no specific the [sraclis have asked us to re-
place that at this time, no.

(Regan 9-10)

B. Financing the Transaction

According 1o Furmark and Ghorbanudar, Kha-
shoggy provided the bndge hnancng tor the
August and September shipmenis.i® ‘The
Americans and Israelis had limited faith in the
Iranians, and vice versa, so thai deliveries
would not be made before payment was re-
ceived, and payment would not be made before
weapons were delivered. (Ledeen (2) 25) Kha.
shoggl broke the impasse by providing financ-
ing. (Furmark 5; D. St. john, Memorandum of
Conversation with Adnan Khashoggi, 1/29/87)
In August and September 1985, Khashoggi
made two separate deposits in the amounts of
$1 million and $4 million into a Swiss accoum
designated by the Isiaelis; Ghorbanifar gave
him two post-dated drafis for $] and $4 mil-
lion, drawn on his account at Credit Suisse,
which Khashoggi would negotiate when the
weapons were delivered, and Ghorbanifar had
received payment from Iran. “{Tlhat is how the
financing was done all throughout.”” (Furmark
6) Khashoggi was repaid later than anticipated
because the first shipment of TOWs included
weapons unacceptable to Iran. (J4. at 6-7) Ac-
cording to Furmark, Khashoggi received no
money in addition to principal for these pay-
ments; for the later wransactions, he expected,
and received until May 1986, a return of 20%
above the prinapal amount to cover his ex-

18 Whercas Furmark wld the Board that be miroduied Gl
basufar 1o Xhashog wn January 1985, iFurmsrk 50 Gearge Lave
who had been statwned i I chran brtore the osverthivm of the
Shah and whe had been responsible {or Lermunating the CIAY re |
latanslup with Ghorbanufar in 1988, wold the Board iha, cun-
trary 10 repons he had seen, Ghorbanilar had wnown Khashogg
{or years. (Cave 44)
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penses and provide a return to financiers who
invested with him. (/4. at 81, 8)

Possibly in anticipation of this transaction, on
August 27, 1985, the Central Bank of Iran
{Bank Markazi) deposited $1,217,410 in the ac-
count of an Iranian official at Credit Suisse.
This individual, an official in the Prime Minis-
ter’s office, was responsible for arms procure-
ment in Europe. On September 18, four days
after the first successful shipment of TOWSs, $5
million was deposited in the Iranian’s account.
On September 14, Ghorbanifar informed the
holder of the Credit Suisse account that an air-
craft would arrive at Tabriz that evening, and
asked that a man on the plane be given a
cheque and a it of weapoms desed by lran.

V. United States Involvement
Takes a New Form: Oclober
1985-)anuary 1986

The Unned States formally adopied a pro-
gram 1o transler advanced weapons o lran i
January 1986. That siep culnunated a process
formed by, among other things, operations by
various governmenl burcaucracies and individ-
uals, and the unending pressure cicated by the
kidnappings s Lebanon, including hopes that
just one more etfort would brning the hostages
home. Each idividual, including the Preside,
had his own perspecuve of the pohucal and
strategic significance of what he knew. These
perspectives and pressures shaped the process
of Presidenuial decision and the uliunale deci-
sion itsell.

A. Prelude to the Israeli
Shipment of Hawk Missiles

According to Ledeen, North became obvious-
ly involved in operations connected with Amer-
ican hostages and relaunons with Iran at the
time of the hirst Israeh shipment of TOWs.
"“[H]}e was handling all the various intelhgence
operaucns that had been started 10 track this
thing, and 4 was all comung through han 7 1#

' ledern tobd e Boaard that M. P silase dul s el huoe et
Mol wan b b e wnvederd sl curen ol S Bt M. Ma
Bot, dadl lhicoiol o e Woaie Wl Coanaanes oo laaeih

grone raad ithat | edern iestdied that Monh wukd bune w Ssepiem
ber 1oed that  Micbatlane has 1obl me | suppiacd wonoem
handle all the uperatmud sspeis of 1hie and Mok ailane har no
knowledye, A, (hai Ledeen w domg anpthing, much fess tha
North has taken over what he s doing * (B McMahon 10}

(Ledeen (1) 51) On the other hand, North's
office **was highly compartmentalized. [Ledeen]
did not, until 1 was instrucied by Bud to do so,
I never told Ollie [North] what was going on,
and Ollie never discussed what he was doing
with me.” (Id. at 57)

Ledeen's account of the Sepiember-Ociober
1985 perniod is sketchy. For example, he told
the Board that he introduced North and
Schwimmer when Ghorbanifar, Schwimmer,
and Nimrodi came to Washington in late Octo-
ber or early November. (Id. at 50) According to
North's calendar, North had meetings on Sep-
tember 26 with Ledeen at 11:00 am. and
Schwimmer at 11:30 a.n. On Ociober 6. North
asked the CIA 10 armange for survellance of
Ghorbanifar and Nunrodi, whom he expecied
in Wastungion on the 7th. Such surveillae
wuas put in place, and, on Oclober 8, Ledeen,
North, Nomrodi, Schwiunmer, and one “Nicho-
las Kralis'' (a Ghorbanifac alias) met at 9:00
am. in the Old Executive Office Building.
{North calendar)

On October 1, 1985, Israel's air force
bombed the PLO headquarters in Tums, and
on Ocioeber 4, according to NSC stafl chronolo-
gies prepared in November 1986, the Islamic
Jihad announced the execution of Buckley in
retaliation for the bombing.2® The NSC siaff
chronologies state that “[t]his announcement
led o a senes of meeungs in Europe among
the U.S8. (CIA and NSC), [sraeli, and Iranian in-
termedianes.” (Maximum Version 4; Hislorical
Chronology 6) On October 7 the ltalian ship
Achille Lauro was hijacked by Palestinian terror-
1518,

Ledeen met Ghorbanifar, Kimche, Nimrodi
{who was fluent in Farsi), and Schwimmer in
September and October in Europe. {Ledeen (1)
46) In at least one such meeting, Ghorbanifar
expressed the view that the arms and hostage
matters, which engaged Schwimmmer and Nimn-
rodi particularly, should be dropped, and the
prospective Iranian-Amencan polrical relavon-
stup should be the focus of thew energies.
“lGhorbamfar] said f we continue we shall
becomic hostages 10 the hostages.” {/d at 17}

% Acvording 1o both the Maximum b eonon and the Hhistencal
ihroanlugy ths wmoumcmicenl was Jalie lianwis with whom
CHA and NSU stafl personnel mer i the following months, and
Jenio and Jacobisen, (1wo hoMages releascd laer, reporied tha
Butkley probably died on June 3, 1983, of "pneumoaia-like
symploms.” {Maxmum Version 5, Hatoncal Chrenology 6}

In his second interview, Ledeen told the
Board that, in October, he told Schwimmer:

if this kind of contact i3 going to continue
it may be necessary at a certain point to
have an account where there can be some-
thing for expenses for this person or per-
sons like him. We may need an account for
such things.

And he said fine. I will do that. And he
then opened an account at Credit Suisse
and gave me the account number for this
thing. 1 had no privileges on it. I couldn’t
sign for it. But he gave me the number. He
said il at any point peopie want 1o put
money in this, 1this is the thing which we
have established tor this purpese, if it
would be necessary at a later date.

I gave that number 1o Otlie [North].

! have no knowledge of that account ever
bemg used for anything. 1 don't know of
any money that ever went into it. But 1 re-
called this when | was reading a newspaper
story the other day which suggested that
Olle had inherited a structure of bank ac-
counts in which there was already some-
thing there, into which money could flow,
or through which money could flow, or
something like that, and that reminded me
that, hey, 1 remember that day they created
that account.

(Ledeen (2) 41-42)

Ledeeii " Yeported these conversations (o
McFarlane and, in late Ocwber or eardy No-
vember 1985, when Ghorbanifar, Nimrodi, and
Schwimmer came 1¢c Washington, he “urged
that the hostage matier be dropped, and he
[McFarlane] was in agreement with that.” {/d at
50}

So about a week alterwards | reported on
this meeung 0 Bud, and ! said again to
bim that 1 thuught we should shut down
the hostage matter and pursue the political
business. He said that no, he was inclined
to shut down the whole thing, that he had
a bad feeling about the whole matier. He
didn't like it. . . . 1 appealed to him not to
stop the whole thing but just to stop the
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;- jwostage side of it. And he said, well, he

.. would get back to me, and so off 1 went.

_McFarlane told the Board in his second inter-
view that Ledeen's memory was accurate.

As I speculated earlier, 1 was surprised by
the move from 100 to at least 40¢ and by
the relcase of only one. The President was
pleased by the release of one and/or the
continuation of the relationship. But that
seemed to me a very clear evidence of bad
faith, and § said so to Mr. Kimche, prob-
ably because I met with Mr. Ledeen, al-
though I don't know that, but [ made it
very clear, and [ think he's testified to the
fact that | had a “bad feeling” about this
program in October. And he expressed
that, too, to the [sraclis,

LI ]

Chairman Tower: Bud, do you remember
any comment from the President after
Weir was released? He made some rather
critical comments of the Adminisiration
and of the President, characterizing Weir
as being somewhat ungrateful for the ef-
fors that were being made.

Mr. McFarlane: 1 don’t recall that. I think it
is very plausible to me that he would have
been dismayed by the wurn of events.

Mr. Dawson: Before we tie in this authori-
zation to December let me not leave Sep-
tember for just one second and try to tumn
the authorization question, present it
somewhat differently.

In the July, August and September time, in
discussions that you had with the President
did he ever exhibit any reluctance, opposi-
tion or disapproval or make any attempts
to repudiate in your presence the transfer
of arms by Israel to Iran?

Mr. McFarlane: No, he did not.
{(McFarlane (2) 34-85)

After McFarlane gave his view of the Augusi/
September TOW shipment to Ledeen, the arms
transfers 10 lran ook on a new dimension. The
first Ledeen said he heard of s came in what he
described as a “’bizarre’ call from Ghorbandar.
it was related, 1 [Ledeen]

subsequently figured out, to the question
of this shipment of additional weapons and
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Ghorbanifar called with a message from
the Iranian Prime Minister to the President
and asked me if I would transmit this.

[t was a message that said, grosso modo,
we have been very patient with you people.
We have behaved honorably with you
people. We have done everything that we
said we would have done, and now you are
cheating us and making fun of us and so
forth, and would you please do what you
said you were going to do.

{Ledeen (1} 51-53) McFarlane being in Geneva
with the President for the first Summit Meeting
with General Secretary Gorbachev, Ledeen
passed this message 1o Pomndexter It was Le-
deen's lirst and lasi” contact with Pomdexter
on this matier, Powndexter said 1 was going (o
be 1aken off thus matier, that people with more
technical undermianding or  expertise  were
guitig 1o be™ on . ({4 ar 53-54)

McFarlane old the Board that the episode
mentioned by Ghorbanifar to Ledeen “was the
first time that a US. government agency
became involved in this matter, and it was the
CIA." (McFarlane (1} 22) "{R]ight before | left
for Geneva [for the Summit with Ghorbani-
far)”, Mr. Farlane told the Board in his second
interview, Israel Defense Minister Rabin saw
McFardane in Washingion. 1 believe that his
[Rabin's | purpase in coming was simply 10 re-
conflirm that the President’s authority for the
original concept was still valid. We haven't
changed our mind and I reconfirmed that that
was the case. I don’t recall that he said any-
thing about any concrete intention in the short
term 10 do anything else.” (McFarlane (2) 36)
While he was in Geneva, Rabin called on an
open line from New York to request assistance
for a problem involving a transfer. McFariane
then called Poindexier and North and asked
them 10 find out what the problem was.
(McFariane (1) 29} About a week earlier, on
November 14, McFarlane had 1old the Diredior
of Central [niclhigence and John McMahon, his
Deputy, “that Kimche was planning or had in-
dicated that the Isiachs planned 1o ginve some
arms (o modersies . ban that would oppose
Khomeum." 8% (J McMahon 3) At that ume,

Bl According 10 Norih s olhice calendar, Nurih, McFarlane, and
Kimche met on November 4, 1985,

North was in London meeting Terry Waite
and, separately, Ghorbanifar. (American Em-
bassy, London, to North, 11/12/85; NSC Chro-
nology of Events, dated 11/20/86)

Secretary Shuliz testified before Congress
and told the Board that McFarlane told him on
November 18, 1985, in Geneva,

that four hostages would be released on
Thursday (November 21}. He said that
Isracl would fly a plane with 100 Hawk
missiles to {a third country], and transfer
them to another aircraft. If the hostages
were released, the airplane would fly to
Iran; if not, it would fly 10 Isracl. Isracl
would buy replacements for these missiles
from the U.S., and would be pad by lran.
I complained 10 Mr. McFarlane that | had
been mformed so lale that 0 was impossi-
ble (o stop this operation. 1. nonetheless
expressed my hope ihayw the hostages
would in fact be released.

(Shuliz, 12/86, 13; 1/87, 23-24; SRB, 27-24)

B. The Shipment of HAWKs:
November 1985 22

By letter dated November 19, 1985, which
North signed with his own name “for” McFar-
lane, Secord was asked to play a role.

8 The Maximum Version and Historwal Chrunolugies provide
dullerent accounts of the anguny of the November 1985 HAWK
shipment. According 10 the Maximum Version:

In Laie Novembey 1885, the lsraehis, responding o urgem
enireaties from the Iramans, provided I8 basic HAWK mus-
ules 10 Iran in order to improve the atatic defenses around
Tehran. The Israch delivery of HAWK musiles aped US.
concerns that we could well Be creating misupdersiandings
in Tehran and thereby peopardizing our objeciive of armang-
ing a dire¢t meeting with high-level Iranian officials, These
missiles were subsequenily returned 1o lsrael in February
1886, with U.S. assistance.

(Maximum Version 5)

The Histancal Chronology states:

In mid-November, the liraclis, thraugh a semor olficer in
the Foreign Minster's oflice (Kimche), wduwated that 1he
Government of lsrael was convinced thal ihey were neanng a
breakihrough with fran wn a fughdevet dudogue The Tsiach
tondated a US odluwal (Noithh aud ashed fur the name of 2
Eutopean based arlne which could discicesly ransn 1o iran
loa the purpose of debivenng passengers and cargo He spe-
silically oeoted that serither o U varnier nar an lvach atlibe
ated 4 arraet Cimald be uscd Mo woie assuicd M the ume.
that the Jaacks wore gomng o “iry vl delling spare parts o
an uwentive,” since we had expiesscd s much dupleasure
uvel the cather {OW dupment  The aame of [a CIA propes.
clary anline] was passed Lo the lirdcli, whe subsequently hed
the amcvafl chariered thiough normal commercal comract
for a flight from Tel Awiv to Tabnz, Iman, on November 25,

18- O—iT—y

Your discrete [sic?] assistance is again re-
quired in support of our national interest.
At the earliest opportunity, please proceed
to {a third couniry transit point}, and other
locations as necessary in order to arrange
for the transfer of sensitive materiel being
shipped from Israel.

As in the past, you should exercise great
caution that this activity does not become
public knowledge. You should ensure that
only those whose discretion is guaranteed
are involved.

{McFarlane per North to Secord, 11/19/85)

The Board has obtained a number of oper-
ational reports sent by North 1o Poindexter by
the Blank Check pnvate interoffice computer
communication channel Poindexter had estab-
hshed un August 51. At about 9:30 p.m. on
Novemnber 20, North wroite Poindexter:

The Israelis will dehiver 80 Mod|ified]
HAWKS to {a third country] at noon on
Frniday 22 Nov. These 80 will be loaded
aboard three chartered aircraft, owned by a
proprietary which will take off at iwo hour
intervals for Tabriz. . . . Appropriate ar-
rangemnenis have been made with the
proper [country name deleted} air control
personnel. Once the aircraft have been
launched, their departure will be con-
firmed by Agshan [Ghorbanifar] who will
call [his contact in Tehran] who will call
Niknam (DCM in Damascus) who will
direct the I[RG (Iranian Revolutionary
Guard] commander in Beirut to collect the
five rpt five Amcits from Hizballah and de-
liver them to the U.S. Embassy. There is
also the possibility that they will hand over
the French hostage who is very ill.

There is a requirement for 40 additional
weaps of the same nomenclature for a total
requirement of 120. $18M in paymem for
the first 80 has been deposited in the ap-
propriate account. No acft will land in
Tabriz untl the AMCITS have been deliv-
ered 1o the embassy. The Iranians have

1985 The lsrachs wese unwiting of the CIA's spvolvement

w the arhine and the airhine was paid a1 the normal commer-

cidl charter 1aic (approximatcly $127.700) The airline per-

soncl [sic) were also unwitting of the cargo they carried.
(Hustorical Chronology 6)
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also asked to order additional items in the
fisture and have been told chat they will be
considered after this activity has succeed.
ed. All wansfer arrangemenis have been
made by Dick Secord, who deserves 3
medal for his extraordinary short notice ef-
for.

Replenishment arrangements  are being
made through MOD [Ministry of Defense]
purchasing office in NYC. There is, to say
the least, considerable anxiety that we will
somehow delay on their plan to purchase
120 of these weapons in the next few days.

route to Brussels, North suggested that McFar.
lane discrectly thank them for their help.
(North PROF note to Poindexter, 11/21/85,
09:18:86. “Please pass to RCM as avail.”) The
operation began to unravel later that day.
Duane Clarridge, in 1985, Chief of the Euro-
pean Division of CIA's Directorate of Oper-
ations, told the Board that he first became in-
volved during the evening of November 21.
North called him for help in obtaining an over-
flight clearance for an El Al 747. On the 22nd,
Clarridge used CIA communications channels
to help obuin the clearance. He had the im-

e

i e did not give North the
f::::;no;hj:e hproprietary, believing North
already to be in possession 'of that |nfom'_|a-
tion. Juchnicwicz says he did not author.;ze
the use of the proprietary to anyone, but
acknowledges that his response could hal;r_e
been interpreted as approval. (fA CIA offi-
cer involved] recalls contacting juchmewt:cz
on or before the moming of 25 November
to confirm that the project had been ap-
proved, and being given assurances that it

had.)
(CIA/IG Chronology 7

i DK) has been told how screh_ved
uKle;::! p(copie are in pla!ming something
like this on such short notice. Not .on]y was
the 747 they planned to use a national air-
lines a‘c [aircraft], but they only had it
chartered for 14hrs. We have now 1aken
charge of that phase of the operation . . .
to ensure ilight clearance for the three
DC-8s chartered by DK's boys. If all goes
as we now hope, the cargo will be [at the
staging area] by noon (local) and enroute
[sic] to T shordy after dark. That means
we can expect handovers (hopefully) Satur-

day night.

1AW [In accordance with] YOUF instructions
I have told their agent that we will sell
them 120 items at a price they can meet. |
have further told them that we wil make
no effort 10 move on their purchase LOA

pression that North was already “in touch with
[the foreign} government a1 some level ™ (Clar-
ndge 3} At thu tume, Charles Allen showed
Clamdge repocs induaung that the light was
pant of an operatwn aumed a1 the hberauon of
request untl we have all five AMCITS hostages, but the CIA was permitied 1o reveal
safely delivered. In short, the pitsaure is only that the Might had a humamtanan pur-
on them. potc. Clamdge informed the U S, afficial irying
LY to obtan Might clearance that he should be in
touch with a man named “Copp"”, whom Clar-
ndge was wld was an alas for Secord, Despite
the CiA's efforts, lunding nghts were denied.
As a result, North asked for the name of a reli-
able charter airhine. Given the shonage of ume
and the circumsiances, CiA's air branch sug-
gested the use of a propnctary. The proprie-
tary was told to awan a call; Clarmdge suspects
the caller was 1o be Copp. In any event, the air-
linc was assured that the caller would have suf-
ficient funds for the charter. { {d at 2-6)

When the issue of a CIA proprietary airline
wasy raised, Clarndge said, he became con-
cemed abou: the propriety of CIA action. He
asked Edward Juchniewicz, acting Deputy Di-
rector of Operations, whether he would ap-
h g a prove the operation. He did. ({d a1 4-5) Ac-

hour window, it isn't that bad a deal. . . . cording 1o the CIA Inspector General, Juch-

Warm regards. Recommend pass to RCM niewicz remembered Clarridge alerting him

{McFarlane] after review. North, that
(North PROF note to Poindexter, 11/20/85,
21:27:39) The remainder of the nole concerned

One of North's conteinporaneous messages {/d ("UPDATE AS OF 1810"})
1o Poindexter supports part of Clamdge's ac- hove. He wrote
unt In the muddie of the aliernoon, Novem- Nogth's oplumism was a- gPh- mmer had
::-r 292, North wrote that landing duc;‘llll'“ l‘““ Puindenter at Z.l.mI Pb;n'dﬂ:d;easccdwihe DC—8s
' - he ditficultics 1 repoened that he had re '
had not been obtamned, "Despite © Just Tepo Kimnche to keep
N Lo 2 tinue (o beheve call from Nonh to Ki
o lh'? Rp(i!;r‘l f:l'l };:‘llﬁ;r::oc:)hr:: Ilr:M or FOMIN, :::5?:: call. “Schwimmer released them I;:
o lh's can be done.” (North PROF note 10 o $ and now does not thmllrl. that ll:l‘e‘i c[E;RTE
ll'!m'l :lc:uer 11/22/85, 192715 ("5[3,'“’ re-chanered before Monday.” (/d. ( l-JP live
R(:[?ort as of 1730") North was considenng o 1900")) Secord kept the operation alive.
three choices for continuing the operaton: (1) o suggrested using .
chartering a new airline to pick up the cargo in of our LAKE Resources A/C which
Tel Aviv, (2) finng the (hree carieied o aed  war - . 10 p/u 2 load of ammo for UNO.
! » . Id be loade - . :
12 he Tighe resumed; or (3 fying the three  He wil have the et b moon
and the fhig : . : info service nlt |n .
. N ding the put 10 ) .
damrcd Sk o 1o o S 5 B M D S T
cargo, and pro " : dy in- moving. So help me | hav .
: il ai ... " Ud) Everybody in : i life. Will meet
?:;lr:viduﬂzliln;llgfnrgclﬁmche)" believed the first lhlﬂé e;o sc:z:’it:g EUOP a':l'vi':g t;]:{ the amma
: best. North wrote that w_/ alero - arriving. Too
option to be the L e will be several days late in a g
“Kimche urges that solul:m;l:;::::da::! mtj.ms: bad, this was to be our ﬁ(st finrcg_ﬂlght t:
lhli: wile:i?:,c:omf;ofad) the resisiance ﬁc’ld L :!Ililt(::éd I‘:-jr:)ga‘:a-
who wi : ) Poin- The ammo was already p .
At 6:40 p.m.. North had morf Scrl:erc;—oreign chutes attached. Maybe we can do it on
dexter. McFarlane had contacie Weds or Thurs.

i Israeli |
ini 5:80, he agreed to permii an |
et to f More as it becomes available. One hell of r

As s00n as we have the release confirmed,
we need 1o move quickly with Defense 1o
provide the 120 missiles the Israelis want
1o buy. They are very concemned that they
are degrading their defense capability, and
in view of the Syrian shoot-down yesterday
the PM has placed considerable pressure
on both Rabin and Kimche for very
prompt replacement. Both called several
limes today,

There is the distinct posaibility that at the
end of the week we will have five Amen-
cans home and the promise of no future
hostage takings in exchange for selling the
Israclis 120 Mod HAWKa, Diespite the dif-
ficulty of making all this fit inside a 96-

the CIA's efforts:

i for a pro-
D Clarridge] has arranged
pri:ll?ry[ to work for Secord (Copp). Copp

aircraft to land. In addition, North reporied on
an operation.

(id. ("UPDATE AS OF 1920")) **

North needed an aircrafi 1o transporl some Regan recalted that the President had been

details about sending “a coven hostage debrief
team o Wicsbaden.” (/4.)

In the moming of November 21, North re-
ported to Poindexier a call from Secord. The
wamit country's Defense Minister had assured
Secord that the Prime Minister “had approved
the xler activity for Friday and thai the FoMin
is aware and supportive.” As they were en
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unspecified matenal 10 Israel, and that
North might calt him abour u. Juchnicwicz
remembers recaving a call a1 home 1hat
nght from North, who said he understood
thai the Agency had an awrcrafi and asked
whether it would be possible o chartes o
Juchniewicz says he old North that the
Proprictary was a commercial venture and
thus availzble for charter by anyone. He is

will charter two 707s in the name of LAKE
Resources (our Swiss Co.) and have them
p/u [pick upl the cargo and dclwcrlu. . i,:
{Tihe cargo will be xfered 1o the 1 ue;l: :
rach chartered DC-8/55s for the flight Lo
‘Ijabriz]. Though 1 am sure Copp suspects,
he does not know that the 707s belong to
a proprietary. Clarnidge deserves a
medal—so does Copp.

informed on the margins of his briefings
for the Gorbachev mecting o expect that

(3 Nuvember 26, McFarlane wrote North lhal_ he :;a: N:E
tined 1o think that we should bnng this operation 'mr:]n' Do
and wake Maubc [Ledeen] our of nw but will await Jp:ik snn ol
dexter] thoughts. No furiher communications 1o elhinn“'
until 1 have thought it shrough. Just tell him that I amm-“»m)
about it.” (McFartane PROF note 10 North, 11726785, 12:37:
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there is going 1o be a ‘shipment of arms

epming througih [a g.lll:lird country] missiles,
rough lsrael into Iran, and

the hostages will come out, o

(Regan 14-15)

C. North’s Plan to Free the
Hostages

On December 4, in a long note to Poin-
dexter, North reconstructed the story of the
November shipment based on conversations
with the participants, conveyed his view of the
Iranian-lsraeli-American situation at that time
and proposed a plan of action for the future.

The auempted transfer through [a third
counuy] of 18 Hawk missiles went awry
because the lranians were in fact secking a
weapons system that would be capable of
stopping  Soviet seconnaissance flighu
alon_g the Iranian/Soviet border and on the
Iranian/Iragi border.?* Gorba [Ghorbani-
far] rpid that these flights occur regularly
and as decp as 40mi inside Iranian air-
space. Because Schwimmer and Ledeen
were unfamiliar with the operational pa-
rameters of the HAWK, they agreed 1o
ship 120 weapons that were totally inad-
equate to meet the rqmis established by
the Iranians. This delivery has created an
atmosphere of extraordinary distrust on
d}c pant of the Iranians; [sic] in Kimche's
Er;ew._ be]cau:_e Ehe cll;edibilily of the Gorba/
ranuan]) mission has probabl i
been called into quesu’onf. v seriowsly

Dclplt:e this perception (Gorba said numer-
ous times that this wholc thing was a
'ch:anng game” an the pant of the Israe-
lis), 3% CopP 8 Kimche have been able 1o
proceed with a renewed dialogue which
still promises hope for achieving our three
objectives;

~~support for a pragmatic—army ori-

ented faction which could take over in

a change of government

84 Secretary Shuliz wsiubed thay
- on December 6. Ponden
1ol lum that the vansfer * "mufired’ when ran bad l‘qﬁkdxl;

;:l’pmﬂu 8 ‘100 old-- 19070 markings' * (Shubua, 3786, 15, (¥ ¥R

28 Chorbansfar wid the Board that this fasco ca
b red ha
explods with rage ad anxsery al Ul'ulhcutdl:dre:agrctdmu:
an phe of leraeli ing €. (Ghorbanséar §17-21}
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~—return of the five AMCIT hostages

—no more lertorism directed against
U.S. personnel or interests,

From these ongoing discussions, which in
two cases included Iranian military officers,
Copp and Kimche conclude that the mili-
lary situation in Iran is desperate. The Ira-
nian descriptions of the state of their
equipment, lack of competent manage-
ment, inability to use much of the remain-
ing U.S. materiel portends the real possi-
bility of a military collapse (at ieast by the
f\rmy) in the near to mid-term. Thus, there
s considerable pressure on the interlocu-
1053 in Europe 10 produce—quickiy.

Given the telatively low level of compe-
leike on the pan of the lranans in
Europe, and the fact that any supphes de-
!wered will undoubtedly have 10 be exam-
wnied by an Army or Aur Force officer, it is
very doubtful that a “single transaction®
arrangement can be worked out with the
paries in Tchran, no mauer what is
agreed to in Europe. In short, they have
been “scammed” so many times in the pasi
Lhal the autitude of distrust is very high on
l!iell' part. Al the same time, in all discus-
sions (including today’s phone calls) they
are desperate 1o conclude some kind of ar-
rangement in the next 10 days and have
cven asked that the meeung scheduled for
Sawrday in London be advanced. Based
on what we can conclude from inielligence
in Beiru, we believe that they are very
concerned that the hostages (the only Ira-
nian leverage point besides the Jews in
Iran) may be killed or captured/released
by the Syrians, Druze, Phalange or Amal in
the near future. Waite's contacts with the
captora seems [sic] 1o corroborate this as-
sessment. In short, uime is very short for
all parties concerned.

Finally, there is the mater of the longer
term siralegy for what we should be ai-
templing 0 accomphsh wviz a viz {sic) the
Iran-Irag war and a morc reasonablc gov-
emment 1 lran From my personal ducus-
sions with Kumche and Meron ** 5t 35 ap-

24 At thu ume, Myyor General Meni bem
. Meroa
General of the tirsel Muusiry of Defense. T Durecor

T

parent the [sic) the Israelis want: the war
to continue at a stalemate, a more moder-
ate Iranian government in the end and will
somehow find a way to continue getting
their people (Jews) out of Iran through
some kind of barter arrangement. In that
the first two of their goals are, it would
seem, generally congruent w/ our inter-
ests, and their last a fact of life, we should
probably be seeing the return of the
AMCIT hostages as a subsidiary benefu—
not the primary objective, though it may
be a part of the necessary first steps in
achieving the broader objectives. While
Kimche, Meren, Copp and 1 all agree that
there is a high degree of risk in pursuing
the course we have started, we are now 3o
far down the road that siopping what has
been started could have even morc senous
repercussions. We all view the next steps
as “confidence building” on the part of
both sides. None of us have [sic|] any illu-
sions about the cast of characters we are
dealing with on the other side. They are a
primitive, unsophisticated group who are
extraordinarily distrustful of the West in
general and the Israelis/U.S. in particular.
They have not the slightest idea of what is
going on in our government or how our
system works. Taday for example, Gorba
called Copp in absolute confusion over the
fact that Rafsanjani had just received a
letter from (of all people) Sen. Helms re-
garding the American Hoslages. Since the
Iranians are adamani that they not be pub-
licly connected with the seizure, holding or
release of the AMCITS, why, Gorba
wanted to know, was Helms being brought
into this “solution to the puzzle."” Gorba
reiterated that “[Vice President Bush]
ought to have more control over the mem-
bers of his parlament {sic]”" than 1o allow
them to confuse an already diflicult prob-
lem. Dick told him the letter had nothing
10 do wih what we are about, but Gorba
did not scem convinced that tis wasn’t
some soit ol eflort to embarass Iran.

Guven dus very unsophistcated view of
things on thewr past and the disirust that
whe Iranians obviously feel, we believe that
if we stop the current cifort at Lthis pont
and do not at least proceed with a “test”
of the current relationship we:

—run the risk of never being able 1o
establish a “foothold” for the longer
term goals in that the people we are
dealing with will be totally discredited
at home; and

—incur the greater likelihood of re-
prisals against us for “leading them
on.” These reprisals could take the
form of additional hostage seizures,
execution of some/all of those now
held, or both,

While the threat to carry out sanctions
against us has not, L0 my knowledge, ever
arisen (it certainty has not since Kimche/
Copp/North have been directly engaged—
and Michael never mentioned it}, it is in-
teresimg 1o note that when Copp ques-
voned the buna fides of Gorba and his co-
horts as capable of delivering on their end
of the arrangement, Gorba carefully noted
that since these discussions began w/ Mi-
chael & Schwirnmer, there has not been a
single Islamic Jihad bomb threat, hijacking
or kidnapping—and that there would be
none if this “worked.” D.K., Copp and 1
regard this 10 be at least one sign of confi-
dence that this activily may yet prosper.
There are some lesser indications of conli-
dence in recent days:

—in response 1o Copp's demand for
funds to be deposited in advance to
defray operationa! costs, and what the
Iranians were told were “"purchases on
the arms market”” a total of $41M has
been deposited;

—the 18 HAWKs delivered last week
have been repackaged and are ready
for return lo origin on the next avail-
able fMlight;

—the parties in Europe continue to
stress that their requirements are long-
rerm and that they are anxious to get
on with a longer range program of Is-
raeli originaied support which would
include technical assistance w/ sophis-
ticated hardware which is critically
needed but deadlined (in this regard
Gorba at one point noted that at times
they have as few as 50 operational
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.. 1k apd less than a dozen flyabie air-

n

Saurday:
—The total “package” from the 1
lis wd u;omut of 50 | HAWK, :/'?;P
{prod improvement packag
3300 basic TOW,, ? and

—Deliveries wd commence o
about 12 December as follows: "o

H-he 1 707 w/s0D T -
AMCIT OWim |

H+10brs: | 707 (same .
w/300 TOWs= | AMCIT A€C)

H+16hre: | 747 w/50 HAW
400 TOWsw2 AMCIT: Ks &

H+ 20hts: i 707
TOWs= | AMCIT /300

H+ 24hry: I 747 .
TOWs = ¥rench Hostage w/2000

All involved on our side recogn;
ghize thai this
does not meet one of the bauc critenia es-
'mlabhshed‘h at the opening of thia venwure: a
o transaction which would be preced-
dbya relcase of the hostages. However
fven the poins above regarding the
l:l:l:l-‘:: dllln.u_ a.bo:| in the dialogue, we all be.
i ¢ the only wa
overall proceas moving.y M:aa‘:cfﬂhad::
bgcp taken 0 reduce the chance for du-
plicity on the part of the franians and 1o
ommlhee a measure of QPSEC in CarTying
ou ¢ transaction. In the case of a double
.oneoflhclranumwillbeinmc
onhuldsro( assels we conuol throughout.
Jne of them . . . has alrcady suffered a se.
rious (though apparendy not fatal} heant
attack afier last week's HAWK transaction
lf‘uh:d to produce results. The first two de-
':;rlm. via 707 freighters are relatively
small and if they do noy produce the de-
sued ouwlcomes, all else stops. All §
now under our contrul, e

OPSEC concerns are threefold: communi-
cauons, deliveries caroute o Iran and se-
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With all of the above as a length

e dqcn'hmg two nearly ﬁant?c :egrk:a:vn/
the Igraclis & Iranians, the following pro-
posal bas evolved which the Iranians toda
83id they wd like 1o discuss in detail oz

—

plenishiment of Israeti siocks, To so
fiest pmblc.:m an OPs Code is no:ur I:,ne 3::
by all partics. This code is similar (o the
one used lo oversee deliveriea to the Nica-
raguan Resistance and has never been
compromised. The delivery/flight plannin
securily problem has been solved by E
much more deliberate selection of aircraft
and awcrews as well as a series of transien
airfields which can be used enroute 10 th
ﬁeld.comrolled by the lranian Army a‘:
Tabriz. Appropriate amangements have
allo been made 10 ensure that the over-
flight . . . u nat challenged. All A/C will
:)e wupecied by one of the lranians at a2
TMM I.::.,.“m between Tel Aviv and
WMo lranssn .md:‘ e ':nullr opre
€
relcase(s) must oc':::. The hi::‘"(‘;‘:’sr:lé
concern, that of replenshing larach siocks
8 probably the most delicate wsue. The
quaniity of TOWs requesied represents fa
signuficant proporuon of] the Israeli PWR
Ipreposiioned war reserves) Meron and I
are worling w/ the lsrach purchasin
office . NYC w0 ensure thai the rcplcmshg-
ment can be accomplished [as) quickly
aficr December 12 as posmble. Al fecog-
mize that quaniics such as those being
discussed degrade lIsraeli readiness and
that the sems will need to be dispaiched
quickly w1 order to preclude duaffeciion
and leaks. Meron bas solved at least one of
the problems in this regard by identifying a
means of transfernng the required cash o
an thF account which will allow cash
'(;l':luc-rs'than FMS credit) purchases [rom

In order 10 pui this plan ino a
Kimche, Copp, Schwimmer and Gc(::?d‘:
iNonh} plan 10 mect in London on Saqur-
day MOMINE 1o review all arrangemens. If
we are satisfied that all our assets imune
aiwrcrall, arcrews, transik facihues u"::
Might arrangemens and mulilary Irqmp-
ment) are prepared, Copp and Kimche will
meet a1 anoiher hotel with Gorba and |an
leanwun diplomar) 1o finaize the Plan Our
sde widll then revunvene laer n the
evemng 4 owr hotel 1w review any lap
minuic changes. | wd then call you {usin
the Ops code), transmut the agreed upog

R

arrangements  for _approval and, if you
concur, Kimche & Copp will meet again w/
the Iranians on Sunday a.m. to express our
agreement with the plan. Copp & Goode
wd return to the U.S. Sunday p.m. on sep-
arate fights. On the 1lth, the day before
the plan is to be exccuted, Copp will estab-
lish a CP [command post] . . . where he
can monitor implementation and stop it at
any point we desire. The secondary lieids
. will be covered by Copp controlled
assets who are not witling of the wrue
origin, destination oF conlents of the A/C
but who can “fix” things in a hwry if
sumcihing gocs wiong. . . .
Once 1n hand, the hostages will be flown
10 Larnaca on ousr Navy HH-53 where they
will be picked up by a ELCOM C-14) and
Nown 16 Wicsbaden for debnefing. The
debnel 1eam will be siaged a1 Wiesbaden
12 hours in advance, just as we did two
weeks ago without nownety [sic] Dewey
{Clarridge| 15 the only other person fully
witting of this. . . . The lsrachs are in the
same position. Dewey and I have been
through the whole concept twice looking
for holes and can find litde that can be
done 10 improve it given the “trusi factor”
with the Iranians. ln that all parues in-
volved have great interest in keeping this
as quiet as possible, . . . we beleive fuic] i
to be worth the risk. 1 have not confided 10
Dewey re the longer term goals we could/
should hope to achieve. Thus, the only
parties fully awarc of all dimensions of
what we are about ase you and RCM
[McFariane].

1 have given carcful consideration (o what
you suggested re an RCM meeting with the
Iranians in an clfort 10 obiain releasc of
the hostages before stariing on an elfort 10
undo the present regieme [sic] in Tehran.
Like you and Bud, 1 find the idca of barier-
g uver the lives of these poor men re-
pugnant  Nonctheiess, 1 behieve that we
are, al tus point, barmng unforseen {sicl
devciopmenia i London of {el Aviv, 100
far along with the Iranuns (0 risk WINE
back now. Il we do not at least make one
more iry at this point, we stand 2 good
chance of condemning some or all to death
and a rencwed wave of lslamic Jihad 1er-

rarism. While the risks of proceeding are
significant, the risks of not trying one lasy
time are even grealer.
(North PROF note to Poindexter, 12/04/85,
02:02:55)

D. The President and His
Advisors

In his first meeting with the Board on Janu-
ary 16, 1987, the President said he did not re-
member how the November shipment came
about. The President 3aid he objected o the
shipmeni, and that, as a result of that objec-
uon, the shupment was returned to Israel. In
bus sccond mecung with the Board on February
I}, 7. the President stated that both he and
Regan agreed that they cannot remember any
moclg OF CONVErsauon in general about a
HAWK shipmens. The President said he did
not remember anydung about 2 call-back of the
HAWK:. :

The Secreiary of State lestified:

November 21—the supposed rclease
date—pasied with no release.

On November 22, | was told by my swafl
that the release had slipped again, alleged-
ly to get airspace clearance . . . . Also on
that day, however, Ambassador Oakley—as
these things happen, word kind of dnils
around and your stff, which you don’t
know whether it is right or wrong—Ambas-
sador Qakley reported to us that he had
heard from various sources that the hos-
tages would be released that afterncon, in
exchange for 120 HAWKS at $250,000
cach~—waorth $30 million in all.

By this time we werc back in Washington.

Al a discussion in my presence on that day,
{Mr. Michael Armacost] stated: '} don't like
it. It's termible."”

1 indicated my own apprehension. Deputy
Secretary Whitehead noted: “We all feel
uncomfortable,” T replied: "Bud says he's
cleared with the Presidens.” I regarded it
as a $30 million weapons payolf.

On November 23, we heard again that no
hostages were out, that the project had col-
lapsed. I said, “It's over.”

B-37




